Junicke, M. (2013). Theoretical and Empirical Contributions to Monetary Policy Analysis. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis, City University London)



City Research Online

Original citation: Junicke, M. (2013). Theoretical and Empirical Contributions to Monetary Policy Analysis. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis, City University London)

Permanent City Research Online URL: http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/12242/

Copyright & reuse

City University London has developed City Research Online so that its users may access the research outputs of City University London's staff. Copyright © and Moral Rights for this paper are retained by the individual author(s) and/ or other copyright holders. All material in City Research Online is checked for eligibility for copyright before being made available in the live archive. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to from other web pages.

Versions of research

The version in City Research Online may differ from the final published version. Users are advised to check the Permanent City Research Online URL above for the status of the paper.

Enquiries

If you have any enquiries about any aspect of City Research Online, or if you wish to make contact with the author(s) of this paper, please email the team at <u>publications@city.ac.uk</u>.

Theoretical and Empirical Contributions to Monetary Policy Analysis

Monika Junicke

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Philosophy Degree in Economics

> City University London Department of Economics

> > December 2013

Contents

1	Wel	elfare Analysis in a Model with Inflation Persistence and Non-		
	Zero	Zero Steady State Inflation		18
	11	Introd	uction	18
	1.1	T		10
	1.2	Litera	ture Review	20
	1.3	The Model: Demand Side		22
		1.3.1	The Household Optimisation Problem	23
		1.3.2	Consumption Index and Consumer Price index	25
	1.4	The Model: Supply Side		26
		1.4.1	Derivation of the Phillips Curve	30
		1.4.2	Price Dispersion	32
	1.5	5 Non Policy Equilibrium and Steady state		33
		1.5.1	Non Policy Equilibrium	33
		1.5.2	The Steady State	34
		1.5.3	Innovations and Calibration of the model	42
	1.6	Welfar	e Loss Function and Welfare Loss Measure	43
		1.6.1	Welfare Loss Function using the Hamiltonian Approach	44
		1.6.2	Analytical Approximation of the Welfare Loss Function	48

		1.6.3 Welfare Measure	57
	1.7	Analysis of Monetary Policy	59
	1.8	Results	63
	1.9	Concluding Remarks	68
	1.A	Consumer Price Index	71
	1.B	Phillips Curve	73
	1.C	Central Bank Loss Function	74
	1.D	Optimal Rules Coefficients	87
2	Esti	mation of a Small New Keynesian Model with Trend Inflation	
	for	Eastern European Countries	39
	2.1	Introduction	89
	2.2	Literature Review	92
	2.3	The Model	94
		2.3.1 Demand Side	95
		2.3.2 Firm Optimisation: The Phillips Curve	10
		2.3.3 Steady State and Log-linearised Form of the Model 1	15
		2.3.4 Monetary Policy Rules	20
	2.4	Model Estimation and Estimation Results	25
		2.4.1 Methodology	25
		2.4.2 Choice of Prior	29
		2.4.3 Estimation Results	35
	2.5	Concluding Remarks	62
	2.A	Data	64
	2.B	Log-linearisation of the Phillips Curve	67

	2.C	Quantitative Implications of Positive Trend Inflation	
3 Impact of Foreign Monetary Policy on Eastern European Coun-			
tries 1			
	3.1	Introduction	
		3.1.1 Literature Review	
	3.2	Methodology	
		3.2.1 The reduced-form VAR	
		3.2.2 The Structural VAR	
		3.2.3 BVAR with Gibbs Sampling Estimation	
	3.3	Empirical Analysis and Results	
	3.4	Reconciling the DSGE and VAR Responses	
	3.5	Concluding Remarks	
	3.A	Data	
	3.B	Model with US, German and EEC data	
	$3.\mathrm{C}$	Convergence of the Gibbs Sampler	

List of Tables

Table 1.1:	Calibration of Model Parameters
Table 1.2:	Hamiltonian Outcomes for Different Shares
	of Backward Looking Firms
Table 1.3:	Structural Parameters of the Hybrid NKPC
Table 1.4:	Variances and welfare loss under simple policy rules
Table 1.5:	Variances and welfare loss under optimal policy rules
Table 1.6:	Optimal rules coe¢ cients for linearised and Hamiltonian approach88
Table 2.1:	Prior Distribution for Large Economy
Table 2.2:	Prior Distribution for Small Open Economy133
Table 2.3:	Posterior Odd Test for German data
Table 2.4:	Parameter Estimation Results for Germany
Table 2.5:	Marginal Data Densities under Different Approaches
	and Monetary Policy Rules Regimes
Table 2.6:	Posterior Odd Test, hypothesis that the central bank
	uses a CPI inflation targeting
Table 2.7:	Posterior Odd Test for EEC143
Table 2.8:	Posterior Odd Test for exchange rate targeting
Table 2.9:	Parameter Estimation Results for the Czech Republic
Table 2.10:	Parameter Estimation Results for Hungary146
Table 2.11:	Parameter Estimation Results for Poland147
Table 3.1:	Forecasting Error Variance Decomposition for CPI Inflation
Table 3.2:	Forecasting Error Variance Decomposition for GDP Growth

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Profit Tree
Figure 1.2	Relationship between Steady State Inflation and Price Dispersion $\dots 37$
Figure 1.3	Relationship between Steady State Output Gap and Inflation 40
Figure 1.4	Impulse response functions under simple policy rules
Figure 2.1	Multivariate Convergence Diagnostic for Germany
Figure 2.2	Multivariate Convergence Diagnostic for the Czech Republic 148
Figure 2.3	Prior and Posterior Distribution for the parameter χ^{π} 149
Figure 2.4	Prior and Posterior Distribution for the parameter χ_F^{π}
Figure 2.5	Impulse Responses to a Domestic TFP shock151
Figure 2.6	Impulse Responses to a Domestic Monetary Shock
Figure 2.7	Impulse Responses to a Domestic Producer Cost Push Shock154
Figure 2.8	Impulse Responses to an Importer Cost Push Shock155
Figure 2.9	Impulse Responses to a Domestic Preference Shock156
Figure 2.10	Impulse Responses to a Foreign TFP Shock
Figure 2.11	Impulse Responses to a Foreign Monetary Shock
Figure 2.12	Impulse Responses to a Foreign Cost Push Shock 160
Figure 2.13	Impulse Responses to a Foreign Preference Shock 161
Figure 3.1	Dynamic Effect of a US monetary shock on EEC
	macroeconomic variables
Figure 3.2	Dynamic Effect of a ECB monetary shock on EEC
	macroeconomic variables

Figure 3.3	Dynamic Effect of a US monetary shock on German
	and EEC macroeconomic variables
Figure 3.4	Contribution of a US monetary policy shock
	to the EEC GDP Growth
Figure 3.5	Contribution of a ECB monetary policy shock
	to the EEC GDP Growth
Figure 3.6	Contribution of a US monetary policy shock to the German
	and EEC GDP Growth
Figure 3.7	Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws
	for (US_Czech Republic) model
Figure 3.8	Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws
	for (US_Czech Republic) model
Figure 3.9	Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws
	for (Ger_Czech Republic) model223

Acknowledgements

I would never have been able to finish my thesis without the guidance of my advisors, the help of my friends, and the support of my family.

My first and sincere appreciation goes to my supervisor, Prof. Michael Ben-Gad, for all I have learned from him and for his help and support at all stages of my doctoral studies. In particular, I thank him for his endless patience and motivation in guiding me. I also owe my recognition and respect to Prof. Joseph Pearlman for helping me in gaining focus in my research, and particularly for his suggestions on the first chapter of this work. Moreover, I would like to thank all the members of the Department who supported me during my studies. On a professional as well as personal level, it gives me great pleasure in acknowledging the help of Haroon Mumtaz for sharing with me his knowledge of empirical macroeconomics. Completing this thesis would have been all the more difficult were it not for his comments and discussion as well as his unbounded moral support.

My greatest gratitude goes to my fiancé Vincenzo Merella, who has always been a great support in all my struggles and frustrations. I thank him for questioning me about my ideas and helping me think rationally, for listening to me and my problems and for being here for me at any time when I needed. A big thanks goes also to Vincenzo's parents, Adelaide and Alessandro, and to many of my friends and colleagues: Kristina Baumgarden, Anna Amini, Dorian Quint, Claudia Markovic, Angeliki Theophilopoulou, Henrique Basso and Ourania Dimakou, to cite only some. They have always been of comfort and encouragement. Lastly, and most importantly, I would like to thank all my family and dedicate this work to my mother for believing in me, for her continuous love and support in my decisions.

Declaration

I grant powers of discretion to the University Librarian to allow this thesis to be copied in whole or in part without further reference to me. This permission covers only single copies made for study purposes, subject to normal conditions of acknowledgement.

Abstract

This thesis collects three different contributions to monetary macroeconomics, covering both theoretical and empirical aspects.

First chapter builds on the DSGE models of New Keynesian tradition, and studies monetary policy around a non efficient steady state. Using a two-stage approach developed by Levine, McAdam, and Pearlman (2007), I show that in the presence of backward looking firms, the central planner improves social welfare when it allows for a steady state rate of inflation marginally above zero.

In the second chapter, I estimate a simple two-country DSGE model to study the behaviour of the Eastern European central banks, obtaining some innovative important results. First, a simple monetary policy rule mimicking an optimal rule together with the assumption about the existence of non-zero steady state rate of inflation deliver a significantly better fit to the data. Furthermore, the empirical hypothesis that central banks systematically target CPI inflation rather than PPI inflation is rejected for all the investigated Eastern European countries (EEC).

In the third chapter, I use a Bayesian VAR with economically interpretable structural restrictions and zero restrictions on lags, to analyse the transmission channels of external shocks to an extended set of EEC. I study to what extent monetary policy shocks originating from the US and from Germany can explain fluctuations on Eastern European markets. To carry out the Bayesian inference, I use a Gibbs sampling approach. I find that the US monetary policy influences the EEC macroeconomic variables at least as much as its German counterpart.

Preliminary Definitions

Actual level of a variable: The nominal value that the generic variable D_t takes when both stochasticity and (real and nominal) market imperfections are considered. Written in relative/real terms, the variable is denoted by $\tilde{D}_t = D_t/P_t$.

Stationary level of a variable: The value that the variable takes when only (real and nominal) market imperfections are considered. It is denoted by D if in nominal value and by \overline{D} if in real/relative terms.

Natural level of a variable: The value that the variable takes when only real market imperfections are considered. It is denoted by D^n .

Deviation of the actual level of a variable from its stationary level: The ratio between the actual and the stationary level of a variable. It is denoted by $\hat{D}_t \equiv D_t/D$.

Log-transformation of a variable: The value that obtains by applying logarithms to the value of the variable. It is denoted by $d_t \equiv \log D_t$. Likewise, $\tilde{d}_t \equiv \log \tilde{D}_t, d^n \equiv \log D^n, \hat{d}_t \equiv \log \hat{D}_t$.

Introduction

My research interest focuses on the analysis of monetary policy issues, and covers both theoretical aspects, which I study through Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE) modelling, and empirical aspects, which I study using Bayesian estimation techniques. My theoretical work, developed in Chapter 1, aims at investigating whether real and nominal frictions may represent a source of trend inflation. My empirical work consists of two exercises. The first one, illustrated in Chapter 2, aims at bringing to the data the theoretical predictions delivered by my theoretical analysis. In particular, I investigate whether a DSGE model with non-zero inflation performs empirically better than an analogous model abstracting from trend inflation. This exercise consists a set of three estimations performed in a context with a large economy (represented by Germany) and a small open economy (represented, in turn, by the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland). The second exercise, described in Chapter 3, extends that performed in Chapter 2 and aims at assessing whether the transmission channel studied there is the most relevant when looking at Eastern European countries (to the three listed above, here I also consider Slovakia), or international transmission of monetary shocks from the US, either directly or indirectly through its effect of the German economy, may also play a significant role.

In order to achieve my theoretical goal, I build on the literature of New Keynesian DSGE models containing real and nominal frictions. The debate regarding economic rigidities has a long history. Phillips (1958) can be considered as a cornerstone for this debate. In the monetary economics literature, many arguments suggesting that monetary authorities should take into account the trade-off between inflation and output were built upon his empirical findings. Monetarist economists criticised this line of reasoning, considering them somehow too "static". In their view, the crux of the matter was the assumption that individuals are only able to form inflationary expectations based on past inflation. This controversy led to the traditional acceleration Phillips curve, characterised by backward looking components. After the famous critique by Robert E. Lucas in 1976, macroeconomics was micro-founded, and the resulting theory had individuals making their choices on fully rational decisions. In fact, it was in response to Lucas' critique of ad-hoc modelling that Kydland and Prescott (1982) formulated a theory of microfounded business cycle models, known as the Real Business Cycle (RBC) theory. This is a general equilibrium models in which the economy responds efficiently to shocks to the total factor productivity that generate fluctuations. It is because of the efficiency of these responses that monetary policy has no real effects on the economy. Their model became an important building block for the New Keynesian models (NKM), which represent the class of models that central banks most commonly rely upon at present.

NKMs postulate the existence of a Phillips curve, essentially generated by market frictions, also in the presence of fully rational firms that maximize the discounted value of profits in the form of Calvo's contracts. Roberts (2001), Eichenbaum and Fisher (2003) and Dupuis (2004), show that the standard New Keynesian Phillips curve (NKPC) with a simple forward looking component does not correspond well with empirical results, as it is unable to capture inflation persistence. Having recognised the importance of the inflation inertia, economists have been looking for a way to create a Phillips curve that could simultaneously have both forward and backward looking elements. One of the first attempts to develop a "two-sided Phillips curve" was Fuhrer and Moore (1995), which used two-period Taylor contracts.

Another approach proposes an indexation of inflation. This is possible by using either the method of static indexation, as suggested by e.g., Yun (1996), or the dynamic one as in Eichenbaum and Fisher (2003) and Christiano, Eichenbaum and Evans (2005). Yun (1996) uses the idea that firms that cannot re-optimise in a given period, may increase prices in the attempt to anticipate potential inflationary phenomena, which they take statically into account at a fixed rate. Static inflation can be seen as the long term average rate of inflation and, therefore, long term inflation inertia is introduced into the model. Similarly, in the model of dynamic indexation from Christiano et al. (2005), firms that are not allowed to re-optimise may raise prices by adding a fraction of the last observed rate of inflation. Both approaches are nevertheless criticised in the literature because they assume that firms adjust prices every period, which contradicts the evidence on price stickiness. Galí and Gertler (1999) introduce a variation to this approach by assuming that only a fraction of firms change their prices, and provide also empirical support to their approach. In their model, one part of the firms allowed to adjust prices behave rationally, while the complementary part indexes their prices according to a rule of thumb.

Nonetheless, the empirical evidence about the importance of the backward looking component in the NKPC delivers ambiguous results. Most of the estimates suggest a hybrid NKPC with a backward looking component. A value of lagged inflation should be around 0.3 to 0.5, in line with other empirical findings such as Galí and Gertler (1999) and Galí, Gertler, and Lopez-Salido (2001). Benigno and Lopez-Salido (2002) test the Galí-Gertler model on five countries in the Euro Area, showing that German firms behave rationally and, therefore, inflation is strongly forward looking. By contrast, in France, Spain and Italy, the opposite is true. In these countries, firms are characterized by backward looking price setting behaviour, strongly linking their prices to past conditions. These asymmetries are important as they complicate the determination of unique monetary policy within the Euro Area. Using Bayesian estimation for euro area data and model with NKPC based on Christiano et al. (2005) approach, Smets and Wouters (2003) show, that the forward looking component clearly dominates, however, the backward looking one is also important. Values for both parameters are in line with the findings above. Conversely, some authors, e.g., Levine, Pearlman, Perendia, and Yang (2012), show that including habit formation improves the performance of the model more than a backward looking component of the Phillips curve. For comparison, the estimates for habit formation are usually large: the literature refers to a value around 0.8.

In my theoretical analysis, developed in Chapter 1, I build on the study by Levine *et al.* (2012) and study optimal monetary policy around a non efficient steady state, using a two-stage approach developed by Levine, McAdam, and Pearlman (2007). The goal is to show that in the presence of backward looking firms (as in Galí and Gertler, 1999; and Steinsson, 2003), the central planner can improve social welfare by allowing a steady state rate of inflation marginally above zero. In such an environment, there are two forces in the steady state that tend to balance out. On the one hand, given a positive rate of inflation, a non-zero price dispersion arises in steady state, decreasing welfare. On the other hand, positive inflation causes leisure to decline, and thereby includes a rise in output, bringing it closer to its efficient level. This means that the steady state output gap is lower than it would be in the absence of inflation and welfare rises. There is no obvious analytical solution to the central planner problem, so I solve the model numerically using the Levine-Pearlman Dynare-based system, known as ACES (Analysis and Control of Economic Systems).

My empirical work, developed in Chapters 2 and 3, is based on the Bayesian estimation approach, which I apply to two questions. I estimate a simple twocountry DSGE model, similar to Lubik and Schorfheide (2007), with a non-zero steady state inflation, to study the behaviour of the Eastern European central banks. The Bayesian analysis, which I carry out using a Metropolis-Hastings algorithm, suggests that my model performs better than the benchmark in several aspects. First, I can show that assuming the existence of trend inflation, *i.e.*, modelling the log-linearised Phillips curve similarly to Ascari and Ropele (2007), delivers a significantly better fit to the data. Second, although a number of theoretical contributions, *e.g.*, Galí and Monacelli (2005), argue that PPI inflation targeting performs better than CPI inflation targeting in terms of welfare loss, the empirical literature mainly concentrates on simple rules with CPI inflation targeting. Using a posterior odds test, I show that the empirical hypothesis that central banks systematically target CPI inflation rather than PPI inflation is rejected for all the investigated Eastern European countries (EEC), *i.e.*, Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland.

Second, I use a Bayesian VAR with economically interpretable structural restrictions and zero restrictions on lags to analyse the transmission channels of external shocks to an extended set of EEC, which also includes Slovakia (along with Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland). Following Mackowiak (2006), I study to what extent monetary policy shocks originating from the US and from Germany can explain fluctuations on Eastern European markets. To carry out the Bayesian inference, I use a Gibbs sampling approach. I find that the US monetary policy influences the EEC macroeconomic variables at least as much as its German (later ECB's) counterpart.

Chapter 1

Welfare Analysis in a Model with Inflation Persistence and Non-Zero Steady State Inflation

1.1 Introduction

In the New Keynesian literature, the long run equilibrium is typically defined as a steady state with zero inflation. Casual observations however suggest that inflation exhibits a non-zero trend, and several recent empirical contributions point out that trend inflation plays an important role in shaping many macroeconomic features. In particular, a significant deal of this literature seems to focus on the effects of the existence of trend inflation on monetary policy conduct. This chapter attempts to complement these studies, and investigates whether monetary policy may be a possible cause of trend inflation. Specifically, I seek to find an answer to the question: "Might non-zero steady state inflation be welfare improving?"

In order to explore this idea, I develop a New Keynesian model where a social planner seeking to maximise welfare optimally chooses the level of steady state inflation. My model features two key aspects. First, I consider a hybrid Phillips curve, containing both a forward-looking and a backward-looking component, as in Galí and Gertler (1999) and Steinsson (2003). Second, I depart from studying the equilibrium around the efficient steady state of the model and, following Levine, McAdam, and Pearlman (2007), I use the Hamiltonian approach rather than the traditional linear-quadratic approximation to derive the welfare loss function. As I show and discuss in the next sections of this chapters, both aspects are key in that overlooking either of them would result in the social planner trivially choosing zero steady state inflation. That is, the traditional New Keynesian prediction about trend inflation results as a particular case of the more general model that I develop in this chapter.

My analysis shows that, around a non efficient steady state, the magnitude of the share of backward looking firms influences the optimal level of the steady state inflation. In particular, the social planner chooses zero inflation if just the forwardlooking component of the Phillips curve exists. More generally, the presence of a backward looking component leads instead to an equilibrium with positive steady state inflation, which also generates higher steady state output. The reason is that, although non-zero steady state inflation generates greater price dispersion and thereby a fall in aggregate output, positive inflation also leads to an increase in real marginal labour cost. This has a positive effect on output via the substitution effect set in motion by the change in real wage. For sufficiently low levels of inflation, the latter effect dominates, the net impact of trend inflation on output is positive. A natural question that arises in this context is how the welfare loss resulting from the Hamiltonian approach relates to the one obtained by the traditional linear-quadratic approximation. To this aim, I investigate the effect on welfare of the intervention of a central bank (acting as a social planner), introduced using a number of simple and optimal policy rules. In particular, I analyse the individual performance of these rules and their impact on the social welfare in the presence of a TFP shock. I find that the presence backward looking component is paramount in determining the difference in the welfare losses computed using the traditional and the Hamiltonian approach. Such a difference is best observed when simple rules are adopted. In line with the literature, I also find that, using either approach and under a common calibration, the pure inflation targeting rule performs best, as it lowers significantly more the volatility of inflation relative to the other simple rules.

1.2 Literature Review

Despite being a relatively recent feature in monetary economics, trend inflation has already been studied in conjunction with a number of issues in this literature. For instance, Ascari (2004) log-linearises the baseline New Keynesian Model (NKM) around an exogenously determined positive steady state inflation to argue that this significantly changes the dynamics of the model relative to the framework with zero inflation; Ireland (2007) studies the relationship between trend inflation and the Taylor rule against US data, and find that the Federal Reserve's inflation target changed many times during the last four decades of the last century. My contribution departs from these by endogenising trend inflation and investigating its effects on a variety of different monetary policy rules.

The material discussed in this chapter relates to a number of articles studying social welfare in the presence of trend inflation. For example, Ascari and Ropele (2007) study the optimal monetary policy in a NKM with non-zero steady state inflation to point out that the level of trend inflation has a strong impact on social welfare. Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007) show that, when one considers positive steady state inflation, exogenously given and calibrated to match US data, price dispersion is a first order source of social welfare inefficiency. My work differs from these contributions as the effects on social welfare are investigated with references to a level of inflation optimally chosen by a benevolent.

Another branch of the literature that is linked to the analysis developed in this chapter studies trend inflation in relation to specific aspects on the behaviour of inflation itself. In particular, building on the literature modelling trend inflation as a random walk without drift (*e.g.*, Cogley and Sargent, 2005Cogley and Sargent (2005); Stock and Watson, 2007), Cogley and Sbordone (2008) find that a purely forward looking New Keynesian Phillips Curve (NKPC) with a trend inflation is empirically capable to explain a great deal of the observed inflation persistence in the US data. As such, trend inflation contributes a highly persistent component to actual inflation, from a source that is quite different from any intrinsic persistence implied by the dynamics of price adjustment. My research complements this contribution by investigating whether inflation persistence may be an endogenous source, as well as a consequence, of non-zero steady state inflation.

Regarding the impact of different monetary policy rules on social welfare, most contributions in the literature compute the welfare loss function using a traditional linear-quadratic approach. In the benchmark model (see, e.g., Clarida, Galí and Gertler, 1999), welfare loss is a function of inflation and output gap. Although, as Steinsson (2003) shows, this traditional method can be applied to a model with built-in inflation persistence (with the welfare loss function simply featuring an additional term), the standard linear-quadratic approximation can only be used if small deviations from the efficient steady state are considered. In the efficient steady state, nominal and real frictions are neutralised, hence output is at its efficient level and, more importantly, inflation displays a zero trend. As a result, the traditional approach is unsuitable to deal with my analysis. For this reason, I depart from this literature and use the approach developed by Levine et al. (2007). These authors develop a linear-quadratic approximation around a non efficient steady state, known as the Hamiltonian approach, which I adapt to the analysis of monetary policy with endogenous trend inflation and inflation persistence. The advantages of this alternative method are that nominal and real frictions need not be eliminated in the steady state (in particular, inflation need not display a zero trend), and that the welfare loss function can be derived also for bigger deviations from the steady state.

1.3 The Model: Demand Side

The demand side of my model economy is represented by the traditional aggregate demand curve, in the New Keynesian version of the DSGE models, known as the expectational IS curve. It serves as an intertemporal tool to characterise the households optimal choice. Often, it is represented by a log-linearized approximation of the forward looking Euler equation, which is the solution of the representative consumer's dynamic optimisation problem.

1.3.1 The Household Optimisation Problem

The economy consists of a continuum of infinitely lived households, which all have identical preferences. The representative household maximises the discounted stream of instantaneous utility functions over current and future periods

$$U = E_t \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[U\left(C_t, N_t\right) \right], \qquad (1.1)$$

by optimally choosing, at each date $t \in [0, \infty)$, C_t consumption units and N_t working hours. The preference parameter $\beta \in (0, 1]$ is the subjective household discount factor. I assume that $U_C > 0$, $U_N < 0$, $U_{CC} < 0$, $U_{NN} > 0$ and $U_{C,N} = 0$. In solving this problem, the household is subject to the budget constraint

$$B_t + W_t N_t + T_t + D_t \ge C_t P_t + E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} B_{t+1} \right], \tag{1.2}$$

where $E_t[Q_{t,t+1}]$ represents the price of the riskless bond held in B_{t+1} units, $C_t P_t$ are consumption expenditures, W_t is the nominal wage, T_t is a lump sum transferand D_t is the net profit that the firms pay to the shareholders (households), which does not affect any other variables in the model.

The Lagrangian that corresponds to the representative agent's optimisation takes the following form

$$L = E_t \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[U(C_t, N_t) \right] + \lambda_t \left(B_t + W_t N_t + T_t + D_t - C_t P_t - Q_{t,t+1} B_{t+1} \right).$$

Solving the maximization problem, I obtain the first order conditions

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial C_t} = U_{C,t} - \lambda_t P_t = 0, \qquad (1.3)$$

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial N_t} = U_{N,t} + \lambda_t W_t = 0, \qquad (1.4)$$

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial B_{t+1}} = -\beta \lambda_{t+1} + \lambda_t Q_{t,t+1} = 0, \qquad (1.5)$$

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda_t} = B_t + W_t N_t + T_t + D_t - C_t P_t - Q_{t,t+1} B_{t+1} = 0, \qquad (1.6)$$

where λ_t is the Lagrangian multiplier and can be interpreted as the shadow price of consumption.

Euler Equation

The gross return of a one year riskless bond R_t equals the reciprocal of its price

$$R_t = \frac{1}{E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1}\right]},$$

where $E_t[Q_{t,t+1}]$ is also known as the dynamic stochastic discount factor. Note that $R_t = (1 + i_t)$, where i_t is the nominal interest rate. From the condition (1.3) I obtain the conventional stochastic Euler equation

$$\beta E_t \left[\frac{U_{C,t+1}}{U_{C,t}} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \right] = E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} \right], \qquad (1.7)$$

which represents the intertemporal optimality conditions linking current and future consumption choices.

Labour Supply

From condition (1.4), I obtain the equation that determines household's labour supply

$$\tilde{W}_t = -\frac{U_{N,t}}{U_{C,t}},\tag{1.8}$$

according to which the marginal rate of substitution between labour and consumption equals the real wage $\tilde{W}_t = W_t/P_t$.

1.3.2 Consumption Index and Consumer Price index

I assume there exists a unit continuum of differentiated goods available in the goods market. I abstract from government spending so that all goods are consumed by domestic households. C_t is a composite consumption good, which takes the familiar Dixit-Stiglitz form

$$C_t = \left(\int_0^1 \left[C_t(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}},\tag{1.9}$$

where the parameter $\varepsilon > 1$ represents the (constant) consumption elasticity of substitution, and $C_t(i)$ represents the consumption level of good *i*. As I show in Appendix 1.A, I obtain the demand for an individual consumption good

$$C_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} C_t, \qquad (1.10)$$

as a function of its price $P_t(i)$ relative to the price index P_t , of the composite consumption level C_t , and of the elasticity of substitution parameter ε_t .

Using the market clearing conditions $C_t(i) = Y_t(i)$, for all *i* and *t*, and $C_t = Y_t$,

for all t, I can rewrite (1.10) to measure production of firm i

$$Y_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_t, \qquad (1.11)$$

which represents the relationship linking individual output to aggregate output and the relative price. Price dispersion in (1.11) is an important source of potential welfare losses in a closed economy. Using equation (1.10), I also obtain an expression for the consumer price index in a closed economy as a function of each good's price, formally

$$P_t = \left[\int_0^1 \left(P_t(i) \right)^{1-\varepsilon} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (1.12)

It is worth mentioning that, in this closed economy model, the consumer price index and the producer price index are identical.

1.4 The Model: Supply Side

In order to obtain the Phillips curve, it is convenient to look at the behaviour of each firm in the goods markets. The reason is that I assume that only some firms will set the optimal price as they would under perfect price flexibility, while the others will not. Moreover, firms supply differentiated goods to the markets, and this allow them to have a certain degree of market power. As a result, firms are not price-takers, but rather incorporate the demand function into their decision regarding how much they should produce.

I closely follow the price setting mechanism in Calvo (1983) and Galí and Gertler (1999). There are two types of firms. As illustrated in Figure 1.1, a first



Figure 1.1: Profit tree: A share of $1 - \alpha$ firms are allowed to change their prices, from which ω firms choose a price according rule of thumb.

group of firms, with measure $1 - \omega$, set the price optimally. The complementary measure ω set the price according to a rule of thumb. Firms may face two different situations: i) they are allowed to set their price (with probability $1 - \alpha$); ii) they are not allowed to do so (with probability α). Hence, at each time t, a measure $(1 - \omega)(1 - \alpha)$ set the price optimally, and are labelled f; a measure $\omega(1 - \alpha)$ set the price according to a rule of thumb, and are labelled b; finally, a measure α leave the price unchanged, and are labelled s.

Optimal Prices

Consider first one of the $(1 - \omega)(1 - \alpha)$ firms, labelled f, that at time t are allowed to change the price and do so optimally. Each firm in this group sets price

 $P_t^f(i)$ to maximise its expected stream of profits $G_t(i)$ subject to the technological constraint (represented by its production function)

$$\max_{P_t^f(i)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^j E_t \left[Q_{t,t+j} \left(P_t^f(i) Y_{t+j}(i) - W_{t+j} N_{t+j}(i) \right) \right],$$
subject to: $Y_t(i) = A_t N_t(i)$, and $Y_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t} \right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_t,$

$$(1.13)$$

where A_t is total factor productivity, which is common to all firms. As already mentioned above, assume that the stock of capital is fixed, so labour is the only variable input in the production function, and its demand function given by equation (1.11). Hence, the first order condition for this problem is

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^{j} E_{t} \left[Q_{t,t+j} \left((1-\varepsilon) Y_{t+j} \left(\frac{P_{t}^{f}(i)}{P_{t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \frac{W_{t+j}}{P_{t}^{f}(i)} \frac{Y_{t+j}}{A_{t+j}} \left(\frac{P_{t}^{f}(i)}{P_{t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} \right) \right] = 0.$$

Defining the nominal marginal cost as

$$MC_t(i) = W_t/A_t = MC_t, \qquad (1.14)$$

and using (1.7) together with the fact that, at time t, j = 0 and so $\alpha^j = 1$ and $Q_{1,1} = 1$, I can rewrite this expression to obtain

$$P_t^f(i) E_t \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^j \beta^j \frac{U_{C,t+j}}{U_{C,t}} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+j}} \left(\frac{1}{P_{t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_{t+j} \right]$$
$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} E_t \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^j \beta^j \frac{U_{C,t+j}}{U_{C,t}} Y_{t+j} M C_{t+j} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+j}} \left(\frac{1}{P_{t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} \right].$$

Multiplying both sides by $(1/P_t)^{\varepsilon}$ and $U_{C,t}$ yields

$$\widetilde{P}_{t}^{f}(i) E_{t} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^{j} \beta^{j} U_{C,t+j} Y_{t+j} \left(\frac{P_{t+j}}{P_{t}} \right)^{\varepsilon-1} \right] \\
= \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} E_{t} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^{j} \beta^{j} U_{C,t+j} Y_{t+j} \widetilde{MC}_{t+j} \left(\frac{P_{t+j}}{P_{t}} \right)^{\varepsilon} \right],$$
(1.15)

where $\tilde{P}_{t}^{f}(i) = P_{t}^{f}(i) / P_{t}$ is the relative forward looking price and $\widetilde{MC}_{t} = MC_{t} / P_{t}$

is the real marginal cost. This equation can be written in terms of forward looking price and inflation, using $P_{t+j}/P_t = \Pi_{t+j} \cdot \Pi_{t+j-1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \Pi_{t+1} = \prod_{k=1}^{j} \Pi_{t+k}$, where $\Pi_t = P_t/P_{t-1}$ is inflation in period t. It therefore holds that

$$\tilde{P}_t^f(i) = \frac{J_t}{H_t}.$$
(1.16)

The variables J_t and H_t are respectively given by

$$J_t = \mu U_{C,t} Y_t \widetilde{MC}_t + \alpha \beta E_t \left[(\Pi_{t+1})^{\varepsilon} J_{t+1} \right]$$
(1.17)

and

$$H_t = U_{C,t} Y_t + \alpha \beta E_t \left[(\Pi_{t+1})^{\varepsilon - 1} H_{t+1} \right].$$
 (1.18)

The expression $\mu = \varepsilon/(\varepsilon - 1)$ is the constant markup that the firm charges by exploiting its monopolistic power. Recall that if the firm faced perfect competition, this markup would disappear and firms would set their (relative) prices equal to their real marginal costs, which by symmetry would be identical to all firms.

Rule of Thumb and Staggered Prices

Consider now the $\omega (1 - \alpha)$ firms, labelled *b*, that set their price at time *t*. These firms do so according to a rule of thumb, *i.e.*, by indexing the price to the last observed rate of inflation, Π_{t-1} , yielding

$$P_t^b(i) = \Pi_{t-1} X_{t-1} = P_t^b, \tag{1.19}$$

where X_{t-1} denotes the index of the prices set at date t-1. The rule of thumb in relative terms, using the definition of relative prices $\tilde{P}_t^b \equiv P_t^b/P_t$ and $\tilde{X}_{t-1} \equiv X_{t-1}/P_{t-1}$, is given by

$$\tilde{P}_t^b = \frac{\Pi_{t-1}}{\Pi_t} \tilde{X}_{t-1}.$$
(1.20)

The new average price set in period t is then defined by

$$X_t \equiv \left[(1-\omega) P_t^{f^{(1-\varepsilon)}} + \omega P_t^{b^{(1-\varepsilon)}} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (1.21)

and equivalently in relative terms by

$$\tilde{X}_t \equiv \left[(1-\omega) \, \tilde{P}_t^{f^{(1-\varepsilon)}} + \omega \tilde{P}_t^{b^{(1-\varepsilon)}} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}} . \tag{1.22}$$

1.4.1 Derivation of the Phillips Curve

Aside from the firms that set their prices optimally and are forward looking, and those that set their prices according to the inflation index and are backward looking, there is a third group of firms at each period t of measure α that do not change their prices at all so that for them

$$P_t^s(i) = P_{t-1}, (1.23)$$

which in relative terms is

$$\tilde{P}_t^s(i) = \frac{1}{\Pi_t}.$$
(1.24)

I obtain the Phillips curve representing the supply side of the model by aggregating the prices chosen by the different types of firms. Hence, from equation (1.12), it follows that

$$\begin{split} 1 &= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{P_{t}\left(i\right)}{P_{t}}\right)^{1-\varepsilon} di \\ &= \left[\int_{0}^{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \left[\tilde{P}_{t}^{f}\left(i\right)\right]^{1-\varepsilon} di + \int_{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}^{1-\alpha} \left[\tilde{P}_{t}^{b}\left(i\right)\right]^{1-\varepsilon} di + \int_{1-\alpha}^{1} \left[\tilde{P}_{t}^{s}\left(i\right)\right]^{1-\varepsilon} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}} . \end{split}$$

To simplify, I assume that all firms face the same shock and share the same technology. Therefore, all firms of the same type will set the same price when allowed to change it. Therefore $\tilde{P}_t^f(i) = \tilde{P}_t^f$ and $\tilde{P}_t^b(i) = \tilde{P}_t^b$ and the Phillips curve is

$$1 = (1 - \alpha) (1 - \omega) \left(\tilde{P}_t^f\right)^{1-\varepsilon} + (1 - \alpha) \omega \left(\tilde{P}_t^b\right)^{1-\varepsilon} + \alpha \left(\Pi_t\right)^{\varepsilon-1}.$$
 (1.25)

The Phillips curve is therefore function of both the forward looking price index and the backward looking price index. A more tractable version of (1.25) is obtained by log-linearising the model 1.B.

1.4.2 Price Dispersion

The dispersion between the firm's price and the aggregate price level is an important source of social inefficiencies. Given that some of the individual prices are staggered and that the aggregate price level changes, the relative prices of individual goods change. Dispersion in relative prices Z_t leads to output dispersion that in turn leads to an inefficient level of aggregate production.

Aggregating the individual output across the firms by using individual production function (1.13) yields

$$\int_{0}^{1} Y_{t}(i) \, di = A_{t} \int_{0}^{1} N_{t}(i) \, di.$$

From the definition of aggregate labour: $N_t = \int_0^1 N_t(i) di$, this means that

$$N_t = \int_0^1 \frac{Y_t\left(i\right)}{A_t} di$$

Multiplying and dividing by Y_t , and using equation (1.11)

$$N_t = \frac{Y_t}{A_t} Z_t, \tag{1.26}$$

where Z_t is a measure of relative price dispersion, given by

$$Z_t = \int_0^1 \frac{Y_t(i)}{Y_t} di = \int_0^1 \left(\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} di.$$

Together with equation (1.25), the measure of price dispersion can be rewritten as

$$Z_t = (1 - \alpha) \left(\tilde{X}_t \right)^{-\varepsilon} + \alpha Z_{t-1} \Pi_t^{\varepsilon}.$$
(1.27)

Note that $Y_t \neq \int_0^1 Y_t(i) di$; using a composite consumption together with the market cleaning condition for closed economy, I get the composed expression for output

$$Y_t = \left(\int_0^1 \left[Y_t(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$$

As Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007) demonstrate, relative price dispersion is bounded below by $Z_t \ge 1$. Additionally, price dispersion can be disregarded in the first order approximation of the model. Woodford (2003) and Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007) also show that, given a steady state with zero inflation ($\Pi = 1$), price dispersion is deterministic and follows a AR(1) process, and as such does not have any real effect.

1.5 Non Policy Equilibrium and Steady state

After a brief discussion about a non-policy equilibrium of this model, in this section I introduce a deterministic environment around a steady state with non-zero inflation, and I compare it to a steady state with zero inflation, illustrating the similarities and pointing out the differences.

1.5.1 Non Policy Equilibrium

Assume that the instantaneous utility function is time-separable and takes the form

$$U(C_t, N_t) = \frac{C_t^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{N_t^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta},$$
(1.28)

where σ and η are positive parameters, interpretable as constant relative risk aversion (CRRA) coefficients, which determine the elasticities of substitution of consumption and labour supply. The marginal utility of consumption and marginal disutility of labour are given respectively by

$$U_{C,t} = C_t^{-\sigma}$$

and

$$U_{N,t} = -N_t^{\eta}.$$

For a closed economy, the equilibrium is specified by $C_t = Y_t$ and $B_t = 0$, so that the Euler equation takes the form

$$\beta E_t \left[\left(\frac{Y_{t+1}}{Y_t} \right)^{-\sigma} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \right] = E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} \right]. \tag{1.29}$$

1.5.2 The Steady State

In the literature, it is common to assume that inflation in steady state equals zero (*i.e.*, the gross rate of inflation is $\Pi = 1$). However, as I demonstrate in this section, a moderate long run inflation, that is, a steady state non-zero inflation, can improve social welfare. This fact is exploited by the central planner in the case that $\omega > 0$, *i.e.*, in a model with (some) backward looking agents, as described in more details in Section 1.6.1. Prior to this, it is necessary to define the non-stochastic steady state of the model, in which exogenous disturbances are absent and it holds that A = 1. Real variables and variables written in relative terms are constant and only nominal variables increase, following the steady state inflation process Π .

In short, I can summarise the overall effect of a non-zero steady state inflation as follows. On the one hand, positive inflation generates greater price dispersion Z, so the aggregate output tends to decrease. On the other hand, as I show below, positive (small) inflation leads to an increase in real marginal labour cost. Since wages are flexible, marginal cost equals real wage, thus positive (small) steady state inflation leads to a higher real wage. Higher real wage has both income and substitution effects. The income effect that follows from an increase in real wages will cause an increase in both leisure and consumption. Therefore, labour supply decreases. However, because of the higher wage, workers also substitute their leisure with labour. A rise in the labour input induces an increase in aggregate output. Hence, as I will demonstrate below the effect of inflation on output is determined by two countervailing forces, a positive effect generated by inducing higher real wages and a negative effect generated by inducing greater price dispersion.

From the Euler equation in the steady state, using equation (1.29), it follows that the market discount factor equals its subjective counterpart

$$\frac{\beta}{\Pi} = Q, \tag{1.30}$$

where Π is steady state inflation. Therefore, it holds that if inflation in steady state is non-zero, the discount factor Q is lower than the subjective household's discount factor β .

Using equation (1.8), the steady state labour supply can be determined by equating the marginal rate of substitution between labour and consumption to the
steady state real wage

$$\bar{W} = -\frac{U_N}{U_C}.\tag{1.31}$$

From the supply side, using equations (1.20), (1.22) and (1.25), all firms allowed to change the prices set them equally, as a function of the level of steady state inflation, formally

$$\bar{P}^b = \bar{X}$$

and

$$\bar{P}^f = \bar{X},$$

where:

$$\bar{X} = \left(\frac{1 - \alpha \left(\Pi\right)^{\varepsilon - 1}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon}}.$$
(1.32)

Note that, if $\Pi = 1$, then also the new and old prices equal the CPI, and therefore the model delivers unit relative prices. In the case that the steady state inflation is positive, the nominal prices increase steadily. It follows from the definition of the price index that this aggregator averages new and unchanged prices, so it holds that $P < X = P^f = P^b$. Thus, the new nominal price grows more than the price index, which is pulled down by the lower prices chosen in the last periods, making the new relative price larger than one, formally

$$\bar{P}^f = \frac{P^f}{P} > 1.$$

The fact that zero inflation implies that all relative and nominal prices equal one also implies unit price dispersion, *i.e.*, Z = 1. It can be shown that, when $\Pi > 1$,



Figure 1.2: The relationship between steady state inflation (horizontal axis) and price dispersion (vertical axis).

the price dispersion is above one. Using equation (1.27) in steady state, price dispersion is a function of the new price and inflation, formally

$$Z = \frac{(1-\alpha)\,\bar{X}^{-\varepsilon}}{1-\alpha\Pi^{\varepsilon}}.\tag{1.33}$$

Price dispersion is directly related to inflation as long as the gross rate of inflation is close to one. Figure 1.2 shows that a higher inflation generates larger steady state price dispersion. Solving (1.16) for marginal costs in terms of the rate of inflation yields

$$\overline{MC} = \frac{1}{\mu} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon}}{1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}} \right) \bar{P}^{f}.$$
(1.34)

If $\Pi = 1$, marginal costs are the reciprocal of the forward looking price over

markup, otherwise the real marginal costs also depend on the level of the steady state inflation. On one hand, if Π is close enough to one, the marginal costs are directly related to the rate of inflation. On the other hand, with higher steady state inflation, real marginal costs decrease. A small increase in the steady state inflation leads to higher real marginal costs. Given that the real marginal costs are proportional to the real wage, gross inflation slightly higher than 1 leads to an increase in the real wage.

Inserting the equality $\overline{MC} = \overline{W}$ into equation (1.34) together with (1.32) and rearranging, I get

$$\bar{W} = \frac{1}{\mu} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon}}{1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}} \right) \bar{X}.$$
(1.35)

At the firm-level, for the production function and for the aggregate production function in steady state

$$Y\left(i\right) = N\left(i\right)$$

and

$$Y = \frac{N}{Z}.$$

The wedge between aggregate output and labour is the reciprocal of the price dispersion.

Finally, the level of output in steady state can be expressed as a function of steady state inflation

$$Y = \left(\frac{1}{\mu}\right)^{\frac{1}{\sigma+\eta}} \left[\left(\frac{1-\alpha\Pi^{\varepsilon-1}}{1-\alpha}\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon(\eta+1)}{\varepsilon-1}} \cdot \frac{(1-\alpha)^{1+\eta} (1-\alpha\beta\Pi^{\varepsilon-1})}{(1-\alpha\beta\Pi^{\varepsilon}) (1-\alpha\Pi^{\varepsilon-1}) (1-\alpha\Pi^{\varepsilon})^{\eta}} \right]^{-\frac{1}{\sigma+\eta}} .$$

$$(1.36)$$

The steady state level of output (1.36) differs from the natural level of output Y^n . The natural level of output arises when all prices are flexible (*i.e.*, $\alpha = 0$), so all firms set their prices equal. For this reason, at the natural level of output all prices are equal to the consumer price index, *i.e.*, $P_t(i) = P_t$, and it follows that $\bar{X} = \bar{P}^f = \bar{P}^b = 1$. The natural level of output itself can be expressed as

$$Y^n = \mu^{-\frac{1}{\sigma+\eta}}$$

Note that, in the case of zero inflation, steady state output equals its natural level, because any effects from the presence of nominal distortions are neutralised by the equality of nominal and real prices for all firms. Therefore, the output gap, defined as the ratio between actual and natural level of output $\tilde{Y} = \bar{Y}/\bar{Y}^n$, equals one.

In the case of non-zero inflation, the output gap is instead given by

$$\tilde{Y} = \left[\left(\frac{1 - \alpha \left(\Pi \right)^{\varepsilon - 1}}{1 - \alpha} \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1}(\eta + 1)} \frac{(1 - \alpha)^{1 + \eta} \left(1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1} \right)}{(1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon}) \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1} \right) \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon} \right)^{\eta}} \right]^{-\frac{1}{\sigma + \eta}}$$

Figure 1.3 shows that a small level of inflation can increase steady state output over its natural level. However, higher inflation is distortionary and leads to a negative output gap, *i.e.*, $\tilde{Y} < 1$.

Additionally, it can be shown that the aggregate output produced in the steady state differs from the efficient level of output, defined as the output in an economy without any nominal and real distortions, such that the marginal product of labour



Figure 1.3: The relationship between steady state inflation (horizontal axis) and steady state output gap (vertical axis).

MPN equals the marginal rate of substitution $MRS_{C,N}$.

The wedge between steady state output and its efficient level therefore reflects the wedge between the marginal product of labour MPN = Y/N and the marginal rate of substitution $MRS_{C,N} = -U_N/U_C$, which can be illustrated using (1.35) in conjunction with (1.36)

$$\frac{Y}{N} = -\mu \frac{U_N}{U_C} \frac{\left(1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}\right) \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon}\right)}{\left(1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon}\right) \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}\right)}.$$
(1.37)

Note that without any nominal distortions, *i.e.*, in the case that $\alpha = 0$, or in the standard case of zero steady state inflation, *i.e.*, $\Pi = 1$, the fraction disappears and the wedge between output and labour is generated only by real distortions,

ε	4	elasticity of substitution between goods
α	2/3	parameter of price stickiness
β	0.99	subjective discount factor
η	1	inverse elasticity of labour supply
σ	1.5	inverse intertemporal elasticity of substitution

Table 1.1: Calibration of the model parameters

captured by the mark-up μ . Note that assuming perfect competition, $\varepsilon \to \infty$ leads to a zero mark-up, where $\mu = 1$.

Rotemberg and Woodford (1998) emphasise that the aim of the policy maker is to stabilise the economy around the efficient level of output Y_t^e . To this aim, they approximate the welfare of the representative household around the efficient level of output. As mentioned above, nominal distortions in steady state disappear if inflation equals one. Real distortions generated by monopolistic competition can be offset by introducing employment subsidies that increase the output up to the desired efficient level. Using equation (1.37), it follows that it is sufficient to introduce an output subsidy with rate τ such that $(1 - \tau) \mu = 1$. In other words, the subsidies can be expressed as $\tau = \varepsilon^{-1} > 0$, and the higher the elasticity of substitution, *i.e.*, the lower the markup, the lower the subsidies required to obtain the efficient level of output.

The introduction of employment subsidies lowers the MPN, directly leading to increases in employment and output to their efficient levels. Therefore the natural level and the efficient level of output are identical, *i.e.*, $Y^n = Y^e$, and the output gap equals the welfare relevant output gap.

1.5.3 Innovations and Calibration of the model

In the last section, I described my model in its deterministic, perfect foresight, steady state. In what follows I study the behaviour of the model in a stochastic environment where the source of uncertainty is represented by shocks to total factor productivity (TFP). The TFP innovation A_t measures the aggregate technology process, which (log-linearised) follows the stochastic AR(1) process

$$\hat{a}_t = \rho_a \hat{a}_{t-1} + \xi_{a,t},$$

where $\hat{a}_t \equiv (\log A_t - \log A)$ denotes the deviation, in log terms, of TFP from its steady state value, $\rho_a \in [0,1)$ is the autocorrelation parameter, and $\xi_a \sim i.i.d. (0, \sigma_a^2)$ is a white noise shock.

In assigning numerical values to the structural parameters, I closely follow the literature. Table 1.1 reports the calibrated values for the parameters of the model. The parameter σ is the inverse of the intertemporal elasticity of substitution (IES), and the elasticity is usually assumed to take values between 0.5 and 1. I choose $\sigma = 1.5$ so that the IES equals 0.67. The labour disutility parameter η is set equal to one, in accordance with the estimates from Smets and Wouters (2003).

Each time period in this model corresponds to a quarter of a year, hence $\beta = 0.99$ corresponds to just over an annual subjective discount rate of 4 per cent. The price stickiness parameter, $\alpha = 2/3$, means that on average a given firm changes its price every three periods, computed as $1/(1 - \alpha)$. This corresponds to the usual value estimated for the US market. Finally, setting $\varepsilon = 4$ implies that the average markup over the marginal costs is set to 33 percent.

1.6 Welfare Loss Function and Welfare Loss Measure

There are several linear-quadratic approaches in the literature to approximating the welfare loss function. Generally, a linear-quadratic approach uses the first order approximation of the structural equations to obtain a second order approximation of the utility function to represent the social welfare function. There is an extensive literature devoted to the analytical derivation of the welfare loss function. This paper provides a welfare based analysis to measure the effectiveness of different monetary policy rules comparing two different approaches: the traditional linearquadratic approach and the Hamiltonian approach.

The first approach is based on Levine, McAdam, and Pearlman (2007) and their Hamiltonian two-stage linear-quadratic approach. I show that, for a Ramsey planner and in the presence of backward looking firms, it is desirable to impose a non-zero steady state rate of inflation.

In their work, Levine *et al.* (2007) develop a two-stage Ramsey policy, where in the first stage a steady state in line with a social planner allocation is found and corresponds to a best possible deterministic outcome. In the second stage, a monetary policy rule for a stochastic environment is determined, which leads to the lowest possible welfare loss (and therefore the closest to the steady state value derived in the first stage). In this case, however, it is not possible to derive an analytical solution for the welfare loss function, so the model is solved numerically using Dynare/ACES software.

The second approach, which has an analytical solution, is based on Steins-

son (2003) and similar to Rotemberg and Woodford (1999), and enables me to compare my results with the numerical solution. Following Rotemberg and Woodford (1999), the second order approximation of the welfare loss function is derived together with the first order approximation of the equilibrium conditions. Two conditions are necessary to derive an accurate second order approximation of the welfare using this method. First, the real distortions following from monopolistic competition have to be eliminated by assuming labour subsidies, thus allowing only for small distortions. Therefore, in the steady state, the output gap is zero and the model is log-linearised around its efficient level. Second, the approximation has to be calculated in a closed neighborhood of zero steady state inflation, so that in the steady state the price distortions are eliminated.

1.6.1 Welfare Loss Function using the Hamiltonian Approach

In this section, I explain how the welfare loss is calculated using the two-stage approach by Levine *et al.* (2007). In the first stage, the social planner chooses a steady state inflation level, which maximises steady state welfare. In the second stage, welfare in a stochastic environment around the first-stage steady state is maximised.

Generally, the goal of the central bank's monetary policy is to maximise a social welfare function Ω , which consists of the discounted stream of the households' utility over the current and the future periods

$$\Omega = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t U_t, \qquad (1.38)$$

where U_t is the instantaneous utility function of the representative household. Using (1.28), the nonlinear optimisation problem for the Ramsey planner is defined by

$$\Omega = E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\frac{C_t^{j1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \left(\int_0^1 \frac{N_t^j(i)}{1+\eta} di \right)^{1+\eta} \right],$$

where $C_t^j = C_t$ for all households j, given the assumption that all household have identical preferences and resources. An individual j supplies N_t^j labour in total, assuming that to each firm i it supplies equal amount of labour $N_t^j(i)$. Given (1.26), the Ramsey planner problem can be rewritten as

$$\Omega = E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\frac{C_t^{j1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{1}{1+\eta} \left(\frac{Y_t}{A_t} Z_t \right)^{1+\eta} \right]$$

and is maximised subject to the structural conditions (1.25), (1.16), (1.17), (1.18), (1.20), (1.22) and (1.27). In this first stage, it is only necessary to find the first order conditions in a deterministic steady state. Thus, only the optimal steady state is identified.

Using a Dynare based MATLAB software package called ACES (Analysis and Control of Economic Systems), and assuming that inflation is the instrument controlled by the central bank, the steady state of this problem is identified as a non-zero steady state inflation when $\omega > 0$. As illustrated in Figure 1.3, a moderate steady state rate of inflation leads to output rising above its natural level (*e.g.*, $Y > Y^n$) and it can be shown that the social planner chooses a positive rate of steady state inflation whenever $\omega > 0$. Recall from Section 1.5.2 that, for $\Pi > 1$, price dispersion is higher than one in steady state but, at the same time, if inflation is sufficiently small, then the equilibrium in the labour market implies

ω	П	\bar{W}	N	C = Y	$ar\Omega$
0	1	0.75	0.891299	0.891299	-251.5670
0.3	1.00006	0.750002	0.8913	0.8913	-251.5657
0.5	1.00013	0.750006	0.891302	0.891302	-251.5656
0.8	1.00052	0.750021	0.891311	0.891308	-251.5657

Table 1.2: Hamiltonian steady state outcomes for different shares of backward looking firms.

that output may rise above its natural level. Therefore, there is a certain trade off between these two effects, where the positive effects outweigh the negative ones if inflation is positive but very small.

Given (1.38), social welfare in the steady state is measured as

$$\bar{\Omega} = \frac{1}{1-\beta} U(C, N) \,. \tag{1.39}$$

As it is shown in Table 1.2, the social welfare rises as the value of the backward looking parameter ω is increased.¹ The higher the share of backward looking companies, the higher the trend inflation chosen by the social planner. Higher inflation leads to a higher real wage and an increase in labour because the substitution effect dominates the income effect. Although output increases with the level of steady state inflation, its rise is lower than that of labour, due to the additional price dispersion that higher inflation generates.

From the equations in Section 1.5.2, it is straightforward to notice that the $\overline{}^{1}$ For reference, note that the level of welfare generated in an efficient level of output is $\overline{\Omega} = -250$, with $\Pi = \overline{W} = N = C = Y^{eff} = 1$.

steady state outcomes are not directly influenced by the parameter ω . As a result, one might be tempted to conclude that the social planner may choose steady state inflation independent of this parameter. However, Table 1.2 clearly points towards the opposite direction: the optimal social planner decision is affected by the magnitude of the fraction of backward looking firms. Zero inflation is optimally chosen only when all firms are forward looking, and this also represents the steady state with the lowest level of output and welfare. As the fraction of backward looking firms increases, both inflation and welfare grow. This is suggestive of a positive ω being beneficial for the economy.

One possible rationale for this finding relies on the price dispersion being, under certain conditions and off steady state, a negative function of ω .² In the presence of backward looking firms, in fact, the social planner would exploit this negative link by letting inflation reach an optimal positive level in the steady state. In particular, the larger ω , the higher the optimal steady state inflation. As explained above, a positive inflation increases welfare through the marginal costs channel, and decreases it by raising price dispersion. For any given $\omega > 0$, it is then possible to find a level of positive inflation that would result in better outcomes than a zero inflation (both in transition and, eventually, in the steady state). Suppose that the social planner attempted to impose the same level of steady state inflation

$$Z_t = (1 - \alpha) \left[(1 - \omega) \left(P_t^f / P_t \right)^{-\varepsilon} + \omega \left(P_t^b / P_t \right)^{-\varepsilon} \right] + \alpha Z_{t-1} \Pi_t^{\varepsilon},$$

²More precisely, I can rewrite (1.27) as

from which it follows that $P_t^f > P_t^b$ entails $dZ_t/d\omega < 0$. This means that, whenever forward looking firms (f) set a higher price than their backward looking counterparts (b), price dispersion is inversely related with the fraction of b firms. The condition $P_t^f > P_t^b$ seems natural to assume in the case of an unanticipated inflation rise, given that while f firms are fully rational in their reaction to a rise in inflation, b firms reaction is lagged one period, and always considers only the last period inflation (which is in turn the 'average' outcome of the choices made by f and b).

with a lower ω . Then, the fraction of forward looking firms would possibly be sufficiently large to command a high price dispersion, whose negative effects may overcome the positive ones due to the rise in labour supply. Of course, the social planner could not possibly exploit this channel to improve welfare when $\omega = 0$, as the forward looking NKPC would lack any inflation inertia.

The aim of the second stage of the Hamiltonian approach is to derive an accurate linear-quadratic approximation in a stochastic environment around a steady state level identified in the first stage. Calculating the first order Taylor approximation (log-linearisation) of the first order conditions and the constraints, together with the second order Taylor approximation of the Hamiltonian with the Lagrangian problem, delivers a quadratic approximation of the utility expressed in terms of the state variables. In the presence of non-zero inflation, an analytical derivation of this function is not possible. Thus, at this point, I merely compare the welfare loss function obtained from analytical solution of simple linear-quadratic approach with the numerical results obtained directly using ACES.

1.6.2 Analytical Approximation of the Welfare Loss Function

Because the analytical derivation of the welfare function around a steady state with non-zero inflation is not possible, I compare my numerical result, obtained using the Hamiltonian approach described in previous section, with the result derived from the traditional approach, analogous to the one implemented by Steinsson (2003). This method is based on a linear-quadratic approach using the first order approximation of the structural equations and the second order approximation of the welfare function. The approximation of the second order of the welfare function is detailed in the appendix. The analytical welfare loss function also proves useful for a derivation of the optimal monetary policy under commitment.

I study the model in the neighborhood of its non-stochastic perfect-foresight steady state. There are two points worth mentioning. First, without any further assumptions, this steady state does not achieve the long run efficient level of output because of the presence of nominal and real distortions. In particular, non-zero inflation in the steady state generates a degree of price dispersion that, together with the firms' monopolistic power, implies lower output. This causes problems when calculating the second order approximation of the welfare, and therefore these distortions have to be neutralised, as discussed in Section 1.5.2.

Log-Linearisation

To derive analytically the loss function around the steady state with zero inflation, it is necessary to approximate the structural equations of the model in a close neighborhood of the model's steady state. The log-linearisation of a generic variable D_t around its steady state value D can be generally expressed as

$$D_t = De^{\log D_t/D} = De^{\log D_t - \log D} = De^{(d_t - d)} = De^{\hat{d}} \approx D\left(1 + \hat{d}_t\right).$$

However, some of the structural equations are linear in their logs so I can write directly $\log D_t = d_t$. This holds for the Euler equation (1.29), whose loglinearisation is

$$y_t = E_t \left[y_{t+1} + \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\pi_{t+1} - i_t - \varrho \right) \right]$$

with $\rho = -\log \beta$ and where $p_{t+1} - p_t \equiv \pi_{t+1}$ and $i_t = -\log (Q_{t,t+1})$. Assuming that the variables do not deviate much from their steady state values, the Euler equation can be written as a deviation from its steady state level as

$$\hat{y}_t = E_t \left[\hat{y}_{t+1} + \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\pi_{t+1} - \hat{i}_t \right) \right], \qquad (1.40)$$

where I employ the definitions $\hat{p}_{t+1} - \hat{p}_t \equiv \pi_{t+1}$ and $\hat{i}_t \equiv -[\log(Q_{t,t+1}) - \log(Q)]$.³ It is clear from (1.40) that, in a closed economy, the real interest rate, $i_t - \pi_{t+1}$, is pinned down by the real output growth rate. Hence, if prices are fully flexible and firms are fully rational, central bank intervention modifies the nominal interest rate, i_t . This change is fully anticipated by firms that, by setting their prices accordingly, induce a proportional shift in the inflation rate π_{t+1} . If prices are not fully flexible and/or firms are not fully rational, then changes in the nominal interest rate induced by the central bank may have real effects, as prices do not respond proportionally to variations in the nominal interest rate. As a result, inflation only partially responds to the central bank intervention, and real output growth, $y_t - y_{t-1}$, also changes. The final result is that the Euler equation holds with a modified real rate of interest and a modified degree of output growth.

For this reason, it is important to introduce the concept of natural equilibrium, where all firms are fully rational and may adjust their prices every period. Denote the log-linearisation of the generic variable D_t in its natural level as $d_t^n \equiv \log D_t^n$. Following the definition of the natural level of a variable, I can also rewrite the log-linearised Euler equation in terms of the output gap (the deviation of the real variables from their natural levels), in turn defined as the log of the ratio between

³Note that since the steady state level of inflation is set to be zero, we can write $\hat{\pi}_t = \pi_t$.

actual output and natural output, and denoted by $\tilde{y}_t = y_t - y_t^n$. Using (1.40) yields

$$\tilde{y}_{t} = E_{t} \left[\tilde{y}_{t+1} \right] - \frac{1}{\sigma} E_{t} \left[i_{t} - \pi_{t+1} - r_{t}^{n} \right], \qquad (1.41)$$

where r_t^n is the Wicksellian natural rate of interest and it holds that $r_t^n = \rho + \sigma E_t (\Delta y_{t+1}^n)$. For future reference, I also express (1.41) as a deviation from the steady state level, formally

$$\tilde{y}_t = E_t \left[\tilde{y}_{t+1} \right] - \frac{1}{\sigma} E_t \left[\hat{i}_t - \pi_{t+1} - \hat{r}_t^n \right].$$
(1.42)

In this case, \hat{r}_t^n is the deviation of the Wicksellian natural rate of interest from its steady state level, and it holds that $\hat{r}_t^n = \sigma E_t \left[\Delta y_{t+1}^n \right]$.

Additionally, the log-linearisation of the labour supply delivers the relationship between the real wage, labour supply and output

$$\hat{w}_t = \eta \hat{n}_t + \sigma \hat{y}_t. \tag{1.43}$$

Furthermore, as I describe in Appendix 1.B in more detail, the supply curve shows how inflation reacts to variations in real marginal costs as well as future and past inflation. I rewrite this as

$$\pi_t = \chi^f E_t \left[\pi_{t+1} \right] + \chi^b \pi_{t-1} + \kappa_{mc} \widehat{mc}_t \tag{1.44}$$

with the parameters

$$\Psi = \alpha + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \left(1 - \beta\right)\right)$$
$$\chi^{f} = \alpha \beta / \Psi, \chi^{b} = \omega / \Psi$$
$$\kappa_{mc} = \left(1 - \omega\right) \left(1 - \alpha\right) \left(1 - \alpha\beta\right) / \Psi,$$

where $0 < \{\chi^f, \chi^b, \kappa_{mc}\} < 1$ and $\Psi > 1$. Notice that, when $\beta \to 1$, $\chi^f + \chi^b = 1$. Hence, inflation is a function of the convex combination of future and past inflation.

The measure of price dispersion in (1.27), log-linearised around the zero inflation steady state, delivers the AR(1) process

$$z_t = \alpha z_{t-1},$$

which, as discussed in Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007), is purely deterministic up to the first order, and does not have any real effect on the rest of the model.

Similar to the Euler equation, the Phillips curve can also be rewritten in terms of the output gap. As mentioned earlier, in the natural state of the economy firms can reset their prices in each period. Since I assume that all firms are identical, they will all choose the same price, which equals the aggregate price level. Therefore, all relative prices in the natural level of output equal one.

Formally, it is straightforward to see that the natural level of the relative price (in logarithms) equals the real marginal cost in the natural level mc_t^n plus the markup μ , where the latter can be disregarded when considering the deviation from its steady state level

$$\widehat{mc}_t^n = 0. \tag{1.45}$$

This is because the real marginal cost always equals the mark up, which does not deviate from its steady state level. Log-linearisation of equation (1.14), together with (1.8), yields

$$\widehat{mc}_t = \eta \hat{n}_t + \sigma \hat{y}_t - a_t. \tag{1.46}$$

Additionally, log-linearisation of (1.26), together with the fact that \hat{z}_t can be disregarded, delivers

$$\hat{n}_t = \hat{y}_t - a_t.$$

Inserting this back into (1.46), yields the real marginal cost

$$\widehat{mc}_t = (\eta + \sigma)\,\hat{y}_t - (1 + \eta)\,a_t.$$

Combining the last expression with (1.45) delivers the natural level of output

$$\hat{y}_t^n = \frac{(1+\eta)}{(\eta+\sigma)} a_t, \tag{1.47}$$

and I can therefore express the the relationship between the marginal cost and output gap as

$$\widehat{mc}_t - \widehat{mc}_t^n = (\eta + \sigma) \left(\hat{y}_t - \hat{y}_t^n \right) - (1 + \eta) a_t + (1 + \eta) a_t.$$

Rearranging, and employing the definition of the output gap $\tilde{y}_t = \hat{y}_t - \hat{y}_t^n$, yields

$$\widehat{mc}_t = (\eta + \sigma) \, \widetilde{y}_t. \tag{1.48}$$

Plugging this equation into (1.44) delivers a hybrid NKPC in terms of the output gap, that is log-linearised around a steady state equilibrium with zero inflation

$$\pi_{t} = \chi^{f} E_{t} \left[\pi_{t+1} \right] + \chi^{b} \pi_{t-1} + \kappa \tilde{y}_{t}.$$
(1.49)

The parameter $\kappa = \kappa_{mc} (\eta + \sigma) > 0$ is the slope of the Phillips curve expressed in terms of the output gap, and reflects the relationship between inflation and output.

Following Steinsson (2003), I consider four different values of the backward looking parameter ω . The values for the composed parameters under these values of ω are shown in Table 1.3. The first row corresponds to the standard NKPC with a purely forward looking component, as postulated by most contributions to the literature (*e.g.*, Woodford, 2003). The second row corresponds to the values in the Galí-Gertler estimation for a rule of thumb model.⁴ As in Steinsson (2003), I refer to the third row as a *midway case*, where half of the firms are rational, and half of them follow a rule of thumb. The fourth row correspond to a model with a large share of backward looking firms and is a good proxy for the Fuhrer-Moore (1995) model. Even when omega is set this high, the Phillips curve is both forward and backward looking, with a slightly higher weight on the latter component. However, the curve becomes very inelastic to changes in the output gap.

Assuming that all firms are purely backward looking, *i.e.*, $\omega \to 1$, does not directly reduce the Phillips curve to an *acceleration Phillips curve*, since $\chi^f \to \alpha\beta/(1+\alpha\beta)$. However, Steinsson (2003) shows that taking the limit $\omega \to 1$,

⁴Galí and Gertler (1999) test empirically this hybrid NKPC and argue that, depending on the conditions, the estimates for ω are between 0.26 and 0.49, which correspond to estimates for χ^b between 0.25 and 0.38 and for χ^f between 0.59 and 0.68.

ω	χ^f	χ^b	κ
0	0.99	0	0.43
0.3	0.68	0.31	0.21
0.5	0.57	0.43	0.12
0.8	0.45	0.55	0.04

Table 1.3: Structural parameters of the hybridNKPC for different shares of backward looking firms.

the equation (1.49) has a unique bounded solution in which $\pi_t = \pi_{t-1}$. Hence, if all firms are backward looking, the price index in period t simply equals the price index in period t - 1, and it holds that $\{\chi^f, \chi^b, \kappa\} \to \{0, 1, 0\}$. In this case, the Phillips curve is vertical, which implies the absence of a trade-off between output and inflation.

Welfare Loss Function for a Model with Zero Steady State Inflation

Using the technique described in Rotemberg and Woodford (1999) and Steinsson (2003), and assuming that output is on its efficient level in steady state, the analytical derivation of the second order approximation of the objective function is straightforward and is described in more technical details in Appendix 1.C.

Ignoring terms higher than the second order and those independent of policy, the welfare loss function can be approximated by

$$\Omega_0 = \Theta E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left(\pi_t^2 + \lambda_\Delta \Delta \pi_t^2 + \lambda_y \tilde{y}_t^2 \right),$$

where Θ , λ_y and λ_{Δ} are functions of the structural parameters of the model. In contrast to the traditional loss function derived by Rotemberg and Woodford (1999) for a model with purely forward looking NKPC, this expression contains the relative weight on the inflation growth fluctuation term $\lambda_{\Delta} = \alpha^{-1} \omega / (1 - \omega)$, which is positively related to the parameter ω . That is, the larger the fraction of backward looking firms, the higher the welfare loss caused by a fluctuation in the rate of inflation (relative to the level of inflation), since the share of prices based on past information is relatively larger. However, this effect is twofold, because a higher share of backward looking firms also leads to higher inflation persistence, and therefore to smaller changes in inflation growth.

The relative weight on output gap fluctuations is increasing in σ and η , and given by $\lambda_y = (1/\alpha - \beta) (1 - \alpha) (\eta + \sigma) / \varepsilon$. These two parameters govern the wedge between marginal rate of substitution and marginal product of labour, which measures the level of inefficiency in the economy. The value of λ_y is also decreasing in α and ε , which in turn govern the weight of output gap fluctuations relative to inflation fluctuations. With the calibration given in Section 1.5.3, the term λ_{Δ} varies positively with the parameter ω . The relative weight on inflation growth strengthens as the value of ω is raised, since $\partial^2 \lambda_{\Delta} / \partial \omega^2 > 0$, although it should be noted that increasing inflation persistence also implies a decreasing value of squared inflation growth deviation.

As long as β approaches 1, the average welfare loss can be written as the unconditional expected average welfare loss

$$\Omega_0 = \Theta \left[var \left\{ \pi \right\} + \lambda_\Delta var \left\{ \Delta \pi \right\} + \lambda_y var \left\{ \tilde{y} \right\} \right]. \tag{1.50}$$

The traditional loss function can be found as a special case of (1.50) by imposing $\omega = 0$, which leads to $\lambda_{\Delta} = 0$. This loss function corresponds the one derived by Woodford (2003) or Galí (2008), formally

$$\Omega_0 = \Theta \left[var\left\{\pi\right\} + \lambda_y var\left\{\tilde{y}\right\} \right]. \tag{1.51}$$

In the literature, most contributions opt for this more conservative loss function, even when (1.50) would possibly be the most suitable one, *i.e.*, when the model actually presents backward looking components (see, *e.g.*, Clarida, Galí and Gertler, 1999).

In the next section, I compare the social welfare loss obtained using the Hamiltonian approach from Section 1.6.1 with that resulting from the generalised loss function (1.50).

1.6.3 Welfare Measure

The welfare loss can be rewritten in terms of a compensating differential, a measure of how much households should be compensated in order to neutralise the welfare loss. To calculate the compensating differential between two regimes, I use the definition of welfare given in (1.38). In this paper, the compensating differential is calculated as a difference between the welfare obtained using the analysed monetary policy rule and the steady state value.

Generally it holds that the analysed rule generates welfare

$$\Omega = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t U\left(C_t, N_t\right),$$

which is compared with the benchmark welfare

$$\Omega^* = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t U\left(C_t^*, N_t^*\right).$$

I am looking for a consumption compensating differential ζ that equates welfare Ω to its analogous Ω^* . Formally

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} U(C_{t}, N_{t}) = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} U((1-\zeta) C_{t}^{*}, N_{t}^{*}).$$

Putting the specific utility function (1.28), welfare reads

$$\Omega = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\frac{\left(\left(1-\zeta \right) C_t^* \right)^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{N_t^{*1+\eta}}{1+\eta} \right],$$

which can be expressed as

$$\Omega = \Omega^* + \left((1 - \zeta)^{1 - \sigma} - 1 \right) \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \frac{C_t^{*1 - \sigma}}{1 - \sigma}.$$

Solving for the compensating differential, and using the term $\Omega_C = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \frac{C_t^{*1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma}$ as the welfare following directly from consumption, I obtain

$$\zeta = 1 - \left[\frac{\Omega - \Omega^*}{\Omega_C} + 1\right]^{\frac{1}{1 - \sigma}}$$

When compared to the steady state value, welfare is given by

$$ar{\Omega} = rac{1}{1-eta} U\left(ar{C},ar{N}
ight)$$

so that the compensating differential can be expressed similarly to the one obtained

by Leith, Moldovan, and Rossi (2012)

$$\zeta = 1 - \left(\frac{\Omega - \bar{\Omega}}{\bar{\Omega}_C} + 1\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}},$$

with $\bar{\Omega}_C = \frac{1}{1-\beta} \frac{\bar{C}^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma}$.

1.7 Analysis of Monetary Policy

The preceding sections outlined the demand side and the supply side of a model for a closed economy without any central bank intervention. In this section, I introduce four interest rate targeting rules in simple and optimal form: the Taylor rule and the forward looking Taylor rule, which targets both output and inflation in current and forward looking form, respectively. Furthermore, I analyse the pure inflation targeting rule, which neglects output and concentrates only on inflation, and finally the Taylor rule with an interest smoothing component. First, I assume the unique calibration for all rules given in Section 1.5.3, and focus only on different values for the parameter ω , since the goal of this exercise is to show the relevance of this parameter is for the model economy. Second, I examine the optimal form of all these rules. In the next section, I analyse the individual performance of these rules and their impact on social welfare in the presence of a TFP shock.

Taylor Rule

Generally, a short interest rate such as the federal funds rate in the US serves as the instrument in a Taylor rule (TR). According to this rule, the central bank adjusts the instrument in response to variations in inflation and output

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \varrho + \phi_\pi \pi_t + \phi_y \hat{y}_t. \tag{1.52}$$

The parameter ρ is described by McCallum (2002) as the equilibrium interest rate or equivalently, by Galí (2008), as the households' discount rate. The coefficients ϕ_{π} and ϕ_y are non-negative and determined by the central bank. They describe the strength of the interest rate $\hat{\imath}_t$ response to changes in inflation π_t and output $\hat{\jmath}_t$, respectively. According to this rule, if inflation or output increase, the interest rate should increase as well, resulting in a contractionary monetary policy. For the calibration, I let $\phi_{\pi} = 1.5$ and $\phi_y = 0.125$, which correspond to the values given by Taylor (1993).

Assuming that $\rho = \hat{r}_t^n$, the interest rate set by the central bank moves one to one with the natural rate of interest. The idea of having the natural rate of interest as part of the Taylor rule can be traced directly to Taylor (1999), who shows that the intercept in the model should equal the equilibrium real interest rate if targeted inflation is zero. This is desirable for all shocks which cause movements in natural rate of the economy, as in fact a TFP shock does. The TFP shock affects \hat{r}_t^n directly, and it is desirable that the interest rate follows the same path. Since a positive TFP shock increases the natural level of output, it follows that, if the policy maker aims at stabilising prices, aggregate output must be allowed to fluctuate. Under this assumption, the interest rate must decrease in response to temporary increases in productivity.⁵

⁵See Woodford (2003, p. 263) for a discussion on monetary policy in the presence of demand shocks.

Pure Inflation Targeting Rule

Consider the special case where $\phi_y = 0$ in (1.52). This is the pure inflation targeting rule (PITR)

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \varrho + \phi_\pi \pi_t. \tag{1.53}$$

PITR differs from a strict inflation targeting rule insofar as inflation is kept constant at its steady state level over time. It is worth noting that a strict rule can also target output, and the difference between strict and flexible targeting is simply reflected in the weights placed on the endogenous variables. Pure inflation targeting should then be understood as a rule where inflation is the only variable that the central bank targets (see, *e.g.*, Svensson (2010)).

Rule with Interest Rate Smoothing Component

Another version of a Taylor rule often used in the literature is interest rate smoothing rule (ISR), which takes the form

$$\hat{i}_t = \rho_i \hat{i}_{t-1} + \phi_\pi \pi_t + \phi_y \hat{y}_t.$$
(1.54)

The parameter ρ_i is the interest rate smoothing parameter, which prevents the interest rate from becoming a jump variable, and reflects the relative weight placed on interest rate smoothing. If $\rho_i > 1$, this rule is known in the literature as the *superinertial* rule, and Woodford (2003, ch. 4) shows that a unique equilibrium fulfilling the Blanchard-Kahn conditions simply requires that one of the remaining coefficients is positive. The calibrated value of this parameter, usually lies between zero and one in the literature. I calibrate the rule using $\rho_i = 0.5$.

Forward Looking Taylor Rule

The rule that most central banks follow, *e.g.*, the Bank of England or Bank of Sweden, is the forward looking Taylor rule (FLTR), which targets both the expected future inflation and the expected output gap

$$\hat{i}_{t} = \rho + \phi_{\pi} E_{t} \left[\pi_{t+1} \right] + \phi_{y} E_{t} \left[\hat{y}_{t+1} \right].$$
(1.55)

As shown in the Section 1.8, rule (1.55) delivers higher welfare losses in response to a TFP shock than the Taylor Rule.

Optimal Simple Targeting Rules

Rather than calibration, the parameters of the monetary policy rules can be chosen in such a way that the welfare loss function is minimised. In the context of this paper, a simple rule is considered to be optimal if it delivers a locally unique equilibrium. Overall, there are many values of the parameters available, which can be considered as locally optimal. Since I use two different software packages to analyse the two approaches (*i.e.*, I use Dynare for the traditional linear-quadratic approach, and ACES for the Hamiltonian approach), the results may differ depending on the starting values. Therefore, it is necessary to fix the starting points in a way that the local area for both programmes is identical, and the resulting optimised parameters are comparable with each other. Additionally, similar to Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007), I restrict the monetary rule parameters for output and inflation to the interval [-5, 5], and the interest rate smooth parameter to the interval [0, 1].⁶

 $^{^{6}}$ In fact, I extend the interval from Schmitt-Grohe and Uribe, who restrict their analysed policy rules to the interval [-3,3].

1.8 Results

In this section, I study the differences resulting from the welfare loss analysis of the traditional linear-quadratic approach and the Hamiltonian approach. In particular, I compare the welfare loss and the volatility of the endogenous variables included in the welfare loss function (1.50). The actual welfare loss is then measured in the form of a compensating differential from the steady state welfare. As discussed in Section 1.5.2, steady state welfare is independent of monetary policy. As the traditional linear-quadratic approach disregards any real or nominal distortion when computing the steady state, welfare always equals its maximum level, regardless of the share of backward looking firms ω . Conversely, the Hamiltonian approach entails that welfare varies with the parameter ω , since distortions are taken into account when looking at the steady state.

As Levine *et al.* (2007) emphasise, the welfare loss function resulting from the Hamiltonian approach is comparable with the one resulting from the traditional approach if certain conditions are fulfilled. In particular, they argue that "it should be stressed that this is only welfare based under the extreme restrictions that NKM has no capital, no habit, no indexing, has only one shock A_t and uses a separable utility [function]" (p. 24).

The model considered in this chapter fulfills all the above conditions, except for the assumption regarding price indexing. It is therefore appropriate to assume that the difference between these two approaches results from the different values of ω . As a matter of fact, when $\omega = 0$, the two approaches deliver identical dynamics for all endogenous variables. Table 1.4 reports the variances of inflation, change in inflation and output gap, and summarises the welfare losses obtained

Taylor rule	For linearised model			For Hamiltonian				
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.7859	0.7387	0.6919	0.5513	0.7859	0.7606	0.6934	0.5569
var(Δπ)	0.0786	0.0392	0.0233	0.0074	0.0786	0.0380	0.0232	0.0073
var(x)	0.0154	0.0278	0.0570	0.3553	0.0154	0.0269	0.0566	0.2481
Welfare	-4.7991%	-4.6686%	-4.4547%	-3.7674%	-5.1125%	-4.9099%	-4.5298%	-3.7188%
PITR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.1175	0.1094	0.1016	0.0789	0.1175	0.1015	0.1015	0.0763
var(Δπ)	0.0118	0.0059	0.0036	0.0012	0.0118	0.0053	0.0036	0.0011
var(x)	0.0023	0.0044	0.0096	0.0468	0.0023	0.0042	0.0095	0.0433
Welfare	-0.6966%	-0.6722%	-0.6377%	-0.5386%	-1.5123%	-1.4540%	-1.4184%	-1.2808%
ISR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.1561	0.1486	0.1422	0.1235	0.1561	0.1544	0.1424	0.1251
var(Δπ)	0.0224	0.0120	0.0077	0.0029	0.0224	0.0118	0.0077	0.0029
var(x)	0.0072	0.0179	0.0359	0.1477	0.0072	0.0176	0.0358	0.1458
Welfare	-0.9288%	-0.9371%	-0.9330%	-0.9282%	-1.7214%	-1.7352%	-1.6461%	-1.5643%
FLTR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.9773	0.8859	0.7963	0.5888	0.9773	0.9072	0.7979	0.6061
var(Δπ)	0.0977	0.0380	0.0201	0.0063	0.0977	0.0366	0.0201	0.0062
var(x)	0.0192	0.0164	0.0276	0.1797	0.0192	0.0157	0.0271	0.1753
Welfare	-6.0197%	-5.5892%	-5.0632%	-3.9077%	-6.1787%	-5.6796%	-5.0502%	-3.9111%

Table 1.4: Variances and welfare loss under simple policy rules.

using the calibrated model with simple monetary policy rules. The table shows that, when $\omega = 0$, the volatilities are equal for both approaches across all analysed rules. Furthermore, the welfare loss delivered by each simple monetary policy rule is always higher using the Hamiltonian approach. The reason is that the approximation of the welfare loss function in the traditional approach disregards some terms, including the terms independent of the policy.⁷ The Hamiltonian numerical approximation in this case is more precise. A closer look on the welfare loss also suggests that the difference between the traditional and the Hamiltonian welfare loss decreases with the value of ω .

⁷For a detailed discussion, see Appendix 1.C.



Figure 1.4: Impulse response functions under simple policy rules.

Using the Taylor rule, the welfare loss difference is more than 0.3 for $\omega = 0$. As the level of ω rise, the difference lowers, reaching a mere 0.05 when $\omega = 0.8$. The reason is that, although the inflation volatility increases marginally, the output gap variance is significantly lower using the Hamiltonian approach. Similar trends can be observed when using every simple rule.

Despite of the "horizontal" differences generated at different levels of the parameter ω , the welfare losses generated by the two approaches exhibit a clear pattern across the different rules. In the case of a TFP shock and under a common calibration, PITR performs best, closely followed by ISR. The Taylor rule and its forward looking equivalent perform alike, though producing a higher welfare loss. This corresponds to the results often discussed in the literature, according to which pure inflation targeting is the most appropriate simple rule.⁸

A visual representation of the impulse responses is given in Figure 1.4. Because of the similarities in the dynamic behavior generated by the two approaches, I only report the responses resulting from the traditional linear-quadratic approach.

The figure shows that a higher ω leads to a higher output gap volatility and lower inflation volatility, which require a weaker reaction from the central bank, in turn resulting in a lower volatility of the interest rate.

Using the optimal simple rules instead, the difference between the results generated by the two approaches is larger. Although variances are negligible and very close to zero for all the variables, and therefore the welfare loss generated by the traditional linear-quadratic approach converges zero, the Hamiltonian welfare loss is around 0.9 percent. Table 1.5 reports the variances and welfare losses for the optimal simple rules. For both approaches, welfare loss is very low and stable across the values of ω . The only exception is the optimised PITR that performs very badly in comparison to the other rules. This is due to the restricted value of parameter ϕ_{π} which is not high enough to achieve zero inflation volatility, similar to Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2007). In the case of no restrictions on ϕ_{π} , the optimal policy calls for setting the inflation coefficient ϕ_{π} to be very high. With a high enough value for this parameter, this rule performs similarly to the others resulting in negligible welfare losses.

Under the stated restrictions on ϕ_{π} , the optimal rules that target aggregate output perform better than PITR. For all these rules, the optimised parameter ϕ_y

⁸See, *e.g.*, Galí and Monacelli (2005).

Taylor rule		For linearise	ed model			For Ham	iltonian	
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
var(Δπ)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
var(x)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0002
Welfare	0.0000%	0.0000%	0.0000%	0.0000%	-0.8979%	-0.8980%	-0.8993%	-0.9062%
PITR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.0022	0.0021	0.0021	0.0018	0.0022	0.0020	0.0021	0.0018
var(Δπ)	0.0002	0.0001	0.0001	0.0001	0.0002	0.0002	0.0001	0.0001
var(x)	0.0000	0.0002	0.0006	0.0039	0.0000	0.0003	0.0006	0.0039
Welfare	-0.0132%	-0.0133%	-0.0135%	-0.0153%	-0.9097%	-0.9103%	-0.9098%	-0.9144%
ISR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001	0.0000	0.0000
var(Δπ)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001	0.0001	0.0000	0.0000
var(x)	0.0001	0.0002	0.0003	0.0006	0.0001	0.0005	0.0004	0.0007
Welfare	-0.0002%	-0.0002%	-0.0002%	-0.0003%	-0.8982%	-0.8982%	-0.8996%	-0.9064%
FLTR								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
var(π)	0.0017	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0017	0.0001	0.0000	0.0000
var(Δπ)	0.0002	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0002	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
var(x)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001
Welfare	-0.0098%	0.0000%	0.0000%	0.0000%	-0.8968%	-0.8982%	-0.8993%	-0.9062%

Table 1.5: Variances and welfare loss under optimal policy rules.

is slightly negative. In the presence of a TFP shock, output increases one to one with its natural level so that the output gap is low and inflation decreases. When the central bank targets inflation, it decreases the interest rate in order to push inflation back to its equilibrium. A decrease in inflation causes a further increase in output. A positive and high coefficient on inflation ensures that inflation volatility is minimised. Therefore, should the inflation coefficient be allowed to take (unreasonably) high values, the PITR would perform better than any other rule.

It should be emphasised that targeting output with a positive coefficient ϕ_y pushes output back to its equilibrium and increases the output gap. As a result, output gap volatility in Table 1.4 and Figure 1.4 increases. Conversely, a negative

coefficient on output implies that the output deviates less from its natural level, leading to a lower welfare loss. From the variance analysis, it follows that, as the share of backward looking firms increases, inflation variance decreases and output gap variance increases. Increasing the parameter ω causes higher inflation persistence, hence the central bank find it easier to control inflation volatility. However, this fact is offset by the higher volatility of output gap.

The optimised simple rule coefficients for both the linearised approach, using Dynare, and the Hamiltonian approach, using ACES, are shown in Table 1.6 of Appendix 1.D. The two software packages allow for different magnitude of deviations from the steady state (ACES allowing for the largest) and Dynare does not allow for parameter restriction (while ACES does). For these reasons, I chose for the linearised approach to use ACES results as the starting values. From Table 1.6, it follows that the two approaches deliver similar values for the optimal parameters. Because the TFP shock belongs to the group of efficient shocks, which can be offset by an appropriate policy of the social planner, the welfare loss values by optimal rules are practically zero if the coefficients are close to the reported values.⁹

1.9 Concluding Remarks

This chapter has investigated whether trend inflation might be the endogenous outcome of a deliberate choice by a social planner, who aims at minimising welfare losses around a non efficient steady state. In particular, I have founded my analysis

⁹Similarly, a preference shock can be considered an efficient shock. Conversely, the cost push shock belongs to the group of inefficient shocks and cannot be fully accommodated by the social planner. For further detail, see, e.g.,

on a model that considers backward looking as well as forward looking agents, and investigated the issue under a number of different monetary policy rules. I have first characterised the steady state of the economy in a deterministic environment, and then I have extended the model to consider a stochastic environment, where the source of uncertainty has been represented by a shock hitting firms' TFP. I have derived the welfare loss function around the steady state following two approaches: the traditional linear-quadratic approach and the Hamiltonian approach. The two approaches differ in that, while the former assumes an efficient steady state with zero inflation, the latter relaxes these assumptions allowing for nominal and real distortions in the steady state. Finally, I have compared the predictions of the resulting models, using a number of simple and optimal monetary policy rules.

Two innovative outcomes are worth noting. First, the welfare loss that a Hamiltonian social planner obtains in the steady state depends on the level of inflation. In particular, a positive (and sufficiently low) inflation may be beneficial for the economy, as the negative effect due to a rise in the price dispersion may be more than offset by the positive effect that nominal rigidities generate on labour supply. Second, the share of backward looking firms has an impact on the differential in welfare losses that obtains using the two approaches (with social welfare, by construction, always higher under the traditional approach). In particular, the higher this share, the narrower the difference between the predicted welfare levels. The reason is that the Hamiltonian planner is able to exploit the behaviour of the backward looking agents, and can thus increase inflation to improve welfare. This is an option that is not available under the traditional linear-quadratic approach.

The analysis has been conducted with reference to a stochastic environment

associated with a single shock to TFP. This is chosen to allow for a direct comparison between the welfare losses generated by a generalised version of the traditional linear-quadratic approach and by the alternative Hamiltonian approach, which is not feasible when more sources of uncertainty are considered. An obvious extension of the model would consider a cost push shock as an alternative to the stochastic TFP, as suggested by a strand of the literature (see, *e.g.*, Clarida, Galí and Gertler, 1999; and Steinsson, 2003). Another interesting extension, particularly when considering the findings by Bhattarai, Eggertsson and Schoenle (2014), would consider a demand shock. A preliminary study of this case, however, leads to results very similar to those discussed in this chapter, with the exception that inflation inertia appears to have a relatively higher impact on the dynamics of the endogenous variables. More generally, I believe that investigating monetary policy under different sources of uncertainty in the presence of a non-zero steady state inflation in presence of inflation inertia might represent a promising topic for further research.

Finally, the study conducted in this chapter has only considered a closed economy. Being a closed economy model, my framework mainly lends itself to the analysis of any country that could be considered as a large economy (in isolation or with trading partners regarded as small economies) in some particular context. One example of this model's application is featured in Chapter 2, where I consider Germany as a large economy and a number of Eastern European countries as small economies. My contribution there focuses on the empirical performance of the different rules. I leave the theoretical study of these issues to future investigation.

1.A Consumer Price Index

This appendix describes the derivation of household demand for individual goods, and the derivation of the price index. Firstly, I assume that the index of consumption goods takes the familiar Dixit–Stiglitz form

$$C_t = \left(\int_0^1 \left[C_t(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}.$$
(1.56)

The representative household maximises the composite consumption C_t by choosing $C_t(i)$, subject to the budget constraint

$$\int_{0}^{1} P_t(i) C_t(i) di = Z_t, \qquad (1.57)$$

taking the available amount of resources Z_t , which equals P_tC_t in (1.57), as given.

I can write the Lagrangian

$$L_C = \left(\int_0^1 \left[C_t(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}} - \Lambda_t \left(\int_0^1 P_t(i) C_t(i) di - Z_t\right).$$
(1.58)

The first-order conditions are

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial C_t(i)} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \left(\int_0^1 \left[C_t(i) \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} - 1} \frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon} \left[C_t(i) \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon} - 1} - \Lambda_t P_t(i) = 0 \quad (1.59)$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \Lambda_t} = \int_0^1 P_t(i) C_t(i) di - Z_t = 0. \quad (1.60)$$
I can eliminate the Lagrangian multiplier. From condition (1.59) I obtain

$$\Lambda_t P_t(i) = \left(\int_0^1 \left[C_t(i) \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} - 1} \left[C_t(i) \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon} - 1}.$$
 (1.61)

To get the value of Λ_t , multiply both sides by $C_t(i)$ and integrate over goods

$$\Lambda_t P_t(i) C_t(i) = \left[\int_0^1 \left(C_t(i) \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}} di \right]^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} - 1} \left(C_t(i) \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon}},$$

resulting in

$$\Lambda_t = \frac{\left[\int\limits_0^1 \left(C_t(i)\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}}{\int\limits_0^1 P_t(i) C_t(i) di} = \frac{C_t}{Z_t} \equiv \frac{1}{P_t}$$

Demand for Consumption Goods From (1.61), I also get the demand function for each good i

$$\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t} = \left[\int_0^1 \left(C_t(i)\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right]^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon-1}} \left(C_t(i)\right)^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} = \left(C_t C_t(i)\right)^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}},$$

which results to the demand for an individual consumption good (1.10)

$$C_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_t(i)}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} C_t.$$

Price Index By replacing $C_t(i)$ with the last expression in (1.56), I obtain an expression for the price index as a function of each good's price

$$C_t^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} = C_t^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} \left(\frac{1}{P_t}\right)^{1-\varepsilon} \int_0^1 P_t \left(i\right)^{1-\varepsilon} di,$$

which rearranging leads to a price index

$$P_t = \left[\int_0^1 \left(P_t(i)\right)^{1-\varepsilon} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
(1.62)

1.B Phillips Curve

The log-linearisation of the equations (1.16), (1.17) and (1.18) straightforwardly leads to

$$\hat{p}_t^f = \hat{j}_t - \hat{h}_t$$

with

$$\hat{j}_t = (1 - \alpha\beta) \left((1 - \sigma) \, \hat{y}_t + \widehat{mc}_t \right) + \alpha\beta \left(\varepsilon \pi_{t+1} + \hat{j}_{t+1} \right)$$

and

$$\hat{h}_{t} = (1 - \alpha\beta) \left((1 - \sigma) \, \hat{y}_{t} \right) + \alpha\beta \left((\varepsilon - 1) \, \pi_{t+1} + \hat{h}_{t+1} \right),$$

from which I can obtain the forward looking price in log-linear terms

$$\hat{p}_t^f = (1 - \alpha\beta)\,\widehat{mc}_t + \alpha\beta\pi_{t+1} + \alpha\beta\hat{p}_{t+1}^f.$$
(1.63)

The log-linearisation of (1.20), (1.22) and (1.25) yields

$$\hat{p}_t^b = \hat{x}_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1} - \pi_t, \tag{1.64}$$

together with

$$\hat{x}_t = (1 - \omega)\,\hat{p}_t^f + \omega\hat{p}_t^b,\tag{1.65}$$

and

$$\hat{x}_t = \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \pi_t. \tag{1.66}$$

Using last equation with (1.65) together with (1.64) and (1.63) and simplifying delivers the hybrid NKPC

$$\pi_{t} = \frac{\alpha\beta}{\alpha + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \left(1 - \beta\right)\right)} \pi_{t+1} + \frac{\omega}{\alpha + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \left(1 - \beta\right)\right)} \pi_{t-1} + \frac{\left(1 - \omega\right) \left(1 - \alpha\right) \left(1 - \alpha\beta\right)}{\alpha + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \left(1 - \beta\right)\right)} \widehat{mc}_{t}.$$

1.C Central Bank Loss Function

In this appendix I derive the central bank's objective function. The welfare criterion is the stream of expected representative household's utility, which the central bank is willing to maximise

$$\Omega = E_0 \left[\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t U_t \right]$$

with

$$U_t = \frac{Y_t^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{N_t^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta},$$

where in the second expression I use the fact that $Y_t = C_t$. The second-order Taylor series approximation of utility function yields¹⁰

$$\begin{split} U(C_t, N_t) &\approx \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{\bar{N}^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta} + \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \frac{Y_t - \bar{Y}}{\bar{Y}} - \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \frac{N_t - \bar{N}}{\bar{N}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left[-\sigma \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(\frac{Y_t - \bar{Y}}{\bar{Y}} \right)^2 - \eta \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \left(\frac{N_t - \bar{N}}{\bar{N}} \right)^2 \right]. \end{split}$$

So that the previous expression takes the following form

$$U(C_t, N_t) \approx \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{\bar{N}^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta} + \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(\tilde{y}_t + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{y}_t^2 \right) \\ - \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \left(\tilde{n}_t + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{n}_t^2 \right) - \frac{\sigma}{2} \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \tilde{y}_t^2 - \frac{\eta}{2} \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \tilde{n}_t^2$$

and thus

$$U_t - \bar{U} \approx \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(\tilde{y}_t + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{y}_t^2 \right) - \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \left(\tilde{n}_t + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{n}_t^2 \right) + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right),$$

where $\bar{U} = \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{\bar{N}^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta}$ and $o(\|a^n\|)$ represents terms of order n or higher.

Recall from Section (1.4.2), equation (1.26) that

$$N_t = \frac{Y_t}{A_t} Z_t,$$

¹⁰The formula for second-order Taylor approximation is given by

$$f(x_{t}, y_{t}) \approx f(X, Y) + f_{x}(X, Y)(x_{t} - X) + f_{y}(X, Y)(y_{t} - Y) + + f_{xy}(X, Y)(x_{t} - X)(y_{t} - Y) + \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} f_{xx}(X, Y)(x_{t} - X)^{2} + \\+ f_{yy}(X, Y)(y_{t} - Y)^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

log-linearised as

$$\hat{n}_t = \hat{y}_t + z_t,$$

where $z_t \equiv \log \int_0^1 (P_t(i)/P_t)^{-\varepsilon} di$, $\tilde{a}_t = \hat{z}_t = 0$. Hence, isolating the terms independent of policy

$$U_t - \bar{U} \approx \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(\tilde{y}_t + \frac{1-\sigma}{2} \tilde{y}_t^2 \right) - \bar{N}^{1+\eta} \left(\tilde{y}_t + z_t + \frac{1+\eta}{2} \tilde{y}_t^2 \right) + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right),$$

where t.i.p. abbreviates "terms independent of policy". Using the facts that, in a fully efficient equilibrium, the marginal product of labour $MPN = \frac{Y}{N}$ equals the marginal rate of substitution between consumption and labour, e.g., $MRS_{C,N} = \frac{U_N}{U_C} = \frac{N^{\eta}}{Y^{-\sigma}}$, I can write

$$U_t - \bar{U} \approx \bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(\frac{1-\sigma}{2} \hat{y}_t^2 - z_t - \frac{1+\eta}{2} \hat{y}_t^2 \right) + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right)$$
$$= -\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma} \left(z_t + \frac{\eta+\sigma}{2} \hat{y}_t^2 \right) + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right).$$

Recall that I have used the fact that z_t^2 is higher than second order, which is shown in what follows.

Let $\dot{p}_t(i) \equiv \log P_t(i) / P_t$, $\dot{p}(i) \equiv \log \bar{P}(i) / \bar{P} = 0$. Consider that

$$(P_t(i)/P_t)^{1-\varepsilon} = \exp\left[(1-\varepsilon)\dot{p}_t(i)\right]$$

 than

$$(P_t(i)/P_t)^{1-\varepsilon} = \exp\left[(1-\varepsilon)\dot{p}(i)\right] + (1-\varepsilon)\exp\left[(1-\varepsilon)\dot{p}(i)\right]\left[\dot{p}_t(i) - \dot{p}(i)\right] + (1-\varepsilon)^2\exp\left[(1-\varepsilon)\dot{p}(i)\right]\left[\dot{p}_t(i) - \dot{p}(i)\right]^2/2 + o\left(\left\|a^3\right\|\right)$$

$$(P_t(i)/P_t)^{1-\varepsilon} = 1 + (1-\varepsilon)\dot{p}_t(i) + (1-\varepsilon)^2 [\dot{p}_t(i)]^2/2 + o(||a^3||).$$

Integrate over i delivers

$$\frac{1}{(P_t)^{1-\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{1} (P_t(i))^{1-\varepsilon} di = 1 + (1-\varepsilon) \int_{0}^{1} \dot{p}_t(i) di + \frac{(1-\varepsilon)^2}{2} \int_{0}^{1} [\dot{p}_t(i)]^2 di.$$

Notice that, from the definition of price index, the LHS equals one, e.g.,

$$\frac{1}{\left(P_{t}\right)^{1-\varepsilon}}\int_{0}^{1}\left(P_{t}\left(i\right)\right)^{1-\varepsilon}di=1.$$
 Thus it holds

$$\int_{0}^{1} \dot{p}_{t}(i) \, di = \frac{\varepsilon - 1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left[\dot{p}_{t}(i) \right]^{2} di.$$

Furthermore, notice that, as firms are uniformly distributed between zero and one, I can write

$$E_{i}\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right] = \frac{\varepsilon - 1}{2} E_{i}\left[\left(\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right)^{2}\right].$$

Given that

$$E_{i} [(\dot{p}_{t}(i))^{2}] = E_{i} [(p_{t}(i) - p_{t})^{2}]$$

= $E_{i} [(p_{t}(i) - E_{i}(p_{t}(i)))^{2}]$
= $var_{i} \{p_{t}(i)\}.$ (1.67)

I obtain

$$E_i\left[\left(\frac{P_t\left(i\right)}{\left(P_t\right)}\right)^{1-\varepsilon}\right] = 1,$$

which implies that

$$E_i\left[\left(p_t\left(i\right)\right)^{1-\varepsilon}\right] = p_t^{1-\varepsilon}.$$

Note also that

$$\left(P_t\left(i\right)/P_t\right)^{-\varepsilon} = 1 - \varepsilon \dot{p}_t\left(i\right) + \varepsilon^2 \left[\dot{p}_t\left(i\right)\right]^2/2 + o\left(\left\|a^3\right\|\right).$$

Integrating over i and using the result of equation (1.67)

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \left(P_{t}\left(i\right)/P_{t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} di &= 1 - \varepsilon \int_{0}^{1} \dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right) di + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right]^{2} di + o\left(\left\|a^{3}\right\|\right) \\ &= 1 - \varepsilon E_{i}\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right] + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2} E_{i}\left\{\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right]^{2}\right\} + o\left(\left\|a^{3}\right\|\right) \\ &= 1 - \varepsilon \frac{\varepsilon - 1}{2} E_{i}\left\{\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right]^{2}\right\} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2} E_{i}\left\{\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right]^{2}\right\} + o\left(\left\|a^{3}\right\|\right) \\ &= 1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} E_{i}\left\{\left[\dot{p}_{t}\left(i\right)\right]^{2}\right\} + o\left(\left\|a^{3}\right\|\right) \\ &= 1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} var_{i}\left[p_{t}\left(i\right)\right] + o\left(\left\|a^{3}\right\|\right), \end{split}$$

which finally results in

$$z_{t} = \log \int_{0}^{1} \left(P_{t}\left(i\right) / P_{t} \right)^{-\varepsilon} di = \frac{\varepsilon}{2} var_{i} \left[p_{t}\left(i\right) \right] + o\left(\left\| a^{3} \right\| \right).$$

I have assumed that a fraction $1 - \alpha$ of the households in the economy are able to change their prices in each period. Consequently, the distribution of prices, $\{p_t(i)\}$, at time t consists of α times the distribution of prices at time t - 1; plus two atoms of size $(1 - \alpha)(1 - \omega)$ and $(1 - \alpha)\omega$ at the two new prices, p^f and p^b , respectively. Define

$$p_t \equiv E_i [p_t(i)] \text{ and } \Delta_t \equiv var_i [p_t(i)],$$

than using the recursive characterisation of the distribution of prices, I can write

$$p_{t} = \alpha E_{i} \left[p_{t-1} \left(i \right) \right] + (1 - \alpha) \left(1 - \omega \right) E_{i} p_{t}^{f} + (1 - \alpha) \omega E_{i} p_{t}^{b}.$$

Taking the one-lag time difference yields

$$p_{t} - p_{t-1} = \alpha E_{i} [p_{t-1} (i) - p_{t-1}] + (1 - \alpha) (1 - \omega) (p_{t}^{f} - p_{t-1}) + (1 - \alpha) \omega (p_{t}^{b} - p_{t-1}) = (1 - \alpha) (1 - \omega) (p_{t}^{f} - p_{t-1}) + (1 - \alpha) \omega (p_{t}^{b} - p_{t-1}) = (1 - \alpha) (x_{t} - p_{t-1})$$

and

$$x_t - p_{t-1} = \frac{p_t - p_{t-1}}{1 - \alpha} = \frac{\pi_t}{1 - \alpha}.$$

Similarly

$$\Delta_{t} \equiv var_{i} [p_{t} (i)] = var_{i} [p_{t} (i) - \mu_{t-1}]$$

= $E_{i} \left\{ [p_{t} (i) - \mu_{t-1}]^{2} \right\} - [E_{i}p_{t} (i) - \mu_{t-1}]^{2}.$

Again, using the recursive characterisation of the distribution of prices I can write

$$E_{i}\left\{\left[p_{t}\left(i\right)-p_{t-1}\right]^{2}\right\} = \alpha E_{i}\left\{\left[p_{t-1}\left(i\right)-p_{t-1}\right]^{2}\right\} + (1-\alpha)\left(1-\omega\right)\left(p_{t}^{f}-p_{t-1}\right)^{2} + (1-\alpha)\omega\left(p_{t}^{b}-p_{t-1}\right)^{2}.$$

Noting that

$$x_t = (1 - \omega) p_t^f + \omega p_t^b$$

and

$$p_t^b = x_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1},$$

I can further state that

$$p_t^b - p_{t-1} = x_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1} - p_{t-1}$$

= $x_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1} - p_{t-2} - (p_{t-1} - p_{t-2})$
= $x_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1} - p_{t-2} - \pi_{t-1}$
= $x_{t-1} - p_{t-2}$

and that

$$p_t^f - p_{t-1} = \frac{x_t}{1 - \omega} - \frac{\omega p_t^b}{1 - \omega} - p_{t-1}$$
$$= \frac{x_t - p_{t-1}}{1 - \omega} - \frac{\omega \left(p_t^b - p_{t-1}\right)}{1 - \omega}$$
$$= \frac{x_t - p_{t-1}}{1 - \omega} - \frac{\omega \left(x_{t-1} - p_{t-2}\right)}{1 - \omega}.$$

Hence

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha E_{i} \left\{ \left[p_{t-1}\left(i\right) - p_{t-1} \right]^{2} \right\} + (1 - \alpha) \left(1 - \omega\right) \left(\frac{x_{t} - p_{t-1}}{1 - \omega} - \frac{\omega \left(x_{t-1} - p_{t-2}\right)}{1 - \omega} \right)^{2} + (1 - \alpha) \omega \left(x_{t-1} - p_{t-2}\right)^{2} - \left[E_{i} p_{t}\left(i\right) - p_{t-1} \right]^{2}$$

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + (1-\alpha) \left(\frac{(x_{t} - p_{t-1})^{2}}{1-\omega} + \frac{\omega^{2} (x_{t-1} - p_{t-2})^{2}}{1-\omega} - \frac{2\omega (x_{t} - p_{t-1}) (x_{t-1} - p_{t-2})}{1-\omega} \right) + (1-\alpha) \omega (x_{t-1} - p_{t-2})^{2} - [p_{t} - p_{t-1}]^{2}$$

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + (1-\alpha) \left(\frac{\pi_{t}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)^{2} (1-\omega)} + \frac{\omega^{2} \pi_{t-1}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)^{2} (1-\omega)} - \frac{2\omega \pi_{t} \pi_{t-1}}{(1-\alpha)^{2} (1-\omega)} \right) + \frac{(1-\alpha) \omega \pi_{t-1}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)^{2}} - \pi_{t}^{2}$$

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + \frac{\pi_{t}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \frac{2\omega\pi_{t}\pi_{t-1}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} + \frac{\omega^{2}\pi_{t-1}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} + \frac{\omega\pi_{t-1}^{2}}{1-\alpha} - \pi_{t}^{2}$$

$$\begin{split} \Delta_t &= \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + \frac{\pi_t^2}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \frac{2\omega \pi_t \pi_{t-1}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \\ &+ \frac{\omega^2 \pi_{t-1}^2 + (1-\omega)\omega \pi_{t-1}^2}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \pi_t^2 \end{split}$$

Note that

$$\omega^2 \pi_{t-1}^2 + (1-\omega) \,\omega \pi_{t-1}^2 = \omega^2 \pi_{t-1}^2 + \omega \pi_{t-1}^2 - \omega^2 \pi_{t-1}^2 = \omega \pi_{t-1}^2,$$

 thus

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + \frac{\pi_{t}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \frac{2\omega\pi_{t}\pi_{t-1}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} + \frac{\omega\pi_{t-1}^{2}}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \pi_{t}^{2}.$$

Notice that

$$\frac{\pi_t^2}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} = \frac{\pi_t^2}{1-\alpha} + \frac{\omega\pi_t^2}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}$$

Hence

$$\Delta_t = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + \frac{\pi_t^2}{1-\alpha} + \frac{\omega \left(\pi_t^2 - 2\pi_t \pi_{t-1} + \pi_{t-1}^2\right)}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} - \pi_t^2$$

and

$$\Delta_t = \alpha \Delta_{t-1} + \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \pi_t^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_t^2.$$

Solving this expression forward

$$\Delta_{t-1} = \alpha \Delta_{t-2} + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t-1}^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t-1}^2$$
$$\Delta_{t-2} = \alpha \Delta_{t-3} + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t-2}^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t-2}^2$$

and replacing into the first expression delivers

$$\Delta_t = \alpha^2 \left(\alpha \Delta_{t-3} + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t-2}^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t-2}^2 \right) + \alpha \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t-1}^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t-1}^2 \right) + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_t^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_t^2$$

and

$$\Delta_t = \alpha^3 \Delta_{t-3} + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \left[\pi_t^2 + \alpha \pi_{t-1}^2 + \alpha^2 \pi_{t-2}^2 \right] + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \left[\Delta \pi_t^2 + \alpha \Delta \pi_{t-1}^2 + \alpha^2 \Delta \pi_{t-2}^2 \right].$$

Generalising to period t = -1

$$\Delta_{t} = \alpha^{t+1} \Delta_{-1} + \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \sum_{s=0}^{t} \alpha^{s} \pi_{t-s}^{2} + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \sum_{s=0}^{t} \alpha^{s} \Delta \pi_{t-s}^{2}.$$

Simplifying, and reverting the index

$$\Delta_t = \alpha^{t+1} \Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^t \alpha^{t-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_s^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_s^2 \right),$$

 thus

$$\Delta_t = \alpha^t \left[\alpha \Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^t \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_s^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_s^2 \right) \right].$$

Therefore, I have

$$z_{t} = \frac{\varepsilon}{2} var_{i} [p_{t}(i)] + o(\|a^{3}\|)$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \Delta_{t} + o(\|a^{3}\|)$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \alpha^{t} \left[\alpha \Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^{t} \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{s}^{2} + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{s}^{2} \right) \right] + o(\|a^{3}\|)$$

and

$$U_t - \bar{U} = -\frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} \left\{ \varepsilon \alpha^t \left[\alpha \Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^t \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_s^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_s^2 \right) \right] + (\eta + \sigma) \tilde{y}_t^2 \right\} + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right).$$

Finally, I get

$$\Omega_{0} = -\varepsilon \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} E \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} (\alpha \beta)^{t} \left[\alpha \Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^{t} \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{s}^{2} + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{s}^{2} \right) \right] - \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} E \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} (\eta + \sigma) \tilde{y}_{t}^{2} + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^{3} \right\| \right).$$

The first present value on the RHS of this equation is

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \Delta_t = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \left[\alpha\Delta_{-1} + \sum_{s=0}^t \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_s^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_s^2\right)\right].$$

Following Steinsson, assume that Δ_{-1} is a term independent on policy

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \Delta_t = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \left[(\alpha \beta)^t \sum_{s=0}^t \alpha^{-s} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_s^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_s^2 \right) \right] + t.i.p.$$

The first the on the RHS of this equation is, for t = 0

$$\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2,$$

for t = 1

$$(1+\alpha\beta)\left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2\right) + \beta\left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_1^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_1^2\right),$$

for t = 2

$$(1 + \alpha\beta + \alpha^2\beta^2) \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2\right) + (\beta + \alpha\beta^2) \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_1^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_1^2\right) + \beta^2 \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_2^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_2^2\right),$$

for t = 3

$$(1 + \alpha\beta + \alpha^2\beta^2 + \alpha^3\beta^3) \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2\right) + (\beta + \alpha\beta^2 + \alpha^2\beta^3) \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_1^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_1^2\right) + (\beta^2 + \alpha\beta^3) \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_2^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_2^2\right) + \beta^3 \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_3^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_3^2\right).$$

Generalising

$$\begin{split} \sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2\right) \\ &+ \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} \left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \beta \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_1^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_1^2\right) \\ &+ \sum_{t=0}^{T-2} \left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \beta^2 \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_2^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_2^2\right) \\ &+ \sum_{t=0}^{T-3} \left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \beta^3 \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_3^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_3^2\right) + \dots \end{split}$$

For $T \to \infty$ (and taking out from the sums the terms constant with respect to the

index t)

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_0^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_0^2\right)\sum_{t=0}^{\infty}\left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \\ &+\beta\left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_1^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_1^2\right)\sum_{t=0}^{\infty}\left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \\ &+\beta^2\left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_2^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_2^2\right)\sum_{t=0}^{\infty}\left(\alpha\beta\right)^t \\ &+\beta^3\left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}\pi_3^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)}\Delta\pi_3^2\right)\sum_{t=0}^{\infty}\left(\alpha\beta\right)^t + \dots \end{split}$$

Considering that $\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} (\alpha \beta)^t = (1 - \alpha \beta)^{-1}$, and generalising

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \Delta_t = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha \beta} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1 - \alpha)} \pi_t^2 + \frac{\omega}{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \omega)} \Delta \pi_t^2 \right) + t.i.p.$$

Plugging this back into the welfare loss function yields

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{0} &= -\frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\alpha\beta} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t}^{2} + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t}^{2} \right) \\ &- \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} \left(\eta + \sigma \right) \tilde{y}_{t}^{2} + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^{3} \right\| \right) \end{split}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\Omega_{0} = -\frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} \left\{ \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\alpha\beta} \left(\frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)} \pi_{t}^{2} + \frac{\omega}{(1-\alpha)(1-\omega)} \Delta \pi_{t}^{2} \right) + (\eta+\sigma) \tilde{y}_{t}^{2} \right\} + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^{3} \right\| \right).$$

Assuming that all firms are forward looking only, e.g., $\omega = 0$, I get a policy maker's objective function without backward looking component, which is identical

with those from Woodford (2003). More generally it holds that

$$\Omega_0 = -\Theta E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left(\pi_t^2 + \lambda_\Delta \Delta \pi_t^2 + \lambda_y \tilde{y}_t^2 \right) + t.i.p. + o\left(\left\| a^3 \right\| \right),$$
(1.68)

where $\Theta = \frac{\bar{Y}^{1-\sigma}}{2} \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\alpha\beta} \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)}$, $\lambda_y = \frac{1-\alpha\beta}{\varepsilon} \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} (\eta + \sigma)$ and $\lambda_\Delta = \frac{\omega}{\alpha(1-\omega)}$ are functions of the structural parameters of the model.

1.D Optimal Rules Coefficients

This appendix compares the optimised simple rules coefficients resulting from the traditional linearised approach and Hamiltonian approach, given various monetary policy rules and levels of parameter omega. The estimated optimal coefficients differ for two reasons: different methodologies and different algorithms.

The results in Table 1.6 for the linearised approach are obtained using the ACES results as the starting values. The reason is that the two software packages allow for different magnitude of deviations from the steady state (ACES allowing for the largest) and Dynare does not allow for parameter restriction (while ACES does), hence using the ACES results are stating values provides parameters estimates for the linearised approach that are comparable to those obtained by the Hamiltonian approach. In other words, using Dynare for the linear approach leads to very small (nearly zero) welfare losses in many local minima, with the end values always looking very close to the starting ones.

As Table 1.6 illustrates, there is virtually no difference between the two approaches when one considers optimal rules, at least as far as TFP shocks are concerned. Even when differences seem to arise (*i.e.*, when $\omega = 0.8$, in the optimal

TR optimal	Linearised				Hamiltonian			
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
φπ	1.014	5.000	5.000	4.463	1.014	5.000	5.000	5.000
фу	-0.075	-0.075	-0.075	-0.0750002	-0.075	-0.075	-0.075	-0.063
PITR optimal								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
φπ	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000
ISR optimal								
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
φπ	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000
фу	-0.037	-0.038	-0.039	-0.041	-0.021	0.002	-0.021	-0.034
ρί	0.517	0.516	0.515	0.511	0.699	0.870	0.680	0.400
FLTR optimal	•							
ω	0	0.3	0.5	0.8	0	0.3	0.5	0.8
φπ	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	5.000	2.976
фу	-0.015	-0.079	-0.079	-0.079	-0.005	-0.063	-0.075	-0.075

Table 1.6: Optimal rules coefficients for linearised and Hamiltonian approach.

Taylor rule and in the forward-looking Taylor rule), welfare that would obtain from one approach using the optimal coefficient of the other approach is only marginally different from the one reported in Table 1.6. Therefore, comparing the Hamiltonian approach with its traditional counterpart appears to make much more sense when simple rather than optimal rules are involved.

Chapter 2

Estimation of a Small New Keynesian Model with Trend Inflation for Eastern European Countries

2.1 Introduction

The Bayesian estimation of the DSGE models has recently attracted the attention of an increasing number of economists investigating whether the predictions of the DSGE models match the statistical properties of the empirical data, which are the transmission channels for the exogenous shocks, and what is the behaviour of the central bank. In this paper, I study the performance of a simple small open economy (SOE) model, and investigate the conduct of monetary policy in Eastern European countries.

There are two innovative aspects that I consider in this chapter. First, my analysis assesses to what extent the assumption of a zero steady state inflation influences the model's empirical fit, in order to sheds new light on the importance of introducing trend inflation into these type of models. Previous contributions mainly point out the importance of the trend inflation on theoretical grounds (e.q.)Ascari and Ropelle, 2007). Empirical estimations of models with trade inflation are rare in the literature. One of the few exceptions is by Cogley and Sbordone, 2008, who estimate the NKPC as a single equation with a time varying trend inflation. Unlike these authors, I focus on a more structured DSGE model in which the NKPC is embedded. I estimate the model using the Bayesian methodology. Second, in order to estimate the Phillips curve more accurately, I do not treat the marginal cost as a latent variable, as it is common in the Bayesian literature, but I use real unit labour cost data as a proxy for it. Using the resulting framework, I show that the backward looking component in the Phillips curve is important, and the model performs significantly better when accounting for non-zero steady state inflation.

Beside analysing how important the innovations on the supply side of the model are, my interest lies in estimation of a suitable monetary policy rule for both a large and a small economy. When considering SOE monetary policy, a number of theoretical contributions argue that PPI inflation targeting performs better than CPI inflation targeting in terms of welfare loss. Nonetheless, the empirical literature mainly concentrates on simple rules with CPI inflation targeting. Using a posterior odds test, I analyse whether the central banks of some selected Eastern European countries (EEC) systematically target CPI inflation rather than PPI inflation. My results suggest that this hypothesis is empirically rejected for all the investigated Eastern European countries.

Lastly, I analyse to what extent the central bank of a small Eastern European country, such as the Czech Republic, Hungary or Poland, responds to variations in the exchange rate. This question, originally posed by Lubik and Schorfheide (2007) with regard to Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the UK, is particularly interesting in the context of the emerging EEC, since these countries are potential candidates to join the Eurozone. The decision on whether to join the Eurozone may well be determined at least in part by the gains and losses these countries may face when abandoning a flexible exchange rate regime. I identify Germany as the large economy, since this country represents the largest trading partner of all of the selected EEC.¹ The results are mixed. I show that the Czech central bank is likely to target exchange rates, whereas its Hungarian and Polish counterparts are not.

The paper includes two large sections. Section 2.3 describes the theoretical model, which builds on the New Keynesian literature with non zero inflation trend such as Ascari and Ropele (2007). I generalise the model for a SOE and I introduce an incomplete pass-through and a home bias in the representation of consumer preferences. The reason is that, although it is still common in the New Keynesian literature to assume that the law of one price and the PPP hold, both assumptions strongly contradict the well-estiblished empirical evidence.

My results are discussed in Section 2.4, where I describe the Bayesian methodology adopted to estimate the structural parameters of the model, particularly

¹Germany attracts between 25 and 30 percent of the total exports from each of the EEC. The fact that this trade partnership is not reciprocal (less than 4 percent) allows me to conclude that Germany behaves as a large economy relative to the EEC.

those specifying the Phillips curve. This approach also allows me to analyse the implications of modifying the Phillips curve to account for a non-zero steady state inflation. For robustness, my findings are derived using different monetary policy rules. Among them, however, I show that a simple monetary policy rule capturing the essential features of the optimal one, as derived by, *e.g.*, Steinsson (2003), significantly improves the fit to the data.

2.2 Literature Review

The structure of the model closely relates to Galí and Monacelli (2005), Tuesta and Rabanal (2006) and De Paoli (2009). Furthermore, I add some assumptions to the model that are motivated by the empirical evidence. I assume incomplete pass-through following Monacelli (2003).² I also assume home bias in consumption, which leads to deviation from power purchasing parity. The intratemporal elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods differs from unity, allowing the SOE central bank to manipulate the terms of trade, which now relates to the relative domestic price. The reason for introducing these variations to the benchmark model is twofold. On the one hand, Devereux and Engel (2003) show that optimal monetary policy, in case of less than perfect (incomplete) pass-through of the exchange rate to the local currency prices, should involve some consideration of exchange rate volatility. On the other hand, although it is typically assumed in the literature that the elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods is one (as in, *e.g.*, Corsetti and Pesenti (2001), Devereux and Engel (2003), and Ob-

 $^{^{2}}$ We refer to this article for a discussion about the different strategies regarding the modeling of incomplete pass-through, and more generally about the differences between producer currency pricing and local currency pricing.

stfeld and Rogoff (2002)), empirical estimations suggest larger elasticities. Using this result, Sutherland (2006) argues that the central bank should add targeting of the exchange rate to monetary policy.

The supply side is characterised by a hybrid New Keynesian Phillips Curve, which is derived using a rule of thumb following Galí and Gertler (1999). A similar Phillips Curve specification is also used by Benigno and Lopez-Salido (2002), who analyse the effect of asymmetric supply shocks across countries within a monetary union. Additionally, I follow Ascari and Ropele (2007) and log-linearise this Phillips curve around a non-zero steady state, and show that this assumption improves the fit of the model significantly. The monetary policy is specified as by using different Taylor type rules for both, the closed and the open economy. The aim is twofold. First, different rules serve the robustness check for my results. However, I can also identify the best suitable monetary policy rule.

There is a large literature using Bayesian techniques to estimate monetary policy rules in DSGE models. The first important work in this field is Smets and Wouters (2003), who estimate structural parameters of a closed economy model using Euro Area data. This work has since been extended for the SOE model. Lubik and Schorfheide (2005) create a two symmetric country model and estimate it using U.S. and Euro Area data. Using a similar dataset, Tuesta and Rabanal (2006) estimate and compare models with complete and incomplete financial markets. In their later paper, Lubik and Schorfheide (2007) estimate how central banks in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and UK respond to exchange rate changes, estimating composite structural parameters. Similarly, Adolfson, Laséen, Lindé, and Villani (2008) and Liu (2006) investigate similar questions while assuming incomplete pass-through, using data for Sweden and New Zealand, respectively. Justiniano and Preston (2010) identify the optimal policy rule within a generalized class of Taylor-type rule, which they estimate using data from Australia, Canada and New Zealand. They show that these rules do not respond to the nominal exchange rates. Negro and Schorfheide (2009) also study the effect of changes in the monetary policy rule, using data for Chile.

The use of Bayesian techniques to estimate the NKPC have so far only yielded mixed results. Schorfheide (2008) reviews the identification and the estimates for the Phillips curve coefficients, obtained using U.S. data. He demonstrates how estimates of marginal costs treated as latent variables or measured in terms of an output gap vary widely with observable marginal costs, measured by unit labour costs. He concludes that the estimated values are more robust if marginal costs are explicitly included. Galí and Gertler (1999) estimate a NKPC with unit labour costs as a proxy for marginal costs as well as output gap, using the general method of moments (GMM). They show that using unit labor costs delivers better estimates than using the output gap. Similarly, Sbordone (2002) argues that estimating the NKPC with the output gap is successful as long as the output gap is a good measure of marginal costs and Cogley and Sbordone (2008) use this proxy to estimate the NKPC with time varying trend inflation.

The rest of the paper is organised as follows. In Section 2.3, I specify the model assuming two countries that may or may not differ in size. After describing the demand and supply side of the model in details, I specify the monetary policy rules as nominal interest rate rules for each country, and log-linearise the model around its non-zero inflation steady state. In Section 2.4, I describe the estimation methodology, the dataset, and the choice of prior. I also present the estimation results and the model fit following from the Bayesian estimation, and analyse the impulse responses. Section 2.5 concludes.

2.3 The Model

I first specify the model for two generic countries. The framework encapsulates both the scenario where there are two symmetric countries or where there are two countries that differ in size and openness. I then specify the model for a SOE, which interacts with a large economy. Section 2.3.1 describes in detail the household preferences, its optimisation problem as well as total and aggregate demand for both domestic and foreign country. Section 2.3.2 describes the supply side of the model. The whole model is log-linearised around its steady state in Section 2.3.3, and monetary policy rules in simple form are described in more detail in Section 2.3.4.

2.3.1 Demand Side

I consider two countries; country H, also called home or domestic country, and F, the foreign country. A continuum of agents of unit mass populate the world economy, where the population in the segment [0, n) belongs to country H and the population in the segment (n, 1] belongs to country F. Consumption C is a Dixit-Stiglitz aggregator of home and foreign goods. Home consumers preferences are represented by

$$C_t = \left[\gamma^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{H,t}\right)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} + (1-\gamma)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{F,t}\right)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}}\right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}$$
(2.1)

with the intratemporal elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods, θ , not necessary equal to one. Sutherland (2006) surveys the empirical literature and concludes that the majority of the empirical evidence suggests $\theta \in (5, 10)$.

The parameter γ introduces a home bias in consumption, and its value is given by

$$1 - \gamma = (1 - n)\lambda \quad \to \quad \gamma = 1 - (1 - n)\lambda, \tag{2.2}$$

where (1 - n) is the relative size of country F and $\lambda \in [0, 1)$ is the degree of openness of country H. If $\lambda = 0$, the domestic economy is autarkic and only domestic goods are consumed. Furthermore, as the size of the economy (n) increases, consumers buy relatively more domestic goods and imports become less relevant. Therefore, in a large economy, where $n \to 1$, people mainly consume domestically produced goods, whereas for a small open economy where $n \to 0$, international trade is more important. A small economy is also more strongly influenced by foreign innovations.

Similar preferences are specified for the foreign consumer:

$$C_{t}^{*} = \left[\left(\gamma^{*} \right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{H,t}^{*} \right)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} + \left(1 - \gamma^{*} \right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{F,t}^{*} \right)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} \right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where the parameter γ^* is determined by the size and openness of the foreign economy, that is

$$\gamma^* = n\lambda. \tag{2.4}$$

Note that the specifications of γ and γ^* imply that the power purchasing parity (PPP) does not hold in this model.

The sub-indices for domestic consumption of domestic (respectively, imported) goods $C_{H,t}$ (resp., $C_{F,t}$) are

$$C_{H,t} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{n} \left[C_{H,t}(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$$
(2.5)

$$C_{F,t} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{1-n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_{n}^{1} \left[C_{F,t}(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$$
(2.6)

Analogously, for foreign consumption $C^*_{H,t}$ (resp., $C^*_{F,t}$) it holds

$$C_{H,t}^{*} = \left(\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{n} \left[C_{H,t}^{*}(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$$
(2.7)

$$C_{F,t}^* = \left(\left(\frac{1}{1-n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_{n}^{1} \left[C_{F,t}^*(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where $C_{H,t}$ is the home consumption of domestically produced goods and $C_{F,t}$ is the home consumption of imported goods. Analogously, $C_{H,t}^*$ is foreign consumption of domestic exports (goods produced in the home country) and $C_{F,t}^*$ is foreign consumption of goods produced abroad. Finally, $C_t(i)$ is the total consumption of a generic good (i).³ The parameter ε is the elasticity of substitution between the differentiated goods produced in one country and holds unchanged across countries.

I assume that the consumption choices of all households from one country are identical. From the consumption maximisation problem of the representative domestic household, I obtain the domestic demand function for a domestic good

³Generally, starred variables are expressed in foreign currency, unstarred in domestic currency. However, this rule does not apply to consumption, which is expressed in real terms: in this case, it is only used to distinguish between consumption at home and abroad.

 $C_{H,t}(i)$ and foreign good $C_{F,t}(i)$ as follows

$$C_{H,t}(i) = \frac{1}{n} C_{H,t} \left(\frac{P_{H,t}(i)}{P_{H,t}} \right)^{-\varepsilon}, \quad C_{F,t}(i) = \frac{1}{1-n} C_{F,t} \left(\frac{P_{F,t}(i)}{P_{F,t}} \right)^{-\varepsilon}.$$
 (2.9)

Analogously, it holds that the foreign demand for a domestic good $C^*_{H,t}(i)$ and for a foreign good $C^*_{F,t}(i)$ are respectively given by

$$C_{H,t}^{*}(i) = \frac{1}{n} C_{H,t}^{*} \left(\frac{P_{H,t}^{*}(i)}{P_{H,t}^{*}} \right)^{-\varepsilon}, \quad C_{F,t}^{*}(i) = \frac{1}{1-n} C_{F,t}^{*} \left(\frac{P_{F,t}^{*}(i)}{P_{F,t}^{*}} \right)^{-\varepsilon}.$$
 (2.10)

The aggregate domestic demand for domestic good and for foreign goods (imports) can be written in terms of aggregate world consumption

$$C_{H,t} = \gamma C_t \left(\frac{P_{H,t}}{P_t}\right)^{-\theta}, \quad C_{F,t} = (1-\gamma) C_t \left(\frac{P_{F,t}}{P_t}\right)^{-\theta}, \quad (2.11)$$

and the aggregate foreign demand function for domestic goods (in other words, exports from the point of view of the home country) and for goods produced abroad can be written as

$$C_{H,t}^* = \gamma^* C_t^* \left(\frac{P_{H,t}^*}{P_t^*}\right)^{-\theta}, \quad C_{F,t}^* = (1 - \gamma^*) C_t^* \left(\frac{P_{F,t}^*}{P_t^*}\right)^{-\theta}.$$
 (2.12)

By manipulation of the demand functions, the consumption-based price indices for domestic and foreign country can be expressed respectively as

$$P_{t} = \left[\gamma \left(P_{H,t}\right)^{1-\theta} + (1-\gamma) \left(P_{F,t}\right)^{1-\theta}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}, \qquad (2.13)$$

$$P_t^* = \left[\gamma^* \left(P_{H,t}^*\right)^{1-\theta} + (1-\gamma^*) \left(P_{F,t}^*\right)^{1-\theta}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}.$$
 (2.14)

The price sub-index $P_{z,t}$ $(P_{z,t}^*)$ for goods produced in country $z \in \{H, F\}$ can be expressed in the domestic (foreign) currency as

$$P_{H,t} = \left(\frac{1}{n} \int_{0}^{n} [P_{H,t}(i)]^{1-\varepsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}, \quad P_{F,t} = \left(\frac{1}{1-n} \int_{n}^{1} [P_{F,t}(i)]^{1-\varepsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}} (2.15)$$

$$P_{H,t}^{*} = \left(\frac{1}{n} \int_{0}^{n} \left[P_{H,t}^{*}(i)\right]^{1-\varepsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}, \quad P_{F,t}^{*} = \left(\frac{1}{1-n} \int_{n}^{1} \left[P_{F,t}^{*}(i)\right]^{1-\varepsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}} (2.16)$$

with the producer price index of the domestically produced goods $P_{H,t}$ and the importer price index for the goods from foreign country $P_{F,t}$ both expressed in the domestic currency. Analogously, $P_{F,t}^*$ ($P_{H,t}^*$) is the producer price index in foreign country (price of the imported goods from the point of view of consumers abroad) in foreign currency.

The Law of one Price and the Real Exchange Rate

There is strong empirical evidence that the law of one price (LOP) does not hold, which could be because of different producer pricing or because importers face monopolistic competition similar to producers and therefore charge a mark-up over their price. Hence, it is very common in New Open Economy Macroeconomic Models (NOEM) to assume incomplete pass-through. In this paper I follow Monacelli (2003) and assume that the law of one price holds when the goods arrive "at the dock", but setting the price in domestic currency causes a deviation from the LOP. This is explained in more detail in Section 2.3.2, where it is shown that the domestic retailers set the price of the imported good in monopolistic competition. The LOP gap is defined as

$$\Psi_t = S_t \frac{P_{F,t}^*}{P_{F,t}},\tag{2.17}$$

where the nominal exchange rate S_t denotes the price of the foreign currency in terms of the domestic currency.⁴ Additionally, given the different degrees of home bias in consumption between the two countries, *i.e.* $\gamma \neq \gamma^*$, it follows from equation (2.13) that the PPP does not hold, and the CPI in each country differs, formally

$$P_t \neq S_t P_t^*.$$

Hence, the real exchange rate differs from one, and I can express it as the price of foreign goods in term of domestic goods

$$RS_t = \frac{S_t P_t^*}{P_t}.$$
(2.18)

Note that a decrease in the nominal exchange rate S_t and analogously, *ceteris* paribus, in the real exchange RS_t implies an appreciation of the domestic currency.

The terms of trade, which is given by a ratio between importer and domestic producer prices is also expressed in terms of relative prices

$$TOT_t = \frac{P_{F,t}}{P_{H,t}} = \frac{\tilde{P}_{F,t}}{\tilde{P}_{H,t}},$$
(2.19)

where $\tilde{P}_{F,t} = P_{F,t}/P_t$ and $\tilde{P}_{H,t} = P_{H,t}/P_t$. Combining the last equation with equation (2.13) shows that the relative domestic price can be easily expressed as

 $^{^{4}}$ Note however that for the domestic price, from the point of view of domestic producer, the law of one price holds, because he gets the price "at the dock".

a function of the terms of trade

$$\tilde{P}_{H,t} = \left[\gamma + (1-\gamma) \left(TOT_t\right)^{1-\theta}\right]^{-\frac{1}{1-\theta}}.$$

The relationship between domestic and CPI inflation is given by the relationship between domestic relative prices of the current and past period

$$\frac{\Pi_{H,t}}{\Pi_t} = \frac{\tilde{P}_{H,t}}{\tilde{P}_{H,t-1}}.$$
(2.20)

and the relationship between imported and CPI inflation can be expressed as the relationship between relative prices of the imports in domestic currency of the current and past period

$$\frac{\Pi_{F,t}}{\Pi_t} = \frac{P_{F,t}}{\tilde{P}_{F,t-1}}.$$
(2.21)

The Household Optimisation Problem

Both domestic and foreign economies consist of a continuum of identically infinitelived agents. The preferences of the domestic representative agent is given by the instantaneous utility function of the same form as in Chapter 1

$$U_t(C,N) = \frac{\varepsilon_t C_t^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \frac{N_t^{1+\eta}}{1+\eta},$$
(2.22)

where the function (U) is separable in consumption (C) and working hours (N), so that $U_{C,N} = 0$, and where the preference shock ε_t affects the rate of intertemporal substitution in consumption for domestic households, similar to the one in Tuesta and Rabanal (2006). The utility function is also time-separable and the parameters σ and η are both positive CRRA (constant relative risk aversion) parameters determining the elasticity of substitution.

The representative agent maximises its discounted stream of instantaneous utility functions over current and future periods

$$U = E_t \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[U_t \left(C, N \right) \right],$$
 (2.23)

where $\beta \in (0, 1]$ is the subjective discount factor, by choosing $\{C_t, N_t\}_{t=0}^{\infty}$. She also holds international bonds B_t denominated in the national currency which yields a gross return of R_t at the end of the period.

Her budget constraint, is given by

$$B_t + W_t N_t + T_t + D_t \ge P_t C_t + E_t \left[Q_{t,t+1} B_{t+1} \right].$$
(2.24)

Note that

$$P_{t}C_{t} = \int_{0}^{n} P_{H}(i) C_{H}(i) di + \int_{n}^{1} P_{F}(i) C_{F}(i) di,$$

where $C_H(i)$ ($C_F(i)$) is consumption of domestic (foreign) good *i*, given its price $P_H(i)$ ($P_F(i)$), and P_t is the overall consumer price index. Notice also that the agent consumes all goods at any time *t*. The nominal bonds denominated in domestic currency at the end of the period *t* are denoted by B_t .⁵ W_t is the nominal wage, and T_t and D_t are the lump sum transfer and the profits of the companies held by the household, respectively. $E_t[Q_{t,t+1}]$ is the dynamic stochastic discount

⁵It holds that $B_t + B_t^* = 0$, so the world-wide stock of international bonds equal zero for all periods.

factor between period t and t + 1, for which it holds

$$E_t\left[Q_{t,t+1}\right] = \frac{1}{R_t},$$

where R_t is the gross return on a riskless one year nominal bond, with a yield assumed to be small. Furthermore, for sufficiently small values of i_t , it holds that $\log(R_t) \approx i_t$, where i_t is the riskless short term nominal interest rate.

From the first order condition of the maximisation problem of the domestic representative household, I obtain the Euler equation for the domestic economy

$$E_t\left(\left[\frac{C_t}{C_{t+1}}\right]^{-\sigma}\Pi_{t+1}\frac{\varepsilon_t}{\varepsilon_{t+1}}\right) = \beta R_t$$
(2.25)

with domestic CPI inflation given by $\Pi_{t+1} = P_{t+1}/P_t$. Following Steinbach *et al.* (2009), the expression $\varepsilon_{t+1}/\varepsilon_t$ can be also interpreted as a risk premium on asset holding, *i.e.*, the wedge between the interest rate set by central bank and the actual return on assets. The domestic households labour supply is given by

$$\tilde{W}_t = \frac{N_t^{\eta}}{C_t^{-\sigma}},\tag{2.26}$$

where \tilde{W}_t is the real domestic wage. I assume that labour is immobile across countries. Assuming that the foreign household faces the same maximisation problem, the Euler equation and the labour supply for a foreign economy are derived analogously.

The Asset Market Structure

In my model, I ignore the transaction costs and assume that financial markets are such that consumers from either country have access to both domestic and foreign bonds. The market price of a domestic riskless bond equals the expected nominal return of the bond, and is given by $1/R_t = E_t [Q_{t,t+1}]$. Similarly for a foreign bond expressed in domestic currency, it holds that $S_t/(R_t^*) = E_t [S_{t+1}Q_{t,t+1}]$. With no possibility of arbitrage, the expected returns of these two bonds must be equal, and the two equations can be combined. Therefore, the uncovered interested parity holds and is expressed as

$$E_t\left[Q_{t,t+1}\left\{R_t - \frac{R_t^* S_{t+1}}{S_t}\right\}\right] = 0,$$

where S_t is the nominal exchange rate, expressed as the price of foreign currency in terms of domestic currency. Using the last equation together with (2.18), the uncovered interest parity equation can be written as the expected change in the real exchange rate RS_t and the ratio between domestic and foreign real interest rate

$$\frac{R_t}{R_t^*} E_t \left[\frac{\Pi_{t+1}^*}{\Pi_{t+1}} \right] = E_t \left[\frac{RS_{t+1}}{RS_t} \right].$$
(2.27)

Under the assumption of complete securities markets with no uncertainty, consumption risk is perfectly shared and the stochastic discount factor, expressed in the same currency, is equal across the countries. Using the Euler equation (2.25) and its equivalent for the foreign country, and recalling that the constant subjective discount factor β is shared by both countries, delivers

$$E_t \left[\frac{\varepsilon_t}{\varepsilon_{t+1}} \left(\frac{C_t}{C_{t+1}} \right)^{-\sigma} \frac{S_t}{S_{t+1}} \Pi_{t+1} \right] = E_t \left[\frac{\varepsilon_t^*}{\varepsilon_{t+1}^*} \left(\frac{C_t^*}{C_{t+1}^*} \right)^{-\sigma} \Pi_{t+1}^* \right].$$
(2.28)

Using again equation (2.18), (2.28) can be rewritten as a function of the real exchange rate

$$E_t \left[\frac{RS_{t+1}}{RS_t} \right] = \frac{E_t \left[\left(\frac{C_{t+1}^*}{C_{t+1}} \right)^{-\sigma} \frac{\varepsilon_{t+1}^*}{\varepsilon_{t+1}} \right]}{\left(\frac{C_t^*}{C_t} \right)^{-\sigma} \frac{\varepsilon_t^*}{\varepsilon_t}}$$

Given the fact that this equation holds in all periods t, including the steady state condition of zero net foreign assets and the ex-ante identical environment, I obtain the optimal risk sharing, under complete financial markets

$$RS_t = \kappa_c \left(\frac{C_t^*}{C_t}\right)^{-\sigma} \frac{\varepsilon_t^*}{\varepsilon_t}$$

The constant κ_c is determined by the initial market equilibrium for statecontingent bonds, which reflects the initial wealth differences. Without loss of generality, following Galí and Monacelli (2005), I can assume that the initial distribution of wealth is such that $\kappa_c = 1$ and the risk sharing equation can be written analogously to the one in Tuesta and Rabanal (2006)⁶

$$RS_t = \left(\frac{C_t^*}{C_t}\right)^{-\sigma} \frac{\varepsilon_t^*}{\varepsilon_t}.$$
(2.29)

This equation reflects the fact that if power purchasing parity (PPP) holds, *e.g.*, $RS_t = 1$, the marginal utility of consumption, *i.e.* the consumption level is equal across the countries. However, deviations from PPP imply different consumption levels across the two countries caused by the changes in the real exchange rate. Hence, the ratio of marginal utilities across the two countries is equal to the ratio of aggregate prices denote here by the real exchange rate.

 $^{^6{\}rm This}$ result holds in the case of symmetric perfect for esight steady state and symmetric initial relative net as set position. Further details in Section 1.5.2 .

Aggregate Demand for Domestic and Foreign Goods

The total demand for a domestically produced good i consists of the weighted average of n domestic and (1 - n) foreign demand

$$Y_t(i) = nC_{H,t}(i) + (1-n)C_{H,t}^*(i).$$

Using (2.9) and (2.11) together with (2.10) and (2.12), it is possible to express the demand for good i in terms of price dispersion and the real exchange rate, where the prices are expressed in domestic currency

$$Y_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_{H,t}(i)}{P_{H,t}}\right)^{-\varepsilon} \left(\tilde{P}_{H,t}\right)^{-\theta} \left[\gamma C_t + \frac{1-n}{n}\gamma^* C_t^* \left(RS_t\right)^{\theta}\right].$$
 (2.30)

Thus, an appreciation of the currency leads to a decrease in output of domestic good i, $Y_t(i)$. Furthermore, the aggregate demand for domestic output can be written as a sum of the amounts produced domestically of good i

$$Y_t = \left(\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{n} \left[Y_t(i)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$$

Plugging this into equation (2.30) together with (2.15), the aggregate demand in the domestic country yields

$$Y_t = \left(\tilde{P}_{H,t}\right)^{-\theta} \left[\gamma C_t + \frac{1-n}{n} \gamma^* C_t^* \left(RS_t\right)^{\theta}\right], \qquad (2.31)$$

hence the demand for a home-produced good is inversely related to an appreciation of the exchange rate. The reason is that foreign consumption decreases in terms of the home currency. Therefore, the degree to which appreciation influences the domestic production of good i depends on size of the foreign economy and its (domestic) openness as much as of the price dispersion given by the elasticities of substitutions. The higher the elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods, the more sensitive the output of the domestic economy to the changes in the currency.

Combining (2.30) and (2.31), the total demand for good i, written in terms of domestic aggregate output is

$$Y_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_{H,t}(i)}{P_{H,t}}\right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_t, \qquad (2.32)$$

which depends directly on the aggregate domestic output, the price of good i relative to the overall domestic price level, as well as the elasticity of substitution between domestic goods.

Analogously, the total demand for a foreign produced good i is

$$Y_{t}^{*}(i) = nC_{F,t}(i) + (1-n)C_{F,t}^{*}(i)$$

and can be rewritten as

$$Y_{t}^{*}(i) = \left(\frac{P_{F,t}^{*}(i)}{P_{F,t}^{*}}\right)^{-\varepsilon} \left(\tilde{P}_{F,t}^{*}\right)^{-\theta} \left[\frac{n}{1-n}\left(1-\gamma\right)C_{t}\left(RS_{t}\right)^{-\theta} + \left(1-\gamma^{*}\right)C_{t}^{*}\right], \quad (2.33)$$

where $\tilde{P}_{F,t}^* = P_{F,t}^*/P_t^*$ is the relative foreign producer price index expressed in foreign currency.

The aggregate demand for foreign output can be written as a sum of the foreign
production of all goods

$$Y_t^* = \left(\left(\frac{1}{1-n}\right)^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}} \int_n^1 \left[Y_t^*\left(i\right)\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di \right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}.$$

Using (2.33) together with (2.16), the aggregate demand for foreign output is given by

$$Y_t^* = \left(\tilde{P}_{F,t}^*\right)^{-\theta} \left[\frac{n}{1-n} \left(1-\gamma\right) C_t \left(RS_t\right)^{-\theta} + \left(1-\gamma^*\right) C_t^*\right].$$
 (2.34)

Thus, combining (2.33) and (2.34), I obtain total demand for the foreign good i in terms of foreign aggregate output

$$Y_t^*(i) = \left(\tilde{P}_{F,t}^*\right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_t^*, \qquad (2.35)$$

•

Large Economy versus Small Open Economy

I can rewrite the key equations by assuming that the size of the foreign economy (domestic) market is sufficiently large that it is hardly influenced by the SOE. In this sense, analogous to Galí and Monacelli (2005), the large economy behaves as if it is autarkic and its associated economic variables are exogenous from the point of view of the SOE. Using the definition (2.2) and (2.4), and assuming that the domestic economy is small, *i.e.*, $n \rightarrow 0$, the aggregate consumption of domestic and foreign goods given by (2.1) and (2.3) becomes

$$C_{t} = \left[\left(1 - \lambda\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{H,t}\right)^{\frac{\theta - 1}{\theta}} + \lambda^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(C_{F,t}\right)^{\frac{\theta - 1}{\theta}} \right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta - 1}}$$

For the foreign large economy, defined as the rest of the world, the quantity of imports from the SOE are so marginal that I can assume

$$C_t^* = C_{F,t}^*.$$

Given (2.13), the relative domestic price index equation yields

$$P_{t} = \left[(1 - \lambda) (P_{H,t})^{1-\theta} + \lambda (P_{F,t})^{1-\theta} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}.$$
 (2.36)

Note that for the foreign large economy there is no dispersion between producer and consumer price index, formally

$$P_t^* = P_{F,t}^*. (2.37)$$

and it follows from equation (2.34) that the aggregate demand for goods produced in large foreign economy is given as $Y_t^* = C_t^*$.

Thus, the LOP gap (2.17) can be written in terms of real exchange rate and the terms of trade

$$\Psi_t = \frac{RS_t}{\tilde{P}_{F,t}}.$$
(2.38)

The total demand for a generic domestic good i given (2.30)

$$Y_t(i) = \left(\frac{P_{H,t}(i)}{P_{H,t}}\right)^{-\varepsilon} \left(\tilde{P}_{H,t}\right)^{-\theta} C_t \left[1 - \lambda + \lambda R S_t^{\theta - \frac{1}{\sigma}}\right]$$
(2.39)

depends on the openness of the domestic economy λ , the price dispersion between domestic producer and consumer price indexes and the real exchange rate. The real depreciation of the exchange rate leads to an increase in production of good i, the domestic good is cheaper and therefore the consumption of the good abroad increases. Analogous to the closed economy case, the higher the dispersion between the price of a particular good i and the domestic price index caused by the price stickiness, the lower the demand for good i. Additionally, for the SOE, there is a wedge between producer and consumer price indexes, which lowers domestic output.

The aggregate demand for domestic goods, assuming all the conditions associated with a SOE yields

$$Y_t = \left(\tilde{P}_{H,t}\right)^{-\theta} C_t \left[1 - \lambda + \lambda R S_t^{\theta - \frac{1}{\sigma}}\right].$$
(2.40)

2.3.2 Firm Optimisation: The Phillips Curve

The supply side of the domestic economy consists of two parts. There are producers and import retailers, both setting prices in the manner described by Calvo (1983) and Galí and Gertler (1999). As described in Chapter 1, each producer (resp., retailer) belongs to one of two types of firms. A measure $1 - \omega$ (resp., $1 - \omega^F$) set the price optimally, and are labelled f. A measure ω (resp., ω^F) set the price according to a rule-of-thumb, and are labelled b. Firms may face two different situations: i) either they are allowed to set their price with probability $1 - \alpha$ (resp., $1 - \alpha^F$); ii) or they are not allowed to do so with probability α (resp., α^F). Hence, at each time t, a measure $(1 - \omega)(1 - \alpha)$ (resp., $[1 - \omega^F][1 - \alpha^F]$) sets the price optimally; a measure $\omega (1 - \alpha)$ (resp., $\omega^F [1 - \alpha^F]$) sets the price according to a rule-of-thumb; a measure α holds the price unchanged.

Price Setting Mechanism for Final Goods Producers

First consider one of the $(1 - \omega)(1 - \alpha)$ firms in country H that, at time t, are allowed to set their price optimally. Each producer in this group sets price $P_t^f(i)$ to maximise its expected stream of profits $G_t(i)$

$$\max_{P_t^f(i)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha^j E_t \left[Q_{t,t+j} \left(P_t^f(i) Y_{t+j}(i) - W_{t+j} N_{t+j}(i) \right) \right],$$
(2.41)
subject to: $Y_{t+j}(i) = A_{t+j} N_{t+j}(i), \text{ and } Y_{t+j}(i) = \left(\frac{P_t^f(i)}{P_{H,t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} Y_{t+j},$

where A_t is total factor productivity, and the constraints respectively represent the production technology, and the demand function (2.32). The first order condition for the SOE producers delivers the optimal choice of the forward looking price $P_t^f(i)$

$$\frac{P_t^f(i)}{P_t} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (\alpha\beta)^j E_t \left[(C_{t+j})^{-\sigma} Y_{t+j} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+j}} \left(\frac{P_{H,t}}{P_{H,t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} \right]$$
$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (\alpha\beta)^j E_t \left[\left(\frac{Y_{t+j}}{A_{t+j}} \right)^{\eta+1} \left(\frac{P_{H,t}}{P_{H,t+j}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} \right].$$

Denoting by $\tilde{P}_t^f(i) = P_t^f(i) / P_t$ the relative forward looking price of domestic firm *i*, the last equation can be rewritten in terms of difference equations

$$\tilde{P}_t^f(i) = \frac{J_t}{H_t} \tag{2.42}$$

with

$$J_t = \mu V_t \left(\frac{Y_t}{A_t}\right)^{\eta+1} + \alpha \beta E_t \left[\left(\Pi_{H,t+1}\right)^{\varepsilon} J_{t+1} \right]$$
(2.43)

and

$$H_{t} = C_{t}^{-\sigma} Y_{t} + \alpha \beta E_{t} \left[(\Pi_{H,t+1})^{\varepsilon} (\Pi_{t+1})^{-1} H_{t+1} \right], \qquad (2.44)$$

where $\mu = \varepsilon / (\varepsilon - 1)$ is the domestic mark-up. I also introduce the mark-up shock V_t

$$\log \frac{V_t}{\bar{V}} = \rho_v \log \frac{V_{t-1}}{\bar{V}} + \varepsilon_{v,t},$$

where \overline{V} is the steady state value of the mark-up innovation and $\varepsilon_{v,t}$ is an i.i.d. shock. Given equilibrium on the labour market, the first expression in (2.43) can be written in terms of real marginal costs \widetilde{MC}_t and the relative domestic price $\tilde{P}_{H,t}$

$$\left(\frac{Y_t}{A_t}\right)^{\eta+1} = C_t^{-\sigma} Y_t \widetilde{MC}_t \widetilde{P}_{H,t},$$

where $\widetilde{MC}_t = MC_t/P_{H,t}$. The forward looking price therefore depends on domestic and CPI inflation, and the relative domestic price.

The remaining $\omega (1 - \alpha)$ domestic firms set prices at time t according to the rule of thumb, indexing it to the last observed price index. In terms of the rate of domestic producer inflation $\Pi_{H,t-1}$

$$P_t^b = \Pi_{H,t-1} X_{t-1}, \tag{2.45}$$

where X_{t-1} denotes an index of the prices set at date t-1, given by

$$X_t \equiv \left[(1-\omega) P_t^{f^{(1-\varepsilon)}} + \omega P_t^{b^{(1-\varepsilon)}} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (2.46)

The aggregate producer price level then follows the law of motion

$$P_{H,t} = \left[(1-\alpha) X_t^{1-\varepsilon} + \alpha \left(P_{H,t-1} \right)^{1-\varepsilon} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (2.47)

The set of equations (2.42)-(2.47) constitute the hybrid New Keynesian Phillips curve, which characterises the producer side of country H. The set of equations leading to the Phillips curve for country F is derived analogously. The hybrid NKPC for country F has the same form as in Chapter 1. However, the hybrid NKPC for country H, because of the dispersion between PPI and CPI, can be written as a function of the consumer price index and the terms of trade, as shown by, Benigno and Benigno (2003).

Price Setting Mechanism for Importing Retailers

Following Monacelli (2003), I assume that for retailers, who import differentiated goods into the domestic economy, the law of one price holds "at the dock". Similar to the domestic producers, domestic importing retailers also face a downward sloping demand curve. Under monopolistic competition, they set their prices, in terms of domestic currency, accordingly. The deviation between the prices of the imported good in domestic and foreign currency therefore generates a LOP gap.

Consider the $\alpha^F \omega^F$ share of local retailers importing good j at a cost $S_t P_{F,t}^*(i)$, and setting the price of the imported good in a domestic currency to maximise their profits

$$\max_{P_{t}^{f}(i)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{F}^{j} E_{t} \left[Q_{t,t+j} \left(P_{t}^{F,f}(i) - S_{t} P_{t}^{F*}(i) \right) C_{F,t+j}(i) \right],$$
subject to: $C_{F,t}(i) = \frac{1}{1-n} \left(\frac{P_{t}^{F,f}(i)}{P_{F,t}} \right)^{-\varepsilon} C_{F,t}.$
(2.48)

113

 $P_t^{F,f}(i)$ is the price of the imported good in domestic currency set by a forward looking retailer, $P_t^{F*}(i)$ is the price of the same good in the currency of the producer and α^F is the probability that this price holds unchanged the next period. In generally, it is assumed that the parameter α^F can differ from those associated with producers, denoted by α . The problem is solved analogously to the one solved by the domestic producer. The first order condition delivers the optimal choice of the relative forward looking price, $\tilde{P}_t^{F,f}(i) = P_t^{F,f}(i) / P_t$

$$\tilde{P}_{t}^{F,f}(i) = E_{t} \left[\frac{\mu \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (\alpha^{F} \beta)^{j} (C_{t+j})^{-\sigma} C_{F,t+j} \Psi_{t+j} V_{t+j}^{F} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{j} \Pi_{F,t+k}\right)^{\varepsilon} \tilde{P}_{F,t+j}}{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (\alpha^{F} \beta)^{j} (C_{t+j})^{-\sigma} C_{F,t+j} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{j} \Pi_{F,t+k}\right)^{\varepsilon} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{j} \Pi_{t+k}\right)^{-1}} \right],$$

where I also use equation (2.38). In terms of difference equation, the first order condition delivers

$$\tilde{P}_t^{F,f}\left(i\right) = \frac{J_t^F}{H_t^F} \tag{2.49}$$

with

$$J_{t}^{F} = \mu V_{t}^{F} C_{t}^{-\sigma} C_{F,t} \Psi_{t} \tilde{P}_{F,t} + (\alpha^{F} \beta) E_{t} \left[(\Pi_{F,t+1})^{\varepsilon} J_{t+1}^{F} \right], \qquad (2.50)$$

where V_t^F is the importers mark up shock, with analogous characteristics as the producer's; and

$$H_t^F = C_t^{-\sigma} C_{F,t} + (\alpha^F \beta) E_t \left[(\Pi_{F,t+1})^{\varepsilon} (\Pi_{t+1})^{-1} H_{t+1}^F \right].$$
(2.51)

The remaining $\omega^F (1 - \alpha^F)$ importers set their prices at time t according to the rule of thumb by indexing them to the last observed rate of import inflation $\Pi_{F,t-1}$

$$P_t^{F,b} = \prod_{F,t-1} X_{F,t-1}, \qquad (2.52)$$

where $X_{F,t-1}$ denotes an index of the prices of imported goods set at date t-1, given by

$$X_{F,t} \equiv \left[(1-\omega) P_t^{F,f^{(1-\varepsilon)}} + \omega \left(P_t^{F,b} \right)^{1-\varepsilon} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
 (2.53)

Assuming that all firms face the same shock, I can write the aggregate importer price level

$$P_{F,t} = \left[(1-\alpha) X_{F,t}^{1-\varepsilon} + \alpha \left(P_{F,t-1} \right)^{1-\varepsilon} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
(2.54)

Equations (2.49) to (2.54) characterise the import price inflation hybrid NKPC.

2.3.3 Steady State and Log-linearised Form of the Model

Before the actual estimation, the equations characterising the non-policy part of the model should be log-linearised around the steady state, assuming that $n \to 0$. Monetary policy is described in more details in the next section. In this section, I assume a perfect-foresight steady state for both economies with zero income growth and stable technology. Furthermore, I normalise the steady state nominal exchange rate to unity, formally S = 1. One additional assumption about the steady state: prices of imports increase at the same rate as prices of domestically produced goods. Therefore, inflation is the same across both countries, so that the real exchange rate in steady state is stable. This restriction is reasonable because any equilibrium with an explosive exchange rate would not be sustainable.

Since in the steady state all prices change at the same rate, and the price of the imports increases at the same rate as the price of the domestically produced goods, I can normalise the price indices by imposing $\bar{P}_H = \bar{P}_F$.⁷ Therefore, from equation (2.13), it follows that the consumer and producer price index are equal, formally, $\bar{P} = \bar{P}_H$. Inflation, as well as the relative prices, do not change and it holds that

$$\bar{\Pi}_H = \bar{\Pi}_F = \bar{\Pi} = \bar{\Pi}^*.$$

Furthermore, denoting growth factors by G, from the definition of real exchange rate it follows that

$$G_{RS} = 1,$$

which in conjunction with (2.27) leads to

$$R = R^*$$

Together with (2.17), I can then write

$$G_{RS} = G_S = G_{\Psi} = 1.$$

Note that, since in steady state production per capita is equal across countries, and recalling that the nominal exchange rate equals one, then it must be that price indices are also equal across countries. Hence, considering also the definition of the real exchange rate, it follows that

$$RS = \Psi = S = 1.$$

⁷This assumption follows De Paoli (2009), the price indices in steady state are normalised such as $\bar{P}_H = \bar{P}_F$ and $\bar{P}_H^* = \bar{P}_F^*$, so that the producer prices are in the steady state the same for both countries.

Using (2.29) in steady state, consumption is equalised across countries, and given by $\bar{C} = \bar{C}^*$. Market clearing implies $\bar{Y} = \bar{C}$ and $\bar{Y}^* = \bar{C}^*$. Given the previous results, it holds that $\bar{Y} = \bar{Y}^*$, so the domestic and foreign country have the same per capita income. Therefore, as long as the production technology is the same for both countries, $\bar{N} = \bar{N}^*$.

The structural equations characterising the non-policy part of the model can be written in the (log-)linearised form around their steady state. Linearising equation (2.36) defines the relationship between producer and importer relative price

$$1 = (1 - \lambda) \tilde{p}_{H,t} + \lambda \tilde{p}_{F,t}.$$
(2.55)

The relationships between relative producer price and inflation and relative importer price and inflation are given respectively by

$$\tilde{p}_{H,t} - \tilde{p}_{H,t-1} = \hat{\pi}_{H,t} - \hat{\pi}_t \tag{2.56}$$

and

$$\tilde{p}_{F,t} - \tilde{p}_{F,t-1} = \hat{\pi}_{F,t} - \hat{\pi}_t.$$
(2.57)

The LOP gap (2.38) and the real exchange rate (2.18), written in first difference, are given respectively by

$$\hat{\Psi}_t = \hat{rs}_t - \tilde{p}_{F,t} \tag{2.58}$$

and

$$\Delta \hat{rs}_t = \Delta \hat{s}_t + \hat{\pi}_t^* - \hat{\pi}_t + \varepsilon_{rs,t}, \qquad (2.59)$$

where I add $\varepsilon_{rs,t}$, an unobservable shock, to capture possible measurement error in

the data and to relax the potentially tight cross-equation restrictions in the model.

The domestic Euler equation (2.25) can be rewritten in terms of deviations from the steady state as

$$\hat{c}_{t} = E_{t} \left[\hat{c}_{t+1} \right] - \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\hat{\iota}_{t} - E_{t} \left[\hat{\pi}_{t+1} \right] + E_{t} \left[\Delta \epsilon_{t+1} \right] \right), \qquad (2.60)$$

where I have used again the approximation $log(R_t) \approx \hat{\imath}_t$. The term $\Delta \epsilon_{t+1} = \log \varepsilon_{t+1} - \log \varepsilon_t$ is the first differences of the structural preference shock. The linearisation of the uncovered interest parity delivers (2.27)

$$(\hat{\imath}_t - E_t [\hat{\pi}_{t+1}]) - (\hat{\imath}_t^* - E_t [\hat{\pi}_{t+1}^*]) = E_t [\hat{rs}_{t+1}] - \hat{rs}_t.$$
(2.61)

The UIP equation describes the relationship between real interest rate and real exchange rate.

The optimal risk sharing from equation (2.29) becomes

$$\widehat{rs}_t = \sigma \left(\hat{c}_t - \hat{c}_t^* \right) + \epsilon_t^* - \epsilon_t, \qquad (2.62)$$

where the difference between the world and the domestic preference shock $(\epsilon_t^* - \epsilon_t)$ captures the deviations from optimal risk sharing. The risk sharing equation describes the link between real exchange rate and consumption. Assuming complete markets, both equations hold, making Euler equation for the domestic country redundant. The risk sharing equation ensures that the marginal utility is the same in both countries. Assuming everyone in the world shares the same preferences, the level of consumption is the same across the countries. Because the UIP holds, the domestic real interest rate moves along with the interest rate abroad. The

UIP ensures that there is no arbitrage between the foreign and domestic financial markets, thereby determining a relationship that renders the Euler equation redundant.

The good market clearing condition, represented by (2.40), yields

$$\hat{y}_t = -\theta \tilde{p}_{H,t} + \hat{c}_t + \lambda \left(\theta - \frac{1}{\sigma}\right) \hat{rs}_t.$$
(2.63)

The log-linearisation of the supply side is given in more details in Appendix 2.B and leads to a hybrid NKPC with a non-zero steady state inflation

$$\hat{\pi}_{H,t} = \chi^{f} E_{t} \left[\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} \right] + \chi^{b} \hat{\pi}_{H,t-1} + \kappa_{mc} \left(\widehat{mc}_{t} + v_{t} \right) + \chi^{\pi} \left(\hat{h}_{t} - (\hat{y}_{t} - \sigma \hat{c}_{t}) \right), \quad (2.64)$$

where the real marginal costs $\widehat{mc}_t = \widehat{mc}_t^{nom} - \hat{p}_{H,t}$ are expressed by

$$\widehat{mc}_t = \eta \hat{y}_t + \sigma \hat{c}_t - (\eta + 1) a_t - \widetilde{p}_{H,t}$$
(2.65)

and

$$\hat{h}_t = \left(1 - \alpha\beta\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\right)\left(\hat{y}_t - \sigma\hat{c}_t\right) + \left(\alpha\beta\right)\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}E_t\left[\varepsilon\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} - \hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \hat{h}_{t+1}\right].$$
 (2.66)

Analogously, the NKPC for imported prices can be log-linearised to obtain

$$\hat{\pi}_{F,t} = \chi_F^f E_t \left[\hat{\pi}_{F,t+1} \right] + \chi_F^b \hat{\pi}_{F,t-1} + \kappa_F \left(\widehat{\Psi}_t + v_t^F \right) + \chi_F^\pi \left(\hat{h}_t^F - \left(\hat{c}_t^F - \sigma \hat{c}_t \right) \right) \quad (2.67)$$

with

$$\hat{h}_t^F = \left(1 - \alpha^F \beta \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon - 1}\right) \left(\hat{c}_t^F - \sigma \hat{c}_t\right) + \left(\alpha^F \beta\right) \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon - 1} E_t \left[\varepsilon \hat{\pi}_{F,t+1} - \hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \hat{h}_{t+1}^F\right]$$
(2.68)

and, from (2.11),

$$\hat{c}_{F,t} = \hat{c}_t - \theta \tilde{p}_{F,t}.$$
(2.69)

For country F, the producer's NKPC is log-linearised analogously to the producer's NKPC of the SOE. The large economy works as in autarky, (imports and exports of this country can be seen as negligible,) so that this NKPC is identical to the one derived in Chapter 1 (and are reported here for convenience). The market clearing condition is

$$\hat{y}_t^* = \hat{c}_t^*,$$
 (2.70)

the Euler equation is

$$\hat{c}_{t}^{*} = E_{t} \left[\hat{c}_{t+1}^{*} \right] - \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\hat{i}_{t}^{*} - E_{t} \left[\hat{\pi}_{t+1}^{*} \right] + E_{t} \left[\Delta \varepsilon_{t+1}^{*} \right] \right), \qquad (2.71)$$

the Phillips curve with a backward looking and non-zero inflation component is

$$\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} = \chi_{f}^{*} E_{t} \left[\hat{\pi}_{t+1}^{*} \right] + \chi_{b}^{*} \hat{\pi}_{t-1}^{*} + \kappa_{mc}^{*} \left(\widehat{mc}_{t}^{*} + v_{t}^{*} \right) + \chi_{\pi}^{*} \left[\hat{h}_{t}^{*} + (\sigma - 1) \, \hat{y}_{t}^{*} \right], \qquad (2.72)$$

where

$$\hat{h}_t^* = \left(1 - \alpha\beta\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\right)\left(\hat{y}_t^* - \sigma\hat{c}_t^*\right) + \left(\alpha\beta\right)\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}E_t\left[\left(\varepsilon - 1\right)\hat{\pi}_{t+1}^* + \hat{h}_{t+1}\right]$$
(2.73)

and the marginal costs are

$$\widehat{mc}_{t}^{*} = (\eta + \sigma)\,\hat{y}_{t}^{*} - (1 + \eta)\,a_{t}^{*}.$$
(2.74)

To estimate this model all that is needed now is a monetary policy rule. In this chapter, I use simple interest rate rules of a Taylor type with producer inflation targeting and consumer inflation targeting, and strict exchange rate targeting. The monetary policy rules are described in more details below.

2.3.4 Monetary Policy Rules

To close the model, I need to specify the policy chosen by the monetary authority. For estimation purposes, most of the recent papers, *e.g.*, Smets and Wouters (2003), use a generalised Taylor rule, where the central bank systematically responds to the changes in inflation, output and, in the case of a SOE, to the exchange rate. Analysing the effect of simple rules has some advantages relative to the optimal monetary policy, as they are more likely to be used in practice because they are more easily implemented. Additionally, their parameters are more robust to the model specification than the structural parameters of the optimal rule. The best known example of a simple nominal interest rate rule is the Taylor rule, which uses the interest rate as the instrument to implement the policy.

This paper compares a number of different simple targeting rules of the Taylor type for both economies. For the relatively large closed economy, three monetary policy rules are analysed. The first one is a common Taylor rule with an interest rate smoothing component, $\rho_i^* \hat{i}_{t-1}^*$, which is typically used in the literature to improve the fit of the empirical estimation as it incorporates observed interest rate persistence. The rule has the following form

$$\hat{\imath}_{t}^{*} = \rho_{i}^{*}\hat{\imath}_{t-1}^{*} + \phi_{\pi}^{*}\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{y}^{*}\hat{y}_{t}^{*} + \varepsilon_{u,t}^{*}, \qquad (2.75)$$

where $\varepsilon_{u,t}^*$ is an exogenous monetary policy shock. Alternatively, following Smets

and Wouters (2003), the central bank also responds to the speed of inflation $\Delta \pi_t^*$

$$\hat{\imath}_{t}^{*} = \rho_{i}^{*}\hat{\imath}_{t-1}^{*} + \phi_{\pi}^{*}\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{y}^{*}\hat{y}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{\Delta\pi}^{*}\Delta\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} + \varepsilon_{u,t}^{*}.$$
(2.76)

The third analysed rule takes the form of the optimal monetary policy rule identified using a welfare loss function from Chapter 1, where I approximate the optimal behaviour of the central bank

$$\hat{\imath}_{t}^{*} = \rho_{i}^{*}\hat{\imath}_{t-1}^{*} + \phi_{\pi}^{*}\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{y}^{*}\hat{y}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{\Delta 1}^{*}\Delta\hat{\pi}_{t}^{*} + \phi_{\Delta 2}^{*}\Delta\hat{\pi}_{t+1}^{*} + \phi_{\Delta y}^{*}\Delta\hat{y}_{t}^{*} + \varepsilon_{u,t}^{*}.$$
(2.77)

The aim of using three different rules is to find out whether the European central bank targets acting as the large economy in this model, conducts monetary policy using a simple Taylor rule (2.75) or incorporates any of the additional terms in (2.76) and (2.77). I choose the rule that best fits for each case, when modeling the economies of the Czech Republic, Hungary or Poland.

For these small economies I again specify the three main monetary policy rules, but modified for a SOE. The first one is similar to (2.76), where in addition to the traditional Taylor Rule, the central bank targets the change in inflation and in the exchange rate

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \rho_i \hat{\imath}_{t-1} + \phi_\pi \hat{\pi}_t + \phi_y \hat{y}_t + \phi_\Delta \Delta \hat{\pi}_t + \phi_S \Delta \hat{s}_t + \varepsilon_{u,t}.$$
(2.78)

The second rule is analogous to the rule of optimal type (2.77)

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \rho_i \hat{\imath}_{t-1} + \phi_\pi \hat{\pi}_t + \phi_y \hat{y}_t + \phi_{\Delta 1} \Delta \hat{\pi}_t + \phi_{\Delta 2} \Delta \hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \phi_{\Delta y} \Delta \hat{y}_t + \phi_S \Delta \hat{s}_t + \varepsilon_{u,t}.$$
(2.79)

Alternatively, I also assume that the central bank targets exchange rate strictly, following Adolfson, Laséen, Lindé, and Villani (2008)

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \rho_i \hat{\imath}_{t-1} + \phi_S \Delta \hat{s}_t + \varepsilon_{u,t}.$$
(2.80)

I am interested in answering two main questions regarding the monetary policy rule for a SOE. First, there are many studies that modify the simple instrumental rule to match the needs of a small open economy. Although the theoretical work emphasises that a targeting PPI inflation performs better in terms of welfare loss, the empirical literature usually assumes a simple rule with consumer inflation targeting. In fact, by moving the interest rate, the central bank can either target producer domestic inflation or CPI inflation. However, Galí and Monacelli (2005) as well as Sutherland (2002) point out that if the economy's non-stochastic steady state is at its optimum and no (or only very small) cost push distortions are present, the optimal monetary policy is pure domestic inflation targeting (*e.g.*, $\hat{\pi}_{H,t} = 0$). Strict producer-price targeting has a smoother effect on domestic variables without any distortion to the foreign economy. However, Sutherland also argues that when cost push shocks have larger variance, CPI targeting may obtain better results.

To investigate whether the central bank targets domestic producer inflation instead of CPI inflation, I compare (2.78) and (2.79) with the corresponding rules in terms of PPI inflation, simply obtained by replacing $\hat{\pi}_t$ with $\hat{\pi}_{H,t}$, and reported here for convenience

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \rho_i \hat{\imath}_{t-1} + \phi_\pi \hat{\pi}_{H,t} + \phi_y \hat{y}_t + \phi_\Delta \Delta \hat{\pi}_{H,t} + \phi_S \Delta \hat{s}_t + \varepsilon_{u,t}$$
(2.81)

$$\hat{\imath}_t = \rho_i \hat{\imath}_{t-1} + \phi_\pi \hat{\pi}_{H,t} + \phi_u \hat{y}_t + \phi_\Delta \Delta \hat{\pi}_{H,t} + \phi_{\Delta 2} \Delta \hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} + \phi_{\Delta u} \Delta \hat{y}_t + \phi_S \Delta \hat{s}_t + \varepsilon_{u,t}.$$
(2.82)

As I show later, in both cases, the difference in the model fit is significant.

Second, following Lubik and Shorfheide (2007), I study to what extent the central banks of the EEC countries respond not only to the changes in inflation and output, but also to the changes in inflation and exchange rate, *e.g.*, whether the parameter ϕ_S plays an important rule. I compare the simple rules (2.81) and (2.82) with their equivalents by assuming that $\phi_S = 0$.

Summary of the model and exogenous disturbances

To summarise, the model consists of a non-policy part determined by equations (2.55) to (2.74), a monetary policy rule specified above and a set of exogenous shocks, which follow an autoregressive process given in a log-linearised form.

The country-specific TFP for domestic and foreign country are defined respectively by

$$a_t = \rho_a a_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{a,t},$$

$$a_t^* = \rho_{a^*} a_{t-1}^* + \varepsilon_{a,t}^*;$$

the preference innovations are given for domestic and foreign consumers respec-

124

and

tively by

$$\begin{split} \epsilon_t &= \rho_e \epsilon_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{e,t}, \\ \epsilon_t^* &= \rho_{e^*} \epsilon_{t-1}^* + \varepsilon_{e,t}^*. \end{split}$$

Finally, the cost push for domestic producers and for domestic retailers are expressed by

$$\begin{aligned} v_t &= \rho_v v_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{v,t}, \\ v_t^F &= \rho_{v^F} v_{t-1}^F + \varepsilon_{v^F,t}, \end{aligned}$$

whereas for foreign producers they are

$$v_t^* = \rho_{v^*} v_{t-1}^* + \varepsilon_{v,t}^*.$$

The stochastic AR(1) processes are driven by exogenous shocks, of which seven are white noise, $\varepsilon_{a,t}$, $\varepsilon_{a,t}^*$, $\varepsilon_{e,t}$, $\varepsilon_{v,t}^*$, $\varepsilon_{vF,t}$, $\varepsilon_{v,t}^*$, plus two exogenous monetary policy shocks, $\varepsilon_{u,t}$ and $\varepsilon_{u,t}^*$, and one measurement error, $\varepsilon_{rs,t}$.

2.4 Model Estimation and Estimation Results

This section illustrates the estimation of the model, and is divided into three parts. First, I discuss the Bayesian methodology and estimation technique I use in detail. Then, after a brief look at the data, I describe my choice of priors in the context of the existing literature on this field. Finally, I present the estimation results, including the posterior distribution, impulse responses and variance decomposition. The estimated model consists of a set of equilibrium equations. All equations are log-linearised, and the variables are expressed in terms of the deviation from their respective steady state levels, both for the small and the large economy, as described in a previous sections. The small open economy case is estimated on data from the EEC countries, such as the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland. The large economy is represented by Germany.

2.4.1 Methodology

For the empirical analysis of my DSGE model, I adopt a Bayesian estimation approach, which has many advantages. First, the Bayesian approach allows me to incorporate priors based on theoretical considerations or other research. Second, the Bayesian approach is a full information method in contrast to a single equation method such as GMM and therefore it is more likely to produce better estimates.⁸ Furthermore, using the estimated log data density of the model, facilitates comparisons of the goodness of fit of different models. In comparison to the Gibbs Sampling method, which I use in Chapter 3 to estimate a structural VAR model, the estimation of a DSGE model requires a more general algorithm. The reason is that the conditional posterior distributions are not available. Following most of the literature, I use a random walk Metropolis-Hasting algorithm to approximate the posterior distribution of the estimated parameters that I briefly describe below.⁹

Suppose that the aim is to draw a sample from a target density $\pi(\Phi)$. Note that Φ is a $(K \times 1)$ vector of parameters of interest. The target density is a

 $^{^{8}}$ See Linde (2005).

⁹For more details, see An and Schorfheide (2007) and Blake and Mumtaz (2012).

posterior distribution, which is too complex to allow a direct sample. Therefore an indirect method is needed. The steps describing a random walk Metropolis-Hastings algorithm are the following:

- 1. Set a prior distribution for each parameter $p(\Phi)$.
- 2. Find the mode of the posterior distribution $\pi(\Phi)$ via numerical maximisation. Denote the estimates of the parameters at the mode by Φ^{\max} , and their covariance matrix, which is the inverse Hessian matrix, by H^{\max} .
- 3. To approximate $\pi(\Phi)$, the following algorithm is used:
 - (a) Specify a candidate density $q \left(\Phi^{G+1} / \Phi^G \right)$, where G is an index of draws.
 - (b) Set the initial estimates of the parameters Φ^G with G = 0.
 - (c) Generate a candidate value Φ^{G+1} from the candidate density. I use a random walk version of this algorithm with the candidate density specified as a random walk, such as

$$\Phi^{G+1} = \Phi^G + e,$$

where e is a K-vector random walk with a normal distribution

$$e \sim N\left(0, \Sigma\right).$$

(d) Compute the acceptance probability. The candidate Φ^{G+1} is accepted with probability α , given by

$$\alpha = \min\left(\frac{\pi\left(\Phi^{G+1}\right)/q\left(\Phi^{G+1}/\Phi^{G}\right)}{\pi\left(\Phi^{G}\right)/q\left(\Phi^{G}/\Phi^{G+1}\right)};1\right),$$

where the numerator is the target density evaluated at the new draw of the parameters $\pi (\Phi^{G+1})$ relative to the candidate density evaluated at the new draw parameters $q (\Phi^{G+1}/\Phi^G)$, and the denominator is the same expression evaluated at the previous draw of the parameters. Again, using a random walk version together with the fact that the normal distribution is symmetric, the acceptance probability simplifies to

$$\alpha = \min\left(\frac{\pi\left(\Phi^{G+1}\right)}{\pi\left(\Phi^{G}\right)}; 1\right).$$

Step 3 is repeated M times. The first (M-J) iterations are discarded. The last J draws are instead retained to estimate the posterior marginal distribution. For the results, I use four chains of M = 200,000 draws, each starting from a different value. From each chain, the last $J = 0.55 \times M$ draws are used to approximate the empirical distribution of the parameters.

Note that using Gibbs sampling, used in Chapter 3, the probability α is equal to 1 for every draw, because the target density is known and identical for all draws. However, using the Metropolis-Hastings algorithm, the acceptance rate depends on the variance Σ , which is set manually. It holds that the higher the variance, the more volatile the drawings. Therefore, a lower acceptance is to be expected in this case. On the other hand, if Σ is set too low, the volatility of the drawings is low as well. Therefore, the estimation of the parameters is likely to be close to the prior. Drawing a random number u from a uniform distribution $u \sim U(0, 1)$, it holds that the candidate Φ^{G+1} is accepted if $\alpha > u$, otherwise it is rejected.

The acceptance rate, given as the ratio between the accepted draws and the total number of draws, should lie between 20% and 40%. Some researchers are more

specific and suggest that, for multivariate estimations, the acceptance rate should optimally be set to approximately 23%. The convergence of the chains is checked according to a Brooks and Gelman (1998) convergence diagnostic. The visual comparison between chains variance of the main results for selected estimations are shown in Figures 2.1 and 2.2 and described in more details in Section 2.4.3.

I use posterior odds test to compare the performance across models. Assume the null hypothesis that a model M1 is preferred to a model M2. The marginal data density is given for M1 by $\pi_{0,T}$, and for M2 by $\pi_{1,T}$. The posterior odds test is computed as the ratio of the marginal data density of M1 to M2. Following Lubik and Schorfheide (2007), the posterior odds can be interpreted as follows:

- $\frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}} > 1$, the null hypothesis is supported;
- $1 > \frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}} > 10^{-1/2}$, there is only indecisive evidence against the null hypothesis;
- $10^{-1/2} > \frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}} > 10^{-1}$, there is substantial evidence against the null hypothesis;
- $10^{-1} > \frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}} > 10^{-3/2}$, there is strong evidence against the null hypothesis;
- $10^{-3/2} > \frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}} > 10^{-2}$, there is very strong evidence against the null hypothesis;
- $10^{-2} > \frac{\pi_{0,T}}{\pi_{1,T}}$, there is decisive evidence against the null hypothesis.

2.4.2 Choice of Prior

The model represented in the theoretical part of this chapter has 27 endogenous macro variables and for the empirical estimation I use 9 time series. It is based on a data sample over the period 1996 to 2012 for Germany and the Czech Republic, and 1998 to 2012 for Hungary and Poland. The sources of the raw data are Datastream and the Fred database and the details on each of the particular time series are given in Appendix 2.A. I use variables that are common in the literature, such as inflation, output growth, interest and exchange rate. Additionally, I follow Sbordone (2002) and Galí and Gertler (1999), who estimate the NKPC using unit labour costs as a proxy for real marginal costs. Most of the empirical papers take the marginal costs as a latent variable and, as Schorfheide (2008) describes, the estimation results on the NKPC parameters may vary significantly, however these authors show that unit labour costs are more appropriate measure for the NKPC than the output gap. Additionally, it is worth to mention, that the number of time series is lower than number of shocks to prevent problem of stochastic singularity.

The corresponding measurement equation is given as

$$Y_{t} = \left(\Pi_{H,t}^{OBS} Y_{t}^{OBS} MC_{t}^{OBS} i_{t}^{OBS} S_{t}^{OBS} \Pi_{t}^{*OBS} Y_{t}^{*OBS} MC_{t}^{*OBS} i_{t}^{*OBS} \right)^{T}$$

= $\left(\Pi \ 0 \ 0 \ R \ 0 \ \Pi^{*} \ 0 \ 0 \ R^{*} \right)^{T}$
+ $\left(\pi_{H,t} \ \hat{y}_{t} - \hat{y}_{t-1} \ mc_{t} - mc_{t-1} \ i_{t} \ s_{t} - s_{t-1} \ \pi_{t}^{*} \ \hat{y}_{t}^{*} - \hat{y}_{t-1}^{*} \ mc_{t}^{*} - mc_{t-1}^{*} \ i_{t}^{*} \right)^{T}$

m

Note that for the A1 approach, the value of steady state domestic and foreign inflation $\overline{\Pi} = \overline{\Pi}^*$ is nil.

I choose Bayesian estimation over maximum likelihood estimation because it

permits me to incorporate a prior distribution. Incorporating priors means introducing additional general information about subjective beliefs of the parameter distribution, or information coming from previous econometric and theoretical studies. In the case that just a small sample of data is available, a prior distribution is additional information that enables more stability in the optimisation algorithm. However, selecting an appropriate prior is one of the most difficult tasks associated with the use of the Bayesian approach.

I use German data to estimate the parameters for the large economy. The selection of the prior distribution follows closely Smets and Wouters (2003), and are represented in Table 2.1. For parameters that are restricted to the interval (0, 1), I use a Beta distribution. Non-negative parameters are then Gamma distributed. As for the autoregressive parameters of the shocks, I use a Beta distribution with a mean of 0.8 and a standard deviation of 0.1. The variances of the shocks are inverse gamma, with prior distribution $\sigma^2 \sim \Gamma^{-1}(1, 10)$. The standard errors are set such that the domain covers a reasonable range of parameter values.

The priors for the interest rate rule coefficients have rather wide confidence intervals. They are distributed around a mean given by the Taylor rule, following Lubik and Schorfheide (2005). Additionally, the prior distribution for the parameter ϕ_{π} has a lower bound of one, to satisfy the Taylor principle. Priors for the rest of the parameters in the monetary policy rule are Gamma distributed, with mean and standard error as those chosen by Smets and Wouters (2003) and Lubik and Schorfheide (2005).

Parameter	Distribution	Mean	Standard error
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}^{*}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}^{*}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}^{*}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}^{*}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$ ho_a^*$	Beta	0.8	0.1
$ ho_e^*$	Beta	0.8	0.1
$ ho_v^*$	Beta	0.8	0.1
$ ho_i^*$	Beta	0.5	0.2
ϕ^*_{π}	Gamma	1.5	0.1
$\phi_{m{y}}^{*}$	Gamma	0.125	0.05
$\phi^*_{\Delta 1}$	Gamma	0.3	0.1
$\phi^*_{\Delta 2}$	Gamma	0.3	0.1
$\phi^*_{\Delta y}$	Gamma	0.0625	0.05
χ_f^*	Beta	0.5	0.2
χ_b^*	Beta	0.5	0.2
κ^*_{mc}	Gamma	0.1	0.05
χ^*_{π}	Normal	0	0.05
П	Gamma	1.005	0.003

Table 2.1: Prior Distribution for Large Economy

Parameter	Distribution	Mean	Standard error
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(arepsilon_{v^F} ight)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{rs}\right)$	Inverse Gamma	1	10
ρ_a	Beta	0.8	0.1
$ ho_e$	Beta	0.8	0.1
$ ho_v$	Beta	0.8	0.1
ρ_{v^F}	Beta	0.8	0.1
ρ_i	Beta	0.5	0.2
ϕ_{π}	Gamma	1.5	0.1
$\phi_{m{y}}$	Gamma	0.125	0.05
$\phi_{\Delta 1}$	Gamma	0.3	0.1
$\phi_{\Delta 2}$	Gamma	0.3	0.1
$\phi_{\Delta y}$	Gamma	0.0625	0.05
ϕ_S	Gamma	0.3	0.1
χ^f	Beta	0.5	0.2
χ^b	Beta	0.5	0.2
κ_{mc}	Gamma	0.1	0.05
χ^{π}	Normal	0	0.05
χ^f_F	Beta	0.5	0.2
χ^b_F	Beta	0.5	0.2
κ_F	Gamma	0.1	0.05
χ^{π}_F	Normal	0	0.05
П	Gamma	1.005	0.003

 Table 2.2: Prior Distribution for Small Open Economy

Following Lubik and Schorfheide (2007), I estimate the composite structural coefficients of the NKPC rather than the underlying primitives, to avoid identification issues. The values of the NKPC parameters χ^b , χ^f and κ_{mc} reported in the literature are controversial. Therefore, the priors chosen here are consistent with the middle case, with a standard deviation large enough to ensure that the estimate is mainly determined by the data. Consistent with Lubik and Schorfheide (2007), the parameters χ^b , χ^f are beta distributed, and the parameter κ_{mc} is gamma distributed. The minimum level of the prior is consistent with the findings by Galí and Gertler (1999). The parameter χ^{π} is normally distributed around a zero mean, since it might take both positive and negative values. The prior of the inflation trend Π is gamma distributed around the average of the trend value, given by the HP filter, and it is lower-bounded at one. For Germany, the average inflation of the estimated sample corresponds to $\Pi = 1.005$.

The parameters for the SOE have similar priors as those for the closed economy. The priors for the importer NKPC parameter are set analogously to the producer NKPC. The prior for ϕ_S is gamma distributed, with mean equal to 0.3. The steady state inflation Π is the trend inflation given the HP filter for the observed period. It is the same for the Czech Republic and Germany, and for Hungary and Poland, it corresponds to $\Pi = 1.0153$ and $\Pi = 1.0154$, respectively. The degree of openness λ is set to 0.6 for the Czech Republic, corresponding to the average Import/GDP ratio over the data sample. For Hungary and Poland, it is set to be 0.7 and 0.36, respectively.

Most of the parameters are not imposed to be the same for all countries, but it is merely assumed that they have identical priors. This also mirrors the fact that the countries have a similar economic history and have undergone similar structural changes since the end of the Cold War. Some parameters are identical for all countries. For example, the parameter β , which is fixed and not estimated. Instead I follow the convention and set it at 0.99.

2.4.3 Estimation Results

The composite structural parameters are estimated in two steps. The first step contains the estimation of the model for the closed economy, obtained using German data. The estimation for Germany can also be seen as the empirical estimation of the model from Chapter 1. In this part, I focus on three main issues. First, I generally estimate the NKPC for Germany, and show the importance of the backward looking component. Second, I am interested in whether the estimate for χ^*_{π} is significant. In other words, if the assumption of non-zero inflation in steady state improves the fit to the data. The third issue, which is important for further estimation and analysis of different simple rules, is to find the one rule that fits best the German data.

In the second part, the model for the SOE is estimated, using the data from EEC. I use the best fitting monetary policy rule for the closed economy, and estimate domestic and foreign parameters using EEC and German data together. Along with the estimates for the SOE Phillips curve, where I analyse the importance of the non-zero inflation part of the Phillips curve given by parameters χ_{π} and $\chi_{\pi^F t}$, I wish to identify what monetary policy fits the data best. Therefore, I first investigate whether the EEC central bank responds to a CPI inflation,

Monetary policy rule	Log Data Density		Posterior odds
	A1	A2	
Rule 1 (2.75)	-178.15	-173.8	0.013
Rule 2 (2.76)	-170.67	-161.55	0.000
Rule 3 (2.77)	-166.39	-156.05	0.000

Table 2.3: Posterior Odd Test

Note: the table reports posterior odds test for German data on the hypothesis H0: $\chi_{\pi}^* = 0$ against the alternative $\chi_{\pi}^* \neq 0$.

I then show that the data suggests that PPI inflation targeting performs better. I then concentrate on understanding how important are the exchange rate movements in the simple rules for the central bank, and whether the EEC central banks systematically respond to such changes.

Results for Germany

In this section, I use three different simple rules for the closed economy, specified in (2.75), (2.76) and (2.77). I estimate each of them applying two different approaches, to assess the importance of the estimation of the non-zero steady state inflation part in the NKPC. The first approach (A1) assumes that the steady state inflation is zero, as is common in the literature, which leads to a backward looking NKPC with $\chi_{\pi}^* = 0$. The second approach (A2) estimates the parameter χ_{π}^* as well as the steady state inflation II. The log marginal data densities and the odds for these two specifications are portrayed in Table 2.3. The chains converge to the target distribution for all estimations. Figure 2.1 reports the convergence



Figure 2.1: Multivariate Convergence Diagnostic for Germany

diagnostic for the estimation using the second approach and rule (2.77). There are three measures in each figure. Interval refers to an 80 % confidence interval around mean, m2 refers to the variance measure and m3 is based on the third moment of the aggregate measure. The convergence of the chains to the target distribution occurs if the between-chain measure (blue line) and the within-chain measure (red line) are relatively constant and converge.

Two results emerge from the analysis of the log marginal likelihood and posterior odds. First, the estimation of the model with the second approach improves the fit to the data relatively to imposing a steady state rate of inflation that is zero. The posterior odds show that the hypothesis H0 of the steady state zero inflation can be rejected. Thus, this approach is used also for the SOE estimation in step 2. Second, the monetary policy rule (2.77) is clearly the best fit for the data. It follows that the more complex the rule is, the better the performance of the model. The traditional Taylor rule from (2.75) performs worse, whereas the "optimal" simple rule fits the data best. This evidence suggests that the central bank takes into account all the elements following from the welfare maximisation of the loss function, as derived in presence of backward looking firms, as done in Chapter 1. Given the log density, it is shown that including inflation change targeting improves the fit significantly.

The Bayesian estimated posterior distribution, based on the second approach and the monetary rule (2.77), is reported in Table 2.4. The table displays the mode and standard error resulting from the posterior maximisation. It also details the estimation results obtained through the Metropolis-Hastings algorithm, such as the posterior mean and the 90% posterior probability interval for both the estimated parameters and the standard deviation of shocks.

For all values, the highest posterior density intervals suggest that the estimated parameters are not equal to zero. Focusing on the two parameters that show how important is the non-zero steady state inflation, Table 2.4 shows that my estimation proposes a value around 0.2 for parameter χ_{π}^* , which is higher than that assumed in the prior distribution; and a value around 1.005 for the estimated trend inflation Π , implying a steady state rate of inflation of 2% percent per year. The values are robust and lie in the confidence interval using both approaches. The estimates for the parameter χ_{π}^* are lower when assuming the simple Taylor rule (2.75) – around 0.13 for both approaches. For the remaining two other rules,

Parameter	Mode	S.D.	10%	Mean	90%
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}^{*}\right)$	1.0194	0.0790	0.9022	1.0321	1.1597
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}^{*}\right)$	5.5972	0.6983	3.0235	6.8599	11.2815
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}^{*}\right)$	0.3324	0.0515	0.28711	0.3526	0.4181
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}^{*}\right)$	0.5434	0.0417	0.3976	0.5278	0.6536
$ ho_a^*$	0.9944	0.0052	0.9866	0.9924	0.9985
$ ho_e^*$	0.9802	0.0064	0.9699	0.9802	0.9937
$ ho_v^*$	0.8417	0.0128	0.7074	0.8168	0.9313
$ ho_i^*$	0.9588	0.0256	0.8988	0.9418	0.9892
ϕ^*_{π}	1.4353	0.0316	1.3081	1.4642	1.6021
ϕ_y^*	0.0199	0.0055	0.0100	0.0232	0.0361
$\phi^*_{\Delta 1}$	0.5348	0.0195	0.2440	0.4504	0.6584
$\phi^*_{\Delta 2}$	0.3584	0.0328	0.1939	0.3845	0.5728
$\phi^*_{\Delta y}$	0.0716	0.0074	0.0084	0.0995	0.1724
χ_f^*	0.9452	0.0352	0.8041	0.8970	0.9889
χ_b^*	0.3026	0.0566	0.1288	0.2717	0.4158
κ^*_{mc}	0.4861	0.0110	0.4860	0.6213	0.7924
χ^*_{π}	0.2709	0.0244	0.1569	0.2248	0.2975
П	1.0033	0.0005	1.0006	1.0045	1.0083

 Table 2.4: Parameter Estimation Results for Germany

Log Data Density			Czech Rep.	Hungary	Poland
A2	CPI targeting, $\phi_S > 0$	Rule 1 (2.78)	-659.26	-630.38	-740.57
		Rule 2 (2.79)	-659.94	-633.51	-723.96
	PPI targeting, $\phi_S > 0$	Rule 1 (2.81)	-637.50	-603.98	-714.12
		Rule 2 (2.82)	-640.11	-595.45	-705.25
	PPI targeting, $\phi_S=0$	Rule 1	-641.27	-602.56	-711.64
		Rule 2	-648.80	-594.13	-705.05
	Pure exchange rate	Rule 3 (2.80)	-706.85	-630.78	-842.91
A1	PPI targeting, $\phi_S > 0$	Rule 2 (2.82)	-646.27	-604.06	-721.94

 Table 2.5: Marginal Data Densities under Different Approaches and Monetary Policy

 Rules Regimes

the values are surprisingly stable, and lie between 0.22 and 0.26. The result for the steady state inflation Π is very similar for all three monetary policy rules in the second approach.

My estimate suggests a value of lagged inflation χ_b^* of around 0.3, in line with other empirical findings such as Galí and Gertler (1999) and Galí, Gertler, and Lopez-Salido (2001). With the exception of the cost push shock, all the autoregressive parameters for the shocks are estimated to be higher than the value of 0.8 assumed in the prior distribution. Surprisingly, the TFP shock is also very persistent, with the AR parameter around 0.99, a much higher value than the 0.83 estimated by Smets and Wouters (2003). Moreover, the monetary policy rules parameters are very robust and they all lie, independent of the estimation approach and rule, in the confidence interval given in Table 2.4. These parameters are all consistent with the values found in the literature.

Results for European Emerging Markets

In this section, I analyse the monetary policy rules for the SOE from Section 2.3.4. I use different assumptions to understand the behavior of the central banks in the EEC. The summary of the marginal data densities from the different estimations can be found in Table 2.5. The results of the estimations are explained below.

I report the results obtained using the second approach outlined in the previous subsection, *i.e.*, assuming that the steady state inflation differs from zero, which provides significantly better results than those delivered by the first approach.¹⁰ It is straightforward to demonstrate that a pure exchange rate targeting policy can be rejected as the policy being implemented by at least two of the three countries, since this rule performs the worst for both Czech and Polish data. Adolfson *et al.* (2008) reach a similar conclusion investigating the Swedish economy.

Finally I test whether the central bank targets CPI or PPI inflation. The results of the posterior odds test, with a null hypothesis that the central bank is focusing on CPI inflation rather the PPI inflation, are displayed in Table 2.6. The null hypothesis can be rejected for both rules and all countries. I can thus conclude that there is a clear evidence in favor of PPI inflation targeting over CPI inflation targeting. This is in line with the theoretical literature, which shows that responding to the PPI inflation rather than the CPI delivers lower welfare losses.

¹⁰For comparison purposes, the best fit obtained using the first method is also reported.

		Rule 1			Rule 2	
	H0	H1	Post. Odds	H0	H1	Post. Odds
Czech Rep	-659.26	-637.50	0.000	-659.94	-640.11	0.000
Hungary	-630.38	-603.98	0.000	-633.51	-595.45	0.000
Poland	-740.57	-714.12	0.000	-723.96	-705.25	0.000

Table 2.6: Posterior Odd Test

Notes: hypothesis H0 that the central bank uses a CPI inflation targeting (2.78) and (2.79) vs hypothesis H1 that the central bank uses (2.81) and (2.82).

I then perform the posterior odds test to show how important it is to include the non-zero component into the Phillips curve. Similar to what I did for Germany, I estimate the model for both rules (2.81) and (2.82). On the one hand, I assume that $\chi^{\pi} = 0$. On other hand, my estimations are obtained when assuming that $\chi^{\pi} \neq 0$. The marginal data densities displayed in Table 2.7 suggest that including an estimation of χ^{π} improves the fit to the data. The posterior odds ratio is zero in all cases, rejecting the null hypothesis that χ^{π} equals zero for all three countries.

Furthermore, I am interested in whether the central bank responds to changes in the exchange rate. To answer this question, I follow Lubik and Schorfeide (2007) and first estimate both rules (2.81) and (2.82) assuming that $\phi_S > 0$. Second, I estimate the same rules, but assume that the central bank is not interested in exchange rate targeting, and set $\phi_S = 0$. The null hypothesis is that the central bank does not respond to the exchange rate changes. The results for both the TR2 and TR3 rule are given in Table 2.8. The null hypothesis can be rejected

	H0	H1	Posterior Odds
Czech Rep	-646.27	-640.11	0.002
Hungary	-604.06	-595.45	0.000
Poland	-721.94	-705.25	0.000

Table 2.7: Posterior Odd Test

Note: The table reports posterior odds test for EEC on the hypothesis H0: $\chi_{\pi} = 0$ and $\chi_{\pi^F} = 0$ against the alternative $\chi_{\pi} \neq 0$ and $\chi_{\pi^F} \neq 0$.

only for the Czech Republic. This suggests that the Czech National Bank targets the exchange rate, but the Central Banks of Hungary and Poland do not.

The estimated parameters are similar for all three countries. They can be found in Tables 2.9 - 2.11. For the estimation using the second approach, with reference to the Czech Republic, the convergence diagnostic is illustrated in Figure 2.2.¹¹. As the convergence diagnostics suggest, all the chains converge to the target distribution. The backward looking component for producer inflation lies between 0.2 and 0.35 for all countries. Compared to Germany, the non-zero steady state inflation component is lower, but still positive and significantly different from zero. For the retailers' Phillips curve, the parameter χ_F^{π} is slightly negative for Czech Republic and Hungary, and all are significantly different from zero. The prior distribution, the posterior distribution and the posterior mode of these two parameters is visually illustrated in Figure 2.3 and 2.4.

¹¹The remaining diagnostic illustrations are available from the author upon request.
	H0	H1	Posterior Odds
Czech Rep	-641.27	-637.50	0.023
Hungary	-602.56	-603.98	4.161
Poland	-711.64	-714.12	11.876

Table 2.8: Posterior Odd Test

Note: The table reports posterior odds test for EEC on the hypothesis H0: $\phi_S = 0$ against the alternative $\phi_S \neq 0$.

Finally, the monetary policy rule parameters are close to those reported in the literature. The central bank of all three countries respond much more actively to inflation (both to current and past changes) than to output (and its change). The estimates for exchange rate targeting in the monetary policy rule are higher, for all the three countries, than the prior values. ($\phi_S^{cz} = 0.14$, $\phi_S^{Hun} = 0.15$, $\phi_S^{Pol} = 0.11$).

Parameter	Mode	S.D.	10%	Mean	90%
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}\right)$	0.7227	0.1556	0.5380	0.7714	0.9883
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}\right)$	3.0276	0.4826	2.3178	3.1085	3.9074
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}\right)$	1.5490	0.1977	1.2970	1.6581	2.0258
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}\right)$	1.7389	0.2642	1.3114	1.5946	1.8639
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v^{F}}\right)$	10.7510	3.0950	0.2225	10.6040	20.3485
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{rs}\right)$	4.9429	0.4970	4.2216	5.0141	5.7741
ρ_a	0.9247	0.0110	0.7732	0.8873	0.9888
ρ_e	0.8766	0.0176	0.8282	0.8763	0.9307
$ ho_v$	0.7025	0.0237	0.6174	0.7254	0.8318
ρ_{v^F}	0.8752	0.0225	0.7582	0.8508	0.9686
ρ_i	0.9256	0.0416	0.8079	0.8948	0.9843
ϕ_{π}	1.3994	0.0314	1.3291	1.4661	1.6052
ϕ_y	0.0539	0.0176	0.0229	0.0640	0.1049
$\phi_{\Delta 1}$	0.3508	0.0376	0.2291	0.3760	0.5248
$\phi_{\Delta 2}$	0.3387	0.0239	0.1735	0.3276	0.4908
$\phi_{\Delta y}$	0.1024	0.0118	0.0013	0.0476	0.0929
ϕ_S	0.1392	0.0210	0.0871	0.1440	0.2050
χ^f	0.9077	0.0364	0.6890	0.8258	0.9671
χ^b	0.3063	0.0318	0.1148	0.2788	0.4334
κ_{mc}	0.2922	0.0123	0.3357	0.4149	0.5098
χ^{π}	0.1036	0.0191	0.0130	0.0770	0.1472
χ^f_F	0.6355	0.1010	0.2573	0.5403	0.7991
χ^b_F	0.1928	0.0260	0.0628	0.2377	0.3873
κ_F	0.0586	0.0104	0.0202	0.0691	0.1214
χ^{π}_{F}	0.0076	0.0080	-0.0989	-0.0126	0.0709
П	1.0041	0.0004	1.0007	1.0053	1.0097

Table 2.9: Parameter Estimation Results for the Czech Republic

Parameter	Mode	S.D.	10%	Mean	90%
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}\right)$	0.5770	0.1148	0.5589	0.7989	1.0704
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}\right)$	6.5825	0.5749	5.2662	6.6646	8.0768
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}\right)$	1.9111	0.2379	1.6213	2.0654	2.4917
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}\right)$	1.7238	0.2345	1.3308	1.6808	2.0113
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v^{F}}\right)$	10.5052	1.1955	0.2216	1.9184	5.2044
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{rs}\right)$	7.0219	0.4958	5.8129	6.9522	8.0079
ρ_a	0.7869	0.0202	0.8477	0.9042	0.9626
$ ho_e$	0.9143	0.0089	0.8872	0.9088	0.9314
$ ho_v$	0.6560	0.0097	0.5739	0.6655	0.7501
$ ho_{v^F}$	0.8515	0.0160	0.7020	0.8312	0.9723
ρ_i	0.8868	0.0174	0.7804	0.8709	0.9634
ϕ_{π}	1.5100	0.0351	1.3622	1.5075	1.6407
ϕ_y	0.0404	0.0060	0.0185	0.0522	0.0854
$\phi_{\Delta 1}$	0.2777	0.0253	0.1725	0.2758	0.3749
$\phi_{\Delta 2}$	0.4318	0.0206	0.1201	0.3077	0.4223
$\phi_{\Delta y}$	0.0510	0.0095	0.0004	0.0372	0.0748
ϕ_S	0.1451	0.0107	0.0772	0.1521	0.2302
χ^f	0.8227	0.0357	0.6184	0.7971	0.9564
χ^b	0.3723	0.0468	0.1998	0.3399	0.4819
κ_{mc}	0.4320	0.0090	0.4160	0.4889	0.5653
χ^{π}	0.0741	0.0056	-0.0210	0.0565	0.1283
χ^f_F	0.4061	0.0358	0.0880	0.4329	0.7770
χ^b_F	0.2545	0.0164	0.0394	0.2188	0.3606
κ_F	0.0843	0.0076	0.0105	0.0493	0.0873
χ^{π}_F	-0.0715	0.0041	-0.1092	-0.0415	0.0235
П	1.0097	0.0004	1.0017	1.0062	1.0102

 Table 2.10: Parameter Estimation Results for Hungary

Parameter	Mode	S.D.	10%	Mean	90%
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{a}\right)$	1.1451	0.1256	0.8682	1.0746	1.2679
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{e}\right)$	7.0226	0.7007	5.1819	6.5509	7.8704
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{u}\right)$	1.5254	0.2327	1.3060	1.6315	1.9452
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v}\right)$	1.3775	0.1799	1.0422	1.2815	1.5081
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{v^{F}}\right)$	0.4572	0.4848	0.2284	0.8527	1.5687
$\sigma\left(\varepsilon_{rs}\right)$	6.9759	0.5465	5.9946	7.0510	8.0882
ρ_a	0.9627	0.0101	0.9144	0.9471	0.9807
$ ho_e$	0.9128	0.0103	0.8989	0.9181	0.9394
$ ho_v$	0.7359	0.0133	0.4996	0.6548	0.7981
$ ho_{v^F}$	0.8895	0.0180	0.7818	0.8811	0.9770
ρ_i	0.8601	0.0267	0.5576	0.7165	0.8671
ϕ_{π}	1.5237	0.0138	1.3934	1.5019	1.6300
ϕ_y	0.0599	0.0082	0.0452	0.0866	0.1357
$\phi_{\Delta 1}$	0.3017	0.0165	0.1375	0.2259	0.3056
$\phi_{\Delta 2}$	0.3714	0.0260	0.1770	0.3229	0.4748
$\phi_{\Delta y}$	0.0939	0.0106	0.0055	0.1105	0.2116
ϕ_S	0.1120	0.0343	0.0702	0.1127	0.1551
χ^f	0.9221	0.0200	0.6402	0.7843	0.9490
χ^b	0.3732	0.0375	0.1794	0.3276	0.4820
κ_{mc}	0.4439	0.0137	0.4857	0.5697	0.6630
χ^{π}	0.0665	0.0109	0.0174	0.0800	0.1756
χ^f_F	0.3279	0.0369	0.3319	0.5075	0.7006
χ^b_F	0.3022	0.0486	0.4359	0.5423	0.6778
κ_F	0.0373	0.0053	0.0010	0.0106	0.0188
χ^{π}_F	0.0509	0.0107	-0.0115	0.0415	0.1096
П	1.0025	0.0006	1.0006	1.0035	1.0062

Table 2.11: Parameter Estimation Results for Poland



Figure 2.2: Multivariate Convergence Diagnostic for the Czech Republic



Figure 2.3: Prior and Posterior Distribution and Posterior Mode for the Parameter χ_π



Figure 2.4: Prior and Posterior Distribution and Posterior Mode for the Parameter χ_F^{π}

Impulse Response Functions Analysis

In this section, I explain how the endogenous variables such as inflation, output, interest rate and real exchange rate respond to each structural shock over next 10 periods (*i.e.*, 2.5 years). The responses are illustrated in Figures 2.5-2.13 and, because of the similarities in the dynamic behavior of the three EEC, I only report the results of the estimates relative to the Czech Republic.¹² In what follows, I

 $^{1^{2}}$ The quantitative difference between A1 and A2 approach, *i.e.*, model with zero steady state inflation and with trend inflation, can be found in Appendix 2.C.



Figure 2.5: Impulse Responses to a Domestic TFP shock

compare the monetary policy rules in (2.78)-(2.79) and (2.81)-(2.82) to identify potential differences between CPI and PPI inflation targeting. The solid line is the median response, and the area within the dashed lines represents the 90% HPD interval.

Figure 2.5 displays the responses of the domestic variables to a positive domes-

tic TFP shock. Independently of the monetary policy rule, output reacts positively to the TFP shock, and stronger than all other variables. This result can be interpreted as follows. An increase in productivity leads to lower marginal costs, hence to a decrease in producer prices and domestic PPI inflation. Therefore, the relative prices of imported good increase, and the aggregate demand shifts towards the cheaper domestic goods. This, in turn, implies a rise in domestic aggregate output. Foreign inflation relates positively to a change in LOP gap, which is a function of the real exchange rate and the foreign (relative) price. A rise in real exchange rate leads to an increase in LOP gap, whereas a higher \tilde{p}_t^F implies a lower LOP gap. As a result, the LOP gap increases less than proportionally with the shock, leading to a modest rise in imported inflation. CPI inflation, given by the combination of domestic and foreign inflation, decreases overall since the drop in the producer prices variation entails stronger effects than the higher imported inflation.

In response to lower inflation, the central bank opts for an expansionary monetary policy, which implies a fall in the interest rate. Because the interest rate of the large economy remains constant, but the uncovered interest parity holds, the nominal and real exchange rate depreciates. These results are in line with the theoretical findings in Galí and Monacelli (2005).

It also follows from Figure 2.5 that the overall inflation decreases more in the case of CPI inflation targeting than with PPI inflation targeting. The reason is that when producer inflation is targeted, it fluctuates less and therefore the price for the domestic good is more stable. The decrease in PPI inflation is partly offset by the increase in imported inflation and thus, overall inflation is less volatile than



Figure 2.6: Impulse Responses to a Domestic Monetary Shock

in the case of CPI targeting. It may also be noted that output and real exchange rate vary only marginally, regardless the choice of the policy target.

The responses to a domestic monetary shock are presented in Figure 2.6. An unexpected increase in the interest rate leads to a lower aggregate output. First, a higher interest rate implies a higher return on domestic assets, and therefore makes the domestic currency more attractive. The nominal appreciation, making imports cheaper, leads to a drop in the demand for domestic goods. In turn, a downward shift in demand for domestic goods results in lower inflation and aggregate output.



Figure 2.7: Impulse Responses to a Domestic Producer Cost Push Shock

Figure 2.7 plots the responses to a domestic cost push shock. This shock immediately increases producer inflation. The higher relative domestic price reduces the overall demand for domestic good, and therefore results in a drop in aggregate domestic output. Overall inflation also increases. Thus, the central bank reacts by raising the interest rate, which leads to an appreciation of the exchange rate and, furthermore, depresses the competitiveness of the domestic goods in the international markets. Also in the case of a cost push shock, overall inflation is less volatile



Figure 2.8: Impulse Responses to an Importer Cost Push Shock

if the central bank directly targets producer inflation. The initial response of the aggregate output, however, is seemingly independent of the policy rule adopted.

In the presence of an importer cost push shock, the difference between the PPI inflation and CPI inflation targeting is more obvious than in the previous cases. Depending on the rule, the very dynamics of the main economic variables change. The impulse responses are illustrated in Figure 2.8. An importer cost push shock



Figure 2.9: Impulse Responses to a Domestic Preference Shock

increases immediately the inflation of the imported goods. Thus, the price of these goods increases relative to the price of the domestically produced goods. Imports fall, and overall domestic consumption decreases, increasing the marginal utility of consumption. However, a rise in domestic production occurs, due to a higher domestic demand for domestic goods. Given the fact that the agents desire to diversify risk, the real exchange rate appreciates, which reduces competitive advantage on the international market. Therefore, the resulting effect on the domestic output is ambiguous. In the case of PPI targeting, the response of the



Figure 2.10: Impulse Responses to a Foreign TFP Shock

central bank to the rising inflation is milder. As a result, output slightly increases, but this also implies a substantial rise in inflation. Under CPI targeting, the central bank intervention is stronger: this entails lower output, but inflation growth is very small.

A domestic demand shock, illustrated in Figure 2.9, increases overall consumption. Since agents share risk internationally, the resulting decrease in the marginal utility of consumption implies an appreciation in the domestic currency, and therefore an increase in relative domestic price. As a consequence, the LOP gap decreases, and so does imported inflation. The demand for domestic goods decreases, whereas demand for foreign goods increases more than proportionally. With the increase in consumption, the marginal utility of consumption decreases and the wage increases. This is due to the fact that when agents optimise they equate the ratio of marginal disutility of labour to the marginal utility of consumption and also to the real wage. This would imply that whenever consumption increases, agents tend to lower their labour supply for a given wage. Since in equilibrium labour does not decrease sufficiently to keep the ratio constant, the real wage grows. This leads to an increase in marginal costs which is partly offset due to the increase in the relative domestic price. Finally, an increase in marginal costs leads to a rise in producer inflation. The overall rate of inflation increases. Thus, the central bank tightens its policy by increasing the interest rate.

If a TFP shock hits a foreign large economy, the rate of inflation in that country falls, domestic aggregate output increases, and the central bank lowers the interest rate. The impact on the domestic variables is shown in Figure 2.10. The domestic currency appreciates relative to the foreign currency. The relative price for foreign good decrease, hence demand shifts toward the foreign produced goods. Foreign inflation lowers (decrease in LOP gap) and domestic inflation rises (increase in real wage, real marginal costs). In the case of PPI targeting, the overall inflation may fall, however by CPI targeting, the CPI inflation increases initially. After the initial drop, the output decreases further as a consequence of the rise in the interest rate, having its trough in the second to third period, and afterwards returning back to its equilibrium very slowly.

A positive foreign monetary policy shock, illustrated in Figure 2.11, causes an



Figure 2.11: Impulse Responses to a Foreign Monetary Shock

immediate appreciation in the foreign currency. The domestic currency depreciates and, as a consequence, the domestic goods become cheaper relative to the foreign one. Thus, the demand for domestic good increases and so does aggregate domestic output. The overall inflation rises as well, as a consequence of an increase in domestic inflation. Therefore, the central bank opts for a contractionary monetary policy, which entails a return of the exchange rate quickly - after two periods - back to its equilibrium.

Figure 2.12 shows that a foreign cost push shock leads to a currency depreci-



Figure 2.12: Impulse Responses to a Foreign Cost Push Shock

ation and a rise in domestic aggregate output. For the large foreign economy, the shock leads to an increase in inflation and a drop in consumption and output. The central bank increases the interest rate. As a consequence, the domestic currency depreciates and domestic goods gain a relative price advantage, which results in a demand shift toward domestic goods. Domestic aggregate output increases, but overall domestic consumption falls due to higher prices. This leads to a decrease in the real wage, and a drop in the real marginal costs. Thus, PPI inflation decreases if it is subject to the central bank's targeting.



Rule 2, CPI targeting



Figure 2.13: Impulse Responses to a Foreign Preference Shock

Nevertheless, if the central bank targets PPI inflation, the overall inflation may increase, since the rise in foreign inflation outweighs the effect of the decrease in PPI inflation. All in all, the central bank decreases the interest rate in response to a foreign cost push shock.

Similarly to a foreign cost push shock, the foreign demand shock increases domestic output. Foreign consumption initially increases, leading to a lower marginal utility of consumption in the large economy and the foreign central bank reacts with an increase in the interest rate, which has the effect of domestic currency to depreciates. The responses to the shock are presented in Figure 2.13. If the domestic central bank targets the PPI, overall inflation may increase. By contrast, targeting CPI leads to a drop in overall inflation. As a consequence, the latter results in an expansionary monetary policy.

To conclude, note that in most of the cases, targeting PPI leads to lower volatility in CPI inflation than with CPI targeting. The effect of different inflation targets on output is not that strong, hence it causes only limited changes to output. In line with the typical arguments in the theoretical literature, which maintain that PPI targeting leads to lower welfare losses, my impulse responses clearly show that such welfare gains are mainly due to the different effects on inflation generated by targeting the two alternative price indices.

2.5 Concluding Remarks

This chapter considered the performance and characteristics of simple monetary policy rules using a two-country model. First, I developed a small-scale twocountry DSGE model similar to Lubik and Schorfheide (2007), with a microfounded Phillips curve. I assumed imperfect pass-through and non-unit intratemporal elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods and log-linearised the model around a steady state with non-zero inflation.

I carried out Bayesian inference, using a Metropolis Hastings sampling approach, to measure the performance of this model against German data. The novel feature has been the inclusion of real unit labour costs for a better measurement of the Phillips curve. Firstly, using only the part of the model related to the large economy, which is identical to the one built in Chapter 1, I have tested several simple nominal interest rate rules. I have shown that a simple monetary policy rule mimicking an optimal rule, similar to the one derived in Chapter 1, gives the best outcome. Additionally, I have shown that the estimation of the structural parameters of the model are robust to the choice of the monetary policy rule, and that the non-zero inflation part included in the Phillips curve improves the model fit significantly.

To study the model for the SOE, I have used the data of EEC, such as the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland. Using a posterior odds test, I found evidence that the central banks of all these countries target a PPI inflation instead of CPI inflation, contrary to what is usually assumed in the empirical literature. I have shown that, also in the case of a SOE, the model with a non-zero steady state inflation performs substantially better. If I compare the non-zero steady state inflation component between the three EEC and Germany, I find that the magnitude is lower for the latter, though it remains positive and significantly different from zero. Further analysis about the monetary policy rules shows that a pure exchange rate target can be rejected for all three EEC, and that only the Czech Republic appears to respond to exchange rate movements.

2.A Data

All observations are quarterly, seasonally adjusted using the defaults settings of the X12 filter in Eviews 6. The empirical estimation is based on a data sample over the period 1996 to 2012 for Germany and the Czech Republic, and 1998 to 2012 for Hungary and Poland.

The FRED database was used as a source for following time series:

- Inflation, defined as the log difference of the consumer or producer price index multiplied by 100
 - Consumer Price Index: All Items in Germany (DEUCPIALLQINMEI)
 - Consumer Price Index: All Items for Czech Republic (CZECPIALLMIN-MEI)
 - Domestic Producer Prices Index: Manufacturing for Czech Republic (CZEPPDMQINMEI)
 - Consumer Price Index: All Items for Hungary (HUNCPIALLMINMEI)
 - Domestic Producer Prices Index: Manufacturing for Hungary (HUNPPDMQIN-MEI)
 - Consumer Price Index: All Items for Poland (POLCPIALLMINMEI)
 - Domestic Producer Prices Index: Manufacturing for Poland (POLP-PDMQINMEI)
- Output growth, constructed as the log difference of real output that is defined as a nominal output divided by a deflator, multiplied by 100

- Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Germany (DEUGDPNQDSMEI)
- GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Germany (DEUGDPDEFQISMEI)
- Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Czech Republic(CZEGDPNQDSMEI)
- GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Czech Republic (CZEGDPDEFQIS-MEI)
- Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Hungary (HUNGDPNQDSMEI)
- GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Hungary (HUNGDPDEFQISMEI)
- Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Poland (POLGDPNQDSMEI)
- GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Poland (POLGDPDEFQISMEI)
- Unit labour cost is defined as the percentage change of the ratio between total labour costs and real GDP
 - Benchmarked Unit Labor Costs Total for Germany (DEUULCTOTQP-NMEI)
 - Benchmarked Unit Labor Costs Manufacturing for Czech Republic (CZEULCMANQPNMEI)
 - Benchmarked Unit Labor Costs Manufacturing for Hungary (HUNUL-CMANQPNMEI)
 - Benchmarked Unit Labor Costs Manufacturing for Poland (POLUL-CMANQPNMEI)
- To compute average import/GDP ratio, I use
 - Imports of Goods and Services in Czech Republic (CZEIMPORTADSMEI)

- Imports of Goods and Services in Hungary (HUNIMPORTADSMEI)
- Imports of Goods and Services in Poland (POLIMPORTADSMEI)

For the analysis, Datastream was a source for following data:

- The interest rate is an annualised quarter to quarter interest rate monthly average, divided by four so as to be expressed in quarterly terms
 - German Day to Day money market rate monthly average (BDSU0101R)
 - Czech Discount Rate (640015045)
 - Hungarian Central Bank Base Rate (870002307)
 - Polish Central Bank Rediscount Rate (POOIR037)
- The quarterly change in the exchange rate is computed as a log difference of the bilateral nominal exchange rate between Euro and EEC currency
 - German Mark to US \$ (USWGMRK)
 - Czech Koruna to US \$ (USCZECK)
 - Hungarian Forint to US \$ (USHUNGF)
 - Polish Zloty to US \$ (USPOLZL)

2.B Log-linearisation of the Phillips Curve

The log-linearisation of the equations (2.42), (2.43) and (2.44) straightforwardly leads respectively to

$$\hat{p}_t^f = \hat{j}_t - \hat{h}_t,$$

$$\hat{j}_{t} = (1 - \alpha\beta (\Pi_{H})^{\varepsilon}) \left(\hat{y}_{t} - \sigma\hat{c}_{t} + \widehat{m}c_{t} + \widetilde{p}_{H,t} + v_{t}\right) + \alpha\beta (\Pi_{H})^{\varepsilon} \left(\varepsilon\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} + \hat{j}_{t+1}\right),$$
$$\hat{h}_{t} = (1 - \alpha\beta\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}) \left(\hat{y}_{t} - \sigma\hat{c}_{t}\right) + (\alpha\beta)\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1} \left(\varepsilon\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} - \hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \hat{h}_{t+1}\right),$$

from which I can obtain the forward looking price in log-linearised term as

$$\hat{p}_{t}^{f} = \alpha\beta \left[\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1} - \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \right] (\hat{y}_{t} - \sigma\hat{c}_{t}) + (1 - \alpha\beta (\Pi)^{\varepsilon}) \left(\widehat{mc}_{t} + \tilde{p}_{H,t} + v_{t} \right) + \alpha\beta \left\{ \Pi^{\varepsilon}\varepsilon\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} - \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\varepsilon\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} \right\} + (\alpha\beta) \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \alpha\beta \left[\bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon}\hat{j}_{t+1} - \bar{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\hat{h}_{t+1} \right].$$

The log-linearisation of equations (1.20), (1.22) deliver respectively

$$\tilde{p}_t^b = \tilde{x}_{t-1} + \hat{\pi}_{H,t-1} - \hat{\pi}_t,$$
$$\hat{x}_t = (1 - \omega) \, \hat{p}_t^f + \omega \hat{p}_t^b.$$

The domestic price dynamics in relative terms given in equation (2.47) is loglinearised as

$$\hat{\pi}_t = \frac{1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}}{\alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}} \tilde{x}_t + \frac{\alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1} \tilde{p}_{H, t - 1} - \tilde{p}_{H, t}}{\alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1}}.$$

Combining all these equations together delivers a hybrid NKPC of a form

$$\left(\alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1} + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \left(\overline{\Pi}^{-1} - \beta\right)\right)\right) \left(\hat{\pi}_{t} + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t}\right) = \alpha \beta \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \left(\hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t+1}\right) + \omega \left(\hat{\pi}_{t-1} + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t-1}\right) + \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon-1}\right) \left(1 - \omega\right) \left(1 - \alpha \beta \left(\Pi\right)^{\varepsilon}\right) \left(\widehat{mc}_{t} + v_{t}\right) + \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon-1}\right) \left(1 - \omega\right) \alpha \beta \left(\overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} - \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1}\right) \cdot \left[\hat{h}_{t+1} + (\varepsilon - 1) \left(\hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t+1}\right) + \left(\sigma \hat{c}_{t} - \hat{y}_{t}\right) + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t+1}\right]$$

Using (2.20), which log-linearised delivers

$$\hat{\pi}_t + \Delta \tilde{p}_{H,t} = \hat{\pi}_{H,t},$$

simplifies the hybrid NKPC. After collecting the terms together and using the definition of \hat{h}_t above, the Phillips curve with backward looking firms linearising around a non-zero steady state inflation yields

$$\left(\alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1} + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \left(\overline{\Pi}^{-1} - \beta\right)\right)\right) \hat{\pi}_{H,t} = \alpha \beta \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} + \omega \hat{\pi}_{H,t-1} + \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon-1}\right) \left(1 - \omega\right) \left(1 - \alpha \beta \left(\Pi\right)^{\varepsilon}\right) \left(\widehat{mc}_{t} + v_{t}\right) \cdot \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon-1}\right) \left(1 - \omega\right) \left(\overline{\Pi}^{-1} - 1\right) \alpha \beta \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon-1} \left[\hat{h}_{t+1} + \varepsilon \hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} - \hat{\pi}_{t+1} + \sigma \hat{c}_{t} - \hat{y}_{t}\right].$$

Written in terms of parameters

$$\hat{\pi}_{H,t} = \chi^{f} E_{t} \left[\hat{\pi}_{H,t+1} \right] + \chi^{b} \hat{\pi}_{H,t-1} + \kappa_{mc} \left(\widehat{mc}_{t} + v_{t} \right) + \chi^{\pi} \left(\hat{h}_{t} - (\hat{y}_{t} - \sigma \hat{c}_{t}) \right)$$

with parameters

$$\Psi = \alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon - 1} + \omega \left(1 - \alpha \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} \left(\overline{\Pi}^{-1} - \beta \right) \right)$$

$$\chi^{f} = \alpha \beta \overline{\Pi}^{\varepsilon} / \Psi, \chi^{b} = \omega / \Psi,$$

$$\kappa_{mc} = \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1} \right) \left(1 - \omega \right) \left(1 - \alpha \beta \Pi^{\varepsilon} \right) / \Psi$$

$$\chi^{\pi} = \left(1 - \alpha \Pi^{\varepsilon - 1} \right) \left(1 - \omega \right) \left(\overline{\Pi}^{-1} - 1 \right).$$

2.C Quantitative Implications of Positive Trend Inflation

In this appendix I illustrate the quantitative implications of positive trend inflation on the IRFs, *e.g.*, the quantitative difference between the two approaches A1 and A2. For illustration, I use the estimation results for Czech Republic and PPI inflation targeting.

Domestic T	FP Shock						
	Inflation			Interest Rate	2		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
0.00	-0.0068	0.0106	-0.0155	-0.0362	0.0018		
0.004	45 0.0067	0.0112	-0.0076	-0.0254	-0.0050		
0.004	0.0022	0.0020	-0.0021	-0.0121	-0.0089		
0.003	38 0.0039	-0.0017	0.0011	0.0025	-0.0008		
0.003	35 0.0059	-0.0018	0.0031	0.0026	-0.0001		
0.003	35 0.0097	-0.0001	0.0046	0.0038	0.0054		
0.003	0.0092	-0.0006	0.0057	0.0091	0.0110		
0.004	40 0.0101	-0.0003	0.0065	0.0109	0.0134		
0.004	43 0.0113	0.0008	0.0070	0.0130	0.0139		
0.004	47 0.0112	0.0009	0.0074	0.0105	0.0095		
	Output		Re	Real Exchange Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
0.023	36 0.0031	0.0614	0.0180	-0.0142	0.0731		
-0.002	-0.0822	-0.0040	0.0013	-0.0726	0.0065		
-0.025	55 -0.0974	0.0290	-0.0107	-0.1082	0.0076		
-0.042	-0.1610	0.0030	-0.0172	-0.1309	0.0104		
-0.055	-0.1304	0.0336	-0.0200	-0.1281	0.0158		
-0.064	41 -0.1394	0.0165	-0.0203	-0.1113	0.0199		
-0.070	-0.1686	-0.0302	-0.0191	-0.1081	0.0111		
-0.074	-0.1451	-0.0197	-0.0171	-0.0975	0.0222		
-0.072	-0.1353	-0.0336	-0.0146	-0.0889	0.0190		
-0.079	96 -0.1159	-0.0383	-0.0119	-0.0692	0.0277		

Domestic Monetary	Policy	Shock
--------------------------	--------	-------

	Inflation			Interest Rate		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	
0.0019	0.0154	0.0181	-0.0127	-0.0044	-0.0312	
-0.0007	-0.0136	0.0064	0.0000	-0.0049	0.0114	
-0.0025	0.0004	-0.0034	0.0004	-0.0026	0.0047	
-0.0016	0.0008	-0.0086	-0.0005	-0.0020	-0.0008	
-0.0005	0.0005	0.0001	-0.0006	-0.0004	-0.0007	
0.0000	-0.0019	0.0080	-0.0004	0.0000	-0.0009	
0.0001	-0.0071	0.0021	-0.0002	-0.0002	-0.0003	
0.0001	-0.0054	0.0029	-0.0001	-0.0002	0.0001	
0.0001	-0.0037	0.0021	-0.0001	-0.0001	0.0004	
0.0001	-0.0026	0.0008	-0.0001	0.0000	0.0005	
	Output		Re	al Exchange R	ate	
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	
0.0213	0.0404	-0.0018	0.0224	0.0434	0.0657	
-0.0028	-0.0194	-0.0204	0.0078	-0.0346	-0.0175	
-0.0034	-0.0144	-0.0158	0.0085	-0.0258	0.0145	
-0.0001	0.0016	-0.0013	0.0115	-0.0069	0.0378	
0.0011	-0.0011	0.0041	0.0125	-0.0025	0.0249	
0.0010	-0.0050	0.0007	0.0125	0.0406	0.0519	
0.0006	-0.0043	-0.0013	0.0122	0.0369	0.0345	
0.0002	-0.0020	-0.0018	0.0118	0.0323	0.0160	
0.0000	0.0010	0.0003	0.0115	0.0216	0.0029	
-0.0003	0.0010	0.0002	0.0113	0.0138	-0.0037	
Domestic Cost	Push Shock					

	Inflation			Interest Rate	•		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0090	-0.0025	-0.0057	-0.0060	-0.0069	-0.0093		
-0.0055	-0.0049	-0.0088	-0.0078	-0.0009	-0.0121		
-0.0027	0.0027	-0.0031	-0.0042	-0.0022	-0.0124		
-0.0019	0.0025	-0.0044	-0.0015	0.0024	-0.0005		
-0.0017	0.0028	-0.0030	-0.0002	0.0015	-0.0002		
-0.0015	0.0006	-0.0041	0.0004	0.0013	0.0015		
-0.0012	-0.0010	-0.0032	0.0006	0.0014	0.0021		
-0.0009	-0.0004	-0.0010	0.0007	-0.0002	0.0009		
-0.0006	0.0008	0.0005	0.0008	0.0009	0.0014		
-0.0004	-0.0002	0.0005	0.0008	0.0004	0.0014		
	Output		Re	Real Exchange Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0031	0.0107	0.0246	-0.0144	-0.0121	0.0139		
0.0044	0.0112	0.0109	-0.0114	-0.0197	0.0012		
-0.0009	0.0330	0.0275	-0.0137	-0.0277	-0.0105		
-0.0064	0.0317	0.0186	-0.0152	-0.0330	-0.0049		
-0.0091	-0.0258	-0.0216	-0.0147	-0.0214	0.0139		
-0.0100	-0.0166	-0.0036	-0.0132	-0.0312	0.0092		
-0.0099	-0.0123	0.0049	-0.0114	-0.0223	0.0052		
-0.0093	-0.0197	0.0002	-0.0096	-0.0093	0.0154		
-0.0086	-0.0239	-0.0032	-0.0079	-0.0197	0.0003		
-0.0077	-0.0180	0.0005	-0.0065	-0.0042	0.0072		

Domestic Im	porter	Cost P	Push	Shock
--------------------	--------	--------	------	-------

	Inflation			Interest Rate	
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior
0.0465	0.0032	-0.0448	0.0041	-0.0192	0.0155
0.0602	0.0048	-0.0345	0.0141	0.0004	0.0154
0.0503	0.0022	-0.0077	0.0149	-0.0013	0.0112
0.0341	0.0045	0.0179	0.0123	0.0006	0.0160
0.0188	-0.0066	0.0219	0.0091	0.0002	0.0104
0.0064	-0.0064	0.0062	0.0063	0.0003	0.0045
-0.0028	-0.0386	0.0007	0.0040	0.0001	0.0019
-0.0091	-0.0205	0.0054	0.0022	0.0002	-0.0004
-0.0132	-0.0290	0.0074	0.0009	-0.0009	-0.0015
-0.0155	-0.0227	0.0087	0.0000	-0.0024	-0.0032
	Output		Re	al Exchange R	ate
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior
-0.0214	-0.0309	-0.0002	-0.0710	0.0264	-0.0044
0.0108	0.0000	-0.0187	-0.1134	0.0637	-0.0081
0.0298	0.0008	-0.0045	-0.1595	0.1690	-0.0129
0.0417	0.0034	0.0055	-0.1950	0.1948	-0.0075
0.0486	0.0017	0.0051	-0.2168	0.1497	-0.0141
0.0517	0.0045	0.0146	-0.2265	0.0585	-0.0270
0.0523	0.0053	0.0163	-0.2266	0.0830	-0.0307
0.0511	0.0040	0.0047	-0.2198	0.1432	-0.0326
0.0488	0.0046	0.0034	-0.2085	0.2364	-0.0129
0.0457	0.0038	0.0065	-0.1944	0.1664	-0.0100
Domestic Pref	erence Shock				

	Inflation			Interest Date			
	Innation			Interest Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0116	-0.0003	-0.0056	-0.0190	-0.0246	-0.0174		
-0.0097	-0.0082	-0.0124	-0.0214	-0.0377	-0.0284		
-0.0079	-0.0175	-0.0068	-0.0152	-0.0213	-0.0193		
-0.0079	-0.0145	0.0049	-0.0099	-0.0141	-0.0098		
-0.0080	-0.0204	-0.0042	-0.0063	-0.0053	-0.0045		
-0.0077	-0.0155	-0.0051	-0.0037	-0.0010	0.0023		
-0.0069	-0.0028	-0.0004	-0.0018	-0.0009	0.0021		
-0.0060	-0.0018	-0.0038	-0.0002	0.0028	0.0038		
-0.0049	0.0007	-0.0008	0.0011	0.0010	0.0034		
-0.0038	0.0032	0.0006	0.0021	0.0018	0.0051		
	Output		Re	Real Exchange Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0404	-0.0428	-0.0390	-0.0382	-0.1017	-0.0753		
-0.0246	-0.0460	-0.0437	-0.0456	-0.0617	-0.0027		
-0.0300	-0.0626	-0.0538	-0.0573	-0.1117	-0.0278		
-0.0374	-0.0610	-0.0386	-0.0646	-0.1145	-0.0473		
-0.0422	-0.0437	-0.0152	-0.0666	-0.1586	-0.0770		
-0.0448	-0.0419	-0.0048	-0.0648	-0.1793	-0.0816		
-0.0462	-0.0651	-0.0203	-0.0609	-0.0877	0.0307		
-0.0468	-0.0811	-0.0230	-0.0557	-0.1295	0.0003		
-0.0468	-0.0841	-0.0276	-0.0500	-0.1369	-0.0004		
-0.0464	-0.0896	-0.0246	-0.0440	-0.1268	0.0074		

Foreign TFP	Shock						
	Inflation			Interest Rate	1		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0048	-0.0078	-0.0006	-0.0037	-0.0040	-0.0011		
-0.0043	-0.0087	-0.0041	-0.0030	-0.0062	0.0033		
-0.0034	-0.0056	-0.0062	-0.0021	-0.0019	0.0042		
-0.0029	-0.0019	-0.0025	-0.0016	-0.0034	0.0014		
-0.0025	-0.0022	-0.0018	-0.0013	-0.0037	-0.0017		
-0.0023	-0.0049	-0.0037	-0.0012	-0.0025	-0.0020		
-0.0021	-0.0003	-0.0017	-0.0011	-0.0011	-0.0010		
-0.0020	0.0008	-0.0007	-0.0010	-0.0019	-0.0018		
-0.0019	0.0006	-0.0017	-0.0010	-0.0018	-0.0020		
-0.0017	0.0008	-0.0021	-0.0010	-0.0011	-0.0010		
	Output			Real Exchange Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
-0.0116	-0.0191	-0.0182	-0.0215	-0.0120	-0.0013		
-0.0090	-0.0249	-0.0073	-0.0163	-0.0230	-0.0159		
-0.0113	-0.0160	-0.0020	-0.0147	-0.0142	-0.0101		
-0.0131	-0.0239	-0.0153	-0.0137	-0.0045	-0.0022		
-0.0141	-0.0208	-0.0126	-0.0128	0.0255	0.0228		
-0.0147	-0.0327	-0.0230	-0.0122	0.0221	0.0069		
-0.0152	-0.0284	-0.0165	-0.0116	0.0243	0.0102		
-0.0156	-0.0258	-0.0111	-0.0111	0.0127	0.0086		
-0.0160	-0.0233	-0.0065	-0.0107	0.0162	0.0185		
-0.0163	-0.0244	-0.0080	-0.0104	0.0010	0.0105		
Foreign Mone	Foreign Monetary Policy Shock						
	Inflation			Interest Rat	e		

Inflation				Interest Rate		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	
-0.0035	0.0011	-0.0056	-0.0073	-0.0054	-0.0113	
-0.0005	0.0000	-0.0019	-0.0002	0.0008	0.0000	
-0.0006	-0.0008	-0.0001	0.0000	0.0002	0.0008	
-0.0007	-0.0014	-0.0005	-0.0005	-0.0010	-0.0005	
-0.0004	-0.0010	-0.0005	-0.0004	-0.0008	-0.0002	
-0.0002	-0.0002	0.0000	-0.0002	-0.0003	0.0000	
-0.0001	-0.0001	0.0001	0.0000	-0.0001	0.0000	
-0.0001	-0.0002	0.0002	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	
-0.0001	-0.0004	0.0001	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	
-0.0001	-0.0003	0.0001	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	
	Output		R	eal Exchange F	Rate	
Mean	Output HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Re Mean	e al Exchange F HPDinferior	Rate HPDsuperior	
Mean 0.0068	Output HPDinferior 0.0000	HPDsuperior 0.0086	Re Mean -0.0056	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076	Re Mean -0.0056 -0.0062	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022	Ro Mean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014 -0.0013	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008 -0.0001	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025 -0.0003	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006 0.0005	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038 -0.0020	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038 -0.0030	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014 -0.0013 0.0003	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008 -0.0001 0.0002	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025 -0.0003 0.0000	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006 0.0005 0.0006	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038 -0.0020 -0.0013	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038 -0.0030 -0.0031	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014 -0.0013 0.0003 0.0008	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008 -0.0001 0.0002 0.0003	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025 -0.0003 0.0000 -0.0001	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006 0.0005 0.0006 0.0005	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038 -0.0020 -0.0013 -0.0010	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038 -0.0030 -0.0031 -0.0026	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014 -0.0013 0.0003 0.0008 0.0005	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008 -0.0001 0.0002 0.0003 0.0003	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025 -0.0003 0.0000 -0.0001 -0.0001	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006 0.0005 0.0006 0.0005 0.0004	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038 -0.0020 -0.0013 -0.0010 -0.0009	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038 -0.0030 -0.0031 -0.0026 -0.0011	Rate HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0025 -0.0014 -0.0013 0.0003 0.0008 0.0005 0.0012	
Mean 0.0068 0.0065 0.0000 -0.0008 -0.0001 0.0002 0.0003 0.0002 0.0002	Output HPDinferior 0.0000 0.0051 -0.0014 -0.0025 -0.0003 0.0000 -0.0001 -0.0001 0.0000	HPDsuperior 0.0086 0.0076 0.0022 -0.0006 0.0005 0.0006 0.0005 0.0004 0.0004	Rean -0.0056 -0.0062 -0.0063 -0.0038 -0.0020 -0.0013 -0.0010 -0.0009 -0.0008	eal Exchange F HPDinferior -0.0107 -0.0135 -0.0065 -0.0038 -0.0030 -0.0031 -0.0026 -0.0011 -0.0012	HPDsuperior -0.0024 -0.0014 -0.0013 0.0003 0.0008 0.0005 0.0012	

Foreign Cost P	ush Shock						
Inflation				Interest Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
0.0010	0.0010	0.0012	0.0017	0.0019	0.0021		
0.9111	0.7828	0.0001	-0.0007	0.0001	-0.0016		
0.1635	0.4806	0.0005	-0.0010	0.0002	-0.0015		
0.3048	-0.3643	0.0000	-0.0006	-0.0007	-0.0006		
0.4432	-0.0753	-0.0002	-0.0003	-0.0002	-0.0004		
0.3688	0.4028	0.0001	-0.0001	0.0004	-0.0002		
0.2209	0.5370	-0.0002	0.0000	0.0001	-0.0005		
0.0852	0.3754	-0.0004	0.0000	0.0001	-0.0005		
-0.0199	-0.3155	-0.0006	0.0000	0.0002	-0.0003		
-0.0963	-0.7545	0.0002	0.0000	0.0002	-0.0002		
	Output		Re	Real Exchange Rate			
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior		
0.0021	0.0052	0.0018	0.0004	0.0003	-0.0009		
0.0005	-0.0002	-0.0002	-0.0001	-0.0008	0.0016		
0.0021	0.0031	0.0003	0.0012	0.0015	-0.0008		
0.0026	0.0045	0.0006	0.0014	-0.0006	-0.0032		
0.0024	0.0047	0.0017	0.0009	-0.0055	-0.0052		
0.0021	0.0028	0.0007	0.0004	-0.0017	0.0028		
0.0018	0.0029	0.0017	-0.0002	-0.0038	0.0046		
0.0015	0.0028	0.0024	-0.0006	-0.0066	0.0043		
0.0013	0.0025	0.0028	-0.0009	-0.0067	0.0046		
0.0011	0.0013	0.0022	-0.0011	-0.0096	0.0019		
Foreign Prefer	oreign Preference Shock						
	Inflation			Interest Rate	9		

Inflation			Interest Rate		
Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Mean	HPDinferior	HPDsuperior
0.0029	0.0093	-0.0088	0.0047	0.0054	0.0134
-0.0013	-0.0040	-0.0287	0.0056	0.0007	0.0069
-0.0023	0.0109	0.0005	0.0032	-0.0042	-0.0016
-0.0013	-0.0045	-0.0099	0.0019	0.0017	0.0035
0.0001	0.0035	0.0019	0.0015	0.0017	0.0005
0.0011	0.0012	-0.0007	0.0014	0.0049	0.0021
0.0020	0.0011	-0.0028	0.0014	0.0047	0.0019
0.0025	0.0044	-0.0017	0.0014	0.0065	0.0029
0.0029	0.0106	0.0019	0.0013	0.0057	0.0008
0.0031	0.0061	-0.0018	0.0013	0.0068	0.0017
Output					
	Output		Re	al Exchange R	ate
Mean	Output HPDinferior	HPDsuperior	Re Mean	al Exchange R HPDinferior	ate HPDsuperior
Mean -0.0159	Output HPDinferior -0.0355	HPDsuperior -0.0465	Re Mean -0.0927	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0305	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0305 -0.0290	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149 -0.0136	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139 -0.0071	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713 -0.0637	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989 -0.0438	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120 -0.1453
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0305 -0.0290 -0.0283	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149 -0.0136 -0.0076	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139 -0.0071 -0.0033	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713 -0.0637 -0.0577	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989 -0.0438 -0.0501	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120 -0.1453 -0.1602
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0305 -0.0290 -0.0283 -0.0276	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149 -0.0136 -0.0076 -0.0041	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139 -0.0071 -0.0033 -0.0027	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713 -0.0637 -0.0577 -0.0529	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989 -0.0438 -0.0501 -0.0065	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120 -0.1453 -0.1602 -0.1005
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0305 -0.0290 -0.0283 -0.0276 -0.0270	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149 -0.0136 -0.0076 -0.0041 -0.0064	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139 -0.0071 -0.0033 -0.0027 -0.0083	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713 -0.0637 -0.0577 -0.0529 -0.0490	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989 -0.0438 -0.0501 -0.0065 -0.0660	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120 -0.1453 -0.1602 -0.1005 -0.1382
Mean -0.0159 -0.0351 -0.0334 -0.0290 -0.0283 -0.0276 -0.0270 -0.0264	Output HPDinferior -0.0355 -0.0231 -0.0108 -0.0149 -0.0136 -0.0076 -0.0041 -0.0064 -0.0055	HPDsuperior -0.0465 -0.0402 -0.0124 -0.0139 -0.0071 -0.0033 -0.0027 -0.0083 -0.0134	Re Mean -0.0927 -0.0920 -0.0812 -0.0713 -0.0637 -0.0577 -0.0529 -0.0490 -0.0458	al Exchange R HPDinferior -0.0336 -0.0914 -0.0600 -0.0989 -0.0438 -0.0501 -0.0065 -0.0660 -0.0068	ate HPDsuperior -0.1075 -0.1739 -0.1391 -0.2120 -0.1453 -0.1602 -0.1005 -0.1382 -0.0422

Chapter 3

Impact of Foreign Monetary Policy on Eastern European Countries

3.1 Introduction

The goal of this paper is to show the impact of US monetary policy shocks on real output and price levels in several Eastern European countries (EEC). Particularly, I am interested in assessing how much of the movement is generated directly by the US monetary movements in the policy shock and how much indirectly through changes in German aggregate demand caused by this shock, under the assumption that the economic performances in Germany and the EEC are closely related. My starting point is the presumption that US monetary policy shocks might have a significant influence on these countries. Nonetheless, it can be argued that Germany is a major trading partner for all the EEC. It attracts between 25 to 30 percent of the total exports from each of these countries and the EEC are also substantial importers of goods produced in Germany. These relationships are not reciprocal, which suggest that the EEC can be characterised as SOE relative to Germany. It follows from the data that the openness of the EEC towards Germany should be significantly stronger than the one towards the US market. An analogous relationship can be found between Germany and the US. Since the US is an important export partner for Germany, covering a 7 percent export share, but not vice versa, Germany might be therefore regarded as a small open economy (SOE) relative to the US.

Because the data suggests that the EEC are more open towards Germany than the US, one may expect that the effect of the US shock is significantly weaker than the one generated by German Bundesbank/ECB. In this paper, I show that this is not the case: even if I control for the US impact through Germany (by including German variables), the strength of the effects of both shocks on EEC variables are comparable.

I choose the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic as representatives of the EEC, countries that share similar characteristics. They started their economic transition in the early 1990's and rapidly opened their economies to Western trade and investment. For these countries the early 90's were characterised by higher inflation especially in Hungary and Poland caused by price liberalisation. During this period the exchange rate was pegged to a basket of currencies but during the second half of 1990's, they all adopted flexible exchange rate regime. The main part of the transition was finished and the economy system of these countries stabilised. In this chapter, I run three different estimations. First, I estimate the direct influence of the U.S. monetary policy shock on the crucial variables of the EEC. Second, I repeat this estimation using Germany monetary policy shock instead. Both estimations are in line with the mainstream theory. According to the Dornbush-Mundell-Fleming model, the unanticipated increase in the large economy interest rate can have two contradictory effects on the variables of a SOE; the expenditure switching effect and the income absorption effect.¹ The resulting impact can lead to different reactions of the domestic output when the interest rate in the large country changes. The third estimation contains, beside the EEC, both large countries, Germany and the US, where it is assumed that Germany is open towards the US and closed towards the EEC. The objective is to investigate how much of the monetary policy shock generated by the FED is absorbed by Germany and how much is instead directly transmitted to the EEC.

The analysis is performed using a Bayesian Vector Autoregressive Model (BVAR). In contrast to the maximum likelihood method, whose estimates are based purely on the information contained in the data, Bayesian analysis departs from this approach by allowing me to incorporate prior beliefs about the parameters into the estimation process. Therefore, I can identify the foreign monetary shock using sign contemporaneous restrictions and also threat all foreign variables as exogenous using zero restrictions in a long run. Following Banbura et al. (2008), I implement the natural conjugate prior via artificial observation. This involves generating artificial data from the model assumed under the prior and mixing this with the actual data. The weight placed on the artificial data regulates how tightly the prior is imposed and I explain the all procedure in more details later.

¹This mechanism is described in more details in Section 3.4.

The dataset available for the EEC is not very rich. To allow for a cross country comparison, I am forced to opt for relatively short time series. As a result, I use data starting in 1994. Therefore, the number of observations is limited, hence I restrain the number of variables too, by focusing on the movement in key macroeconomic variables such as CPI inflation and GDP growth.

The structure of this paper is as follows. The next section discusses the relevant literature. Section 3.2 gives more details about the VAR model adopted for the estimations. Section 3.3 describes the structural analysis for each country, including the impulse response functions, forecast error variance decomposition (FEVD) and historical decomposition. Section 3.4 compares results of this chapter with the ones of Chapter 2. Finally, Section 3.5 concludes.

3.1.1 Literature Review

A vast recent literature analyses exogenous disturbances generated at home or abroad and their impact on other macroeconomic variables. Several studies, including Gordon and Leeper (1994), Uhlig (2005) and Canova and Gambetti (2003), investigate the US monetary policy shock and its impact on the US macroeconomic variables. Similarly, Kim (1999) studies the effects of domestic monetary policy shocks in individual G-7 countries and Kim (2001a) shows the effect of the (domestic) monetary policy shock on the trade balance in small European countries such as France, UK and Italy, using German and US interest rate as a proxy for a world-wide short term interest rate. Furthermore, various authors study the impact of foreign shocks on SOE. Kim (2001b) analyses the effect of US monetary policy on the exchange rate and foreign trade balances on other G-6 countries. He shows that an expansionary US monetary policy shock generates positive spillover effects. Canova (2005) studies the transmission of US shocks on Latin countries and finds that the foreign monetary policy shock produces more fluctuations than real demand and supply shocks generated abroad. Additionally, Mackowiak (2007) finds that US monetary shocks are an important source of macroeconomic fluctuations for small emerging markets in South East Asia and Latin America. These shocks explain more of the variation of real aggregate output and the price level in those countries than the domestic monetary shocks.

Some authors also investigate the effect of monetary policy shocks on EEC. For example, Anzuini and Levy (2007) examine the effects of an EEC domestic monetary policy shock in a given EEC on its own key macroeconomic variables. Mackowiak (2006) studies the effect of ECB monetary policy shocks on those variables. My work is closely related to these two papers; I am investigating a new channel of foreign monetary policy influence. Using a method similar to Kim (2001b) and Canova (2005), I am interested in the impact of US monetary policy shocks on macroeconomic variables on the EEC. I use Mackowiak's (2006) argument that these countries are open to exogenous disturbances and show that a monetary shock that originates in the US can explain at least the same amount of EEC macroeconomic fluctuations as a shock generated by the European Central Bank (and previously by the Deutsche Bundesbank).

There are several possibilities for how to define a monetary policy shock. In most papers, including Mackowiak (2007), authors use interest rates set by central banks, whereas in other contributions, including Canova (2005), economists use the slope of the term structure of nominal interest rate and real balances. In this
work, I follow the mainstream and use the quarterly change in the Federal Reserve funds rate as a source of the monetary policy shock.

In this paper, the BVAR methodology adopted relates to the methodology used by Kim (2001 and 2001b), Canova (2005) and Mackowiak (2006, 2007). The longrun zero restrictions for SOE are based on different findings from Cushman and Zha (1995), Kim and Roubini (2000) and Kim (1999). The sign restrictions are generated in a similar fashion as in Canova (2005) and Scholl and Uhlig (2005), using an algorithm developed by Ramirez *et al.* (2010). Finally, I impose the prior in my model using artificial observations following the work from Banbura *et al.* (2008).

The field of VAR econometrics is wide and several alternative approaches can be found in the literature. A number of papers raise some concerns about small scale SVAR and develop alternative methods. For example, Factor-augmented VARs (FAVARs), developed by Bernanke *et al.* (2005) incorporate more information so that the monetary policy shock can be better identified. Muntaz and Surico (2007) use this approach to analyse the effect of world wide monetary policy shocks on a SOE. They show that an expansionary monetary policy shock causes a domestic nominal exchange rate appreciation and an increase in prices and in GDP (a prosper thy-neighbor situation). The Global VAR (GVAR) approach, proposed by Pesaran *et al.* (2002) and di Mauro *et al.* (2007), employs a vector error correction model for individual countries and combines the result to generate an estimate for all the variables simultaneously. Yet another methodology can be found in Canova and Ciccarelli (2006). Using a multi-country panel VAR model with time varying coefficients and cross unit interdependencies, these authors study the transmission of different shocks on G7 countries focusing on GDP growth and CPI inflation, and emphasise that this model is suitable for the study of the transmission of monetary policy shocks across economic areas and sectors.

3.2 Methodology

Testing the impact of monetary and fiscal policy is not a new idea. For example, Anderson and Jordan (1964) investigate the impact of a change in the monetary base on real GNP using a simple autoregressive model. However, their approach was criticized by Sims (1980) because of the missing feedback between GNP and the monetary base. This author went on proposing a vector autoregressive (VAR) model to analyse the monetary policy shock and its impact on endogenous variables. Since then, VAR models have been frequently used to identify the channels of monetary policy transmission. During the following twenty years, VAR models became very popular as an econometric technique for analysing the relationships between different endogenous variables. Ever since, the VAR approach has mainly been used to analyse the effects of a shock on macroeconomic variables using tools such as impulse response functions, FEVD and historical decomposition.

The literature generally distinguishes between reduced-form and structural VAR models, depending on whether the shocks are correlated or orthogonal to each other. Furthermore, putting some restrictions into the model leads to a restricted VAR, otherwise the model is described as unrestricted VAR. Orthogonalising the shocks can either follow directly from a Cholesky decomposition of the error terms covariance matrix, or from using restrictions derived from an economic interpre-

tation of the model. The first is also known in the literature as recursive VAR.² At the moment, it appears that no clear consensus has formed in the literature regarding whether restrictions following from the Cholesky decomposition should be based on theory. On the one hand, Stock and Watson (2001) p.18 emphasise, "It is tempting to develop economic "theories" that, conveniently, lead to a particular recursive ordering of the variables. Rarely does it add value to repackage a recursive VAR and sell it as structural." On the other hand, there are authors, *e.g.* Gottschalk (2001), stating that when using a Cholesky decomposition, the restrictions need to be supported by theoretical interpretation. Canova (2007) argues that a Cholesky decomposition without any economic interpretations may be misleading.

To explore my research question in this chapter, I follow Canova (2007) and use a structural VAR with sign restrictions. I aim to apply a model that is consistent with the economic theory, mainly to avoid a misspecification of the monetary policy shock that, if positive, should lead to a contemporaneous increase in interest rate and a contemporaneous fall in output and inflation and not a contemporaneous zero response of output and inflation as implied by Cholesky decomposition, for example.

3.2.1 The reduced-form VAR

The reduced-form VAR model is the most general formulation within the VAR family and can be described as follows. Consider T observations of m variables. Take a VAR(p) process, where p is the number of lags of the process with linear

 $^{^{2}}$ C.f. Stock and Watson (2005).

structure, to estimate the relationship among a set of endogenous variables as follows

$$Y_t = BX_t + \epsilon_t \tag{3.1}$$

with $X_t = (Y_{t-1}, ..., Y_{t-p}, 1)'$ and $B = (B_{1,...}, B_p, C)$, where Y_t is a $m \times 1$ vector of endogenous variables in period t. The intercept term C is a $m \times 1$ vector, which allows for the possibility of a nonzero $E[Y_t]$, B(j), for j = 1, ..., p, is a $m \times m$ matrix of regressors. The residual ϵ_t is a Gaussian white noise with zero mean (*i.e.* $E[\epsilon_t] = 0$) and variance-covariance matrix Σ exhibiting the following characteristics

$$E[\epsilon_t \epsilon'_s] = \Sigma \text{ if } t = s, \qquad (3.2)$$
$$E[\epsilon_t \epsilon'_s] = 0 \text{ if } t \neq s.$$

It is possible to incorporate some restrictions that have an economic interpretation into this model. However, as long as the number of restriction is insufficient, there is a lack of structure in this model. That means the error terms are correlated with each other and the identification of the individual shocks is difficult.

3.2.2 The Structural VAR

Several techniques can be adopted to impose structure on the VAR model. All aim to obtain consistent estimators, which means that the shocks must be orthogonolised and identified uniquely. Shocks can be orthogonalized by using a Cholesky decomposition of the covariance matrix.³ This recursive VAR approach can lead

³This technique is used by many authors, *e.g.*, Mackowiak (2006).

to restrictions that are not consistent with the theory.⁴ For this reason, many authors prefer to use a structural VAR (SVAR) approach, developed by Sims (1986), which includes restrictions that are in line with economic theory. However, the high number of restrictions needed to properly specify the model complicates its implementation. Therefore, the version of SVAR most frequently used in the literature is a hybrid approach, which uses a Cholesky decomposition together with economically meaningful restrictions. The model presented here belongs to this hybrid approach. Along with a Cholesky decomposition, I restrict the model by imposing specific signs and zero values.

To obtain an orthogonolised error term from equation (3.1), I can use an $m \times m$ matrix A such as

$$Y_t = BX_t + Ae_t,$$

where e_t is an orthogonal white noise vector following from $\epsilon_t = Ae_t$ with an identity variance-covariance matrix given by

$$E[e_t e'_s] = I_m \text{ if } t = s, \qquad (3.3)$$
$$E[e_t e'_s] = 0 \text{ if } t \neq s.$$

It follows from equation (3.2) that

$$E[Ae_te'_tA'] = AA' = \Sigma.$$

In the contemporaneous period, the sign restrictions are implemented in such a way that the impulse responses to a monetary policy shock are consistent with

⁴C.f. Krolzig (2003), Lütkepohl (2005).

the theory. In this respect, I follow Ramirez *et al.* (2010), who provide an efficient algorithm to find the structural impact matrix \tilde{A} , which is consistent with impulse responses of certain signs.

To compute the structural impact matrix \tilde{A} , I draw some matrix $J \sim N(0, 1)$, and take the QR decomposition J = QR to find an orthonormal matrix Q such that it holds $QQ' = I_m$ and $\tilde{A} = AQ$. Therefore, I can write

$$\Sigma = AQQ'A'$$

$$\Sigma = \tilde{A}\tilde{A}'.$$
(3.4)

It is important that the matrix \tilde{A} satisfies the sign restrictions set out below and it still holds that

$$\epsilon_t = \tilde{A}e_t. \tag{3.5}$$

If it does not, I draw another matrix J from the normal distribution and repeat the procedure.

Assume that the identification scheme takes the following form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \{IR^*\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta GDP^*\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^*\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta GDP^{EEC}\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ \epsilon \{XR^{EEC}\} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} + & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ - & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ - & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e \{IR^*\} \\ e \{\Delta GDP^*\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^*\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ e \{XR^{EEC}\} \end{pmatrix}$$

The vector $a_j \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is called an impulse vector if there is some matrix \tilde{A}

such that $\tilde{A}\tilde{A}' = \Sigma$ holds and a_j is the *j*th column of \tilde{A} . The impulse vector yields the instantaneous impulse response of all variables to the structural shock associated with that vector and, in my specification needs to have the following signs: $a_{11} > 0$, $a_{21} < 0$, and $a_{31} < 0$. In other words, the sign restrictions on large economy variables ensure that positive shocks in the interest rate implies a fall in GDP growth and inflation in the US. The impulse responses for the rest of the variables remain unrestricted on sign.

The identification is completed by using zero restrictions on contemporaneous structural parameters so as to ensure that the SOE does not influence the large economy contemporaneously. The dots correspond to freely estimated parameters.⁵

Beside the contemporaneous restrictions, I impose restrictions on lags. Note that the model can be divided into two parts, a first part with a $m_1 \times 1$ vector of the foreign large economy variables (Y_t^*) , and a complementary $(m - m_1) \times 1$ vector of domestic SOE variables $(Y_t^{EEC})^6$

$$Y_t = \begin{pmatrix} Y_t^* \\ Y_t^{EEC} \end{pmatrix}, \epsilon_t = \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_t^* \\ \epsilon_t^{EEC} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.6)

Therefore, the matrix B(j), j = 1, ..., p, can be rewritten as

$$B(j) = \begin{pmatrix} B_{11}(j) & B_{12}(j) \\ B_{21}(j) & B_{22}(j) \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.7)

⁵For a critical survey on contemporanous restrictions, see Fry and Pagan (2011).

⁶In this paper, I assume that Y^* includes interest rate, foreign output, price level, while Y^{EEC} includes domestic output, price level and exchange rate.

where $B_{11}(j)$ is the $m_1 \times m_1$ matrix of coefficients between foreign variables. $B_{12}(j)$ is $(m - m_1) \times m_1$ matrix of coefficients which demonstrate the impact of domestic SOE variables on the variables in the large economy. Following Cushman and Zha (1995), I impose zero restrictions on the prior beliefs that domestic economies are small and cannot influence the US economy with their action at any time, so that $B_{12}(j) = 0$. Analogously, the $m_1 \times (m - m_1)$ matrix $B_{21}(j)$ includes coefficients that measure the impact of the foreign large economy on the domestic SOE variables. The matrix $B_{22}(j)$ is a matrix of coefficients showing the relationship between domestic variables.

Assume that the vector Y_t^* includes three variables of the large economy with the following ordering: the interest rate IR^* , the GDP growth ΔGDP^* and the CPI inflation ΔCPI^* , formally

$$Y_t^* = \begin{pmatrix} IR^* \\ \Delta GDP^* \\ \Delta CPI^* \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.8)

The first line of the system (3.1) represents the monetary policy rule of the large economy with parameters in the first row of $B_{11}(j)$, having the form of a Taylor rule with an interest rate smoothing component.

In the whole system, I identify only the foreign monetary policy shock. Beside the impulse-response functions, the matrix \tilde{A} is used to calculate the FEVD as well as the historical decomposition. As emphasised in the literature, it is not customary to report the estimated VAR coefficients. The reasons are that there is a large number of them, and more importantly, many are not significant, especially for further lags. Therefore it is usual to report the results of the estimations in a summarised way. The most powerful tools in this case are impulse response functions, FEVD and the historical decomposition.

Impulse Response Functions

To isolate the effect of a monetary policy shock, I consider the VAR(p) model in companion form⁷

$$Z_t = \tilde{B}Z_{t-1} + v_t$$

with $Z_t = X_{t+1} = (Y_t, ..., Y_{t-p+1}, 1)'$ and $v_t = (\epsilon_t, 0, ..., 0)'$ are $((m \times p) + 1) \times 1$ vectors of endogenous variables and error terms respectively, where the first row of this is identical to equation (3.1) and the remain rows are trivial. \tilde{B} is a $((m \times p) + 1) \times ((m \times p) + 1)$ matrix given as

$$\tilde{B} = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 & B_2 & \dots & B_{p-1} & B_p & C \\ I_m & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ & \ddots & & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & & I_m & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

I then solve backwards to obtain a moving average (MA) representation, which by ignoring deterministic terms delivers

$$Z_t = \tilde{B}^t Z_0 + \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \tilde{B}^j v_{t-j}.$$
 (3.9)

 $^{^7\}mathrm{The}$ companion form transforms a VAR(p) into a VAR(1) model, see e.g. Canova (2007), chapter 4.

The required impulse response functions are represented in the first m rows of matrix \tilde{B}^j . Therefore, I can ignore deterministic terms because they are not important for the impulse responses and rewrite the equation (3.9) in terms of the reduced-form VAR form. Writing the first $m \times m$ part of matrix \tilde{B}^j given as $\tilde{B}_1^j = \Psi_j$, I obtain

$$Y_t = \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \Psi_j \epsilon_{t-j}.$$
 (3.10)

Together with (3.5), this equation can be rewritten in terms of orthogonolised shocks as

$$Y_t = \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \Phi_j e_{t-j},$$
(3.11)

where $\Phi_j = \Psi_j \tilde{A}$. The equation (3.11) says that as one shock hits the economy

(e.g., interest rate increases by one standard deviation point in period zero), one can see the effect to the system for the next s periods when no further shocks hit the economy. The generic (k, l) element of matrix Φ_j given by $\theta_{kl,j}$ represents the reaction of variable k (in period t + j) to a unit shock experienced by variable l, in period t.

Historical Decomposition

Following Lütkepohl (2011), the historical decomposition of the time series describes the contribution of the structural shock to the observed series. Using equation 3.11, the variable k in period t can be represented as a sum of the structural shocks l = 1, ...L

$$y_{k,t} = \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \left(\theta_{k1,j} e_{1,t-j} + \theta_{k2,j} e_{2,t-j} + \dots \theta_{kL,j} e_{L,t-j} \right).$$

Therefore, it can be shown that the variable $y_{k,t}$ can be decomposed into the sum of the structural shocks. Thus,

$$y_{k,t}^l = \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \theta_{kl,j} e_{l,t-j}$$

is the contribution of a specific structural shock l to the time series of variable y_k .

Forecasting Error Variance Decomposition⁸

Using equation 3.10, I can identify the error in forecasting the VAR s periods into the future as

$$Y_{t+s} - y_{t+s|t} = \epsilon_{t+s} + \Psi_1 \epsilon_{t+s-1} + \Psi_2 \epsilon_{t+s-2} + \dots + \Psi_{s-1} \epsilon_{t+1}.$$
(3.12)

The FEVD is given as a mean square error (MSE) of this s-period ahead forecast, expressed as

$$MSE(y_{t+s|t}) = E\left[\left(Y_{t+s} - y_{t+s|t}\right)\left(Y_{t+s} - y_{t+s|t}\right)'\right]$$
(3.13)
= $\Sigma + \Psi_1 \Sigma \Psi_1' + \Psi_2 \Sigma \Psi_2' + ... + \Psi_{s-1} \Sigma \Psi_{s-1}',$

where $\Sigma = E[\epsilon_t \epsilon'_t]$. The FEVD shows how each of the orthogonolised disturbances $(e_{1t}, ..., e_{mt})$ contributes to this MSE. In terms of structural shocks, I can

 $^{^8 {\}rm For}$ more details, see Hamilton (1994) chapter 11 and Canova (2007) chapter 4.

equivalently write

$$MSE(y_{t+s|t}) = \Sigma + \Psi_{1}\Sigma\Psi_{1}' + \Psi_{2}\Sigma\Psi_{2}' + ... + \Psi_{s-1}\Sigma\Psi_{s-1}'$$

$$= \tilde{A}\tilde{A}' + \Psi_{1}\tilde{A}\tilde{A}'\Psi_{1}' + \Psi_{2}\tilde{A}\tilde{A}'\Psi_{2}' + ... + \Psi_{s-1}\tilde{A}\tilde{A}'\Psi_{s-1}'$$

$$= \Phi_{0}\Phi_{0}' + \Phi_{1}\Phi_{1}' + \Phi_{2}\Phi_{2}' + ... + \Phi_{s-1}\Phi_{s-1}'$$

with $\Phi_0 = \tilde{A}$. The *k*th diagonal element of $\Phi_j \Phi'_j$ is the sum of the squares of the elements in the *k*th row of Φ_j . Moreover, the sum of the *k*th diagonal elements of $\Phi_0 \Phi'_0, ..., \Phi_{s-1} \Phi'_{s-1}$ is the MSE of forecast error variance of the *s*-step forecast of variable Y_j . Hence, the fraction of the variance in $y_{k,t+s|t}$ due to $\epsilon_{l,t}$ is

$$VD_{k,l} = \frac{\theta_{kl,0}^2 + \theta_{kl,1}^2 + \dots + \theta_{kl,s-1}^2}{MSE(y_{k,t+s|t})}$$

where $\theta_{kl,j}^2$ is the (k,l) element of Φ_j .

3.2.3 BVAR with Gibbs Sampling Estimation

In the early stages of the VAR literature, econometric models were usually estimated by using ordinary least squares (OLS) methods. Recently, Bayesian methods have attracted increased attention, because they are generally more precise than standard estimation approaches. Compared to the standard methodology, Bayesian estimations incorporate subjective beliefs or theoretical restrictions about the state of the coefficients. Bayesian methods were introduced by Zellner (1971) and have become more popular in the last twenty years, when the computer software and hardware developed and techniques such as Gibbs sampler were introduced.⁹ In this work, I follow the contemporary literature and apply Bayesian estimation methods using Gibbs sampling to estimate the parameters of the SVAR model presented above.

The Bayesian estimation combines a subjective prior together with sample information. It is based on the Bayes' theorem, which states that

posterior distribution \propto likelihood \times prior distribution.

The likelihood function is taken from the OLS estimation of the data sample.¹⁰ Equivalently, it can be written as

$$R\left(vec\left(B\right)\backslash\Sigma,Y_{t}\right)\propto F\left(Y_{t}\backslash vec\left(B\right),\Sigma\right)\times P\left(vec\left(B\right),\Sigma\right),$$

the posterior distribution $R(vec(B) \setminus \Sigma, Y_t)$ is proportional to the product of the prior distribution $P(vec(B), \Sigma)$ and distribution of the sample as given by the likelihood function $F(Y_t \setminus vec(B), \Sigma)$. The vector vec(B) is a matrix of regressors B in vector form and Σ the variance-covariance matrix. The prior density and the likelihood function are both very important for the correct estimation of the model and therefore it is necessary to specify them fully. There exist several approaches to set the prior. Many authors use the Minnesota prior, developed by Litterman (1986), because of its simplicity, but since I incorporate a prior belief with zero

$$F(Y \setminus vec(B), \Sigma) = (2\pi)^{-Tm/2} |\Sigma^{-1}|^{T/2} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} (y - vec(B)'X)' \Sigma^{-1} (y - vec(B)'X)\right].$$

For more details, see e.g. Hamilton (1994), chapter 11.

⁹C.f. Greene (2003), chapter 18 for more details.

 $^{^{10}\}text{The}$ likelihood function for B and Σ given the data can be expressed as

restrictions, as discussed in Section 3.2, I opt for an independent normal inverse Wishart prior. Technically, I impose this prior by following Banbura *et al.* (2008) and incorporate additional artificial data.

It can be assumed, given the nature of the data, that the matrix of coefficients B is normally distributed

$$P(vec(B)) \sim N(vec(B_0), H), \qquad (3.14)$$

where $vec(B_0)$ is the $((m \times (m \times p + 1)) \times 1)$ vector of prior means for the elements of matrix B. The matrix H is a $((m \times (m \times p + 1)) \times (m \times (m \times p + 1)))$ diagonal matrix, whose elements are the prior variances for each corresponding coefficient from matrix B_0 . As discussed earlier, I impose the strong prior belief that the elements of matrices $B_{12}(j)$, $B_{13}(j)$ and $B_{23}(j)$ equal zero. Therefore, the prior variances of the corresponding elements in matrix H are set to be very low.

Following Zellner (1971), the conjugate prior for a positive definite variancecovariance matrix Σ is an Inverse Wishart prior

$$P\left(\Sigma\right) \sim IW\left(\bar{S},\alpha\right) \tag{3.15}$$

with the prior scale matrix \overline{S} and prior degrees of freedom α .

Given the fact that conjugate prior on B is normal distributed, it can be shown that the posterior distribution of the coefficients conditional on the variancecovariance matrix Σ is given by

$$R(vec(B) \setminus \Sigma, Y_t) \sim N(M^*, V^*),$$

where M^* and V^* are the mean and the variance of this normal distribution, respectively. As shown in Kadiyala and Karlsson (1997), the mean and the variance of the conditional posterior distribution are respectively given by

$$M^{*} = (H^{-1} + \Sigma^{-1} \otimes X'_{t}X_{t})^{-1} (H^{-1}vec(B_{0}) + \Sigma^{-1} \otimes X'_{t}Y_{t})$$
(3.16)
$$V^{*} = (H^{-1} + \Sigma^{-1} \otimes X'_{t}X_{t})^{-1}.$$

Note that M^* is a weighted average of the prior mean $vec(B_0)$ and the OLS estimator, given by $X'_t Y_t$, weighted by the reciprocal of the corresponding variancecovariance matrices. The smaller the values of matrix H elements, the higher the weight on the prior relative to the conditional posterior estimates. In the case where there are no beliefs about the prior, *i.e.* the value of matrix H elements are very large, then the posterior estimates are identical to the maximum likelihood estimator.

Given the prior in equation (3.15), the posterior distribution for Σ conditional on *B* is Inverse Wishart

$$R\left(\Sigma \setminus vec\left(B\right), Y_{t}\right) \sim IW\left(\bar{\Sigma}, T + \alpha\right),$$

where $\bar{\Sigma} = \bar{S} + (Y_t - X_t B)' (Y_t - X_t B)$, with T observations and α degrees of freedom.

Returning to the issue of how to incorporate prior beliefs into the estimation of my VAR model, I follow Banbura *et al.* (2008) and implement prior information by adding artificial data to the system. The artificial data Y_D and X_D are formed by four independent blocks as follows

$$Y_{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{diag(\chi_{1}\sigma_{1}...\chi_{m}\sigma_{m})}{\lambda} \\ 0_{((m\times(p-1))\times m)} \\ \dots \\ diag(\sigma_{1}...\sigma_{m}) \\ \dots \\ 0_{(1\times m)} \\ \dots \\ \frac{diag(\chi_{1}\mu_{1}...\chi_{m}\mu_{m})}{\tau} \end{pmatrix}, X_{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{J_{p}\otimes diag(\sigma_{1}...\sigma_{m})}{\lambda} & 0_{(mp\times 1)} \\ \dots \\ 0_{(m\times mp)} & 0_{(m\times 1)} \\ \dots \\ 0_{(1\times mp)} & c \\ \dots \\ \frac{J_{p}\otimes diag(\chi_{1}\mu_{1}...\chi_{m}\mu_{m})}{\tau} & 0_{(m\times 1)} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(3.17)$$

The first block in each matrix imposes the prior beliefs on the autoregressive coefficients. The second block implements the prior for the variance-covariance matrix and the third block reflects the uninformative prior for the intercept. By adding artificial data in the last row, I incorporate the prior that incorporates the belief that the sum of the coefficients on lags of the dependent variable in each equation sum to 1, *i.e.* that each variable has a unit root. The matrix J_p is given as $J_p = diag(1...p)$. As in Banbura *et al.* (2008), the variance of the prior distribution is defined by hyperparameters that regulate the variation around the prior. The hyper-parameter $\lambda > 0$ controls the overall tightness of the prior so that as $\lambda \to 0$, the prior is implement more tightly, whereas the larger the value of this parameter the more the posterior approaches an OLS estimation of the VAR model. The hyperparameter τ controls for the degree of shrinkage. If τ is large, the prior is imposed loosely. I set $\lambda = 10$ and $\tau = 10\lambda$, implying that the prior on these data is not very informative. The parameter χ_i measures the persistence of variable i, and follows from the OLS estimation of AR(1). Literally, it is a prior mean for the coefficient on the first lag of dependent variable i. The parameter

 μ_i is a sample mean of the variable *i*, and σ_i is a sample standard deviation of error terms. They can both be calculated as sample averages of the time series y_i from the OLS estimation. The matrix Y_D is the $(m(p+2)+1) \times m$ matrix and X_D is a $(m(p+2)+1) \times (mp+1)$ matrix adding (m(p+2)+1) dummies to each time series. These artificial data are mixing with the actual data and the hyperparameters placed on them determine how tightly the prior is imposed. This approach also helps to alleviate the curse of dimensionality in the VAR model.

Following (3.7), some prior coefficients B_0 are restricted to zero on lags. The prior for coefficient matrix $B_0(j)$ has therefore the form given as

$$B_0(j) = \begin{pmatrix} B_{11}^0(j) & 0\\ B_{21}^0(j) & B_{22}^0(j) \end{pmatrix},$$

and incorporates the belief that the coefficients of matrix $B_{12}^0(j)$ for all j = 1, ..., pare close to zero. To ensure that these restrictions are also fulfilled for the posterior, so that the appropriate parameters stay close to zero, it is necessary to set the elements of the prior variance H matrix belonging to these coefficients very close to zero. For the remaining coefficients, regarding the first lag j = 1, the prior mean on its own lag is set equal to 0.95, *e.g.*, the diagonals of matrices $B_{11}(1)$, $B_{22}(1)$ and $B_{33}(1)$ equals 0.95. For all other elements of matrix B(1), the elements are set to be zero. The vector \tilde{C} is a zero vector and matrix B(j), j = 2, ...p, is a zero matrix. The elements of the prior variance H correspond to all the coefficients except those for $B_{12}(j)$, $B_{13}(j)$ and $B_{23}(j)$, which are set to be sufficiently large that these coefficients are mainly determined within the model. To summarise, H is a $((m \times (m \times p + 1)) \times (m \times (m \times p + 1)))$ diagonal matrix, with near-zero elements for coefficients which are believed to be zero, and large elements for the remaining coefficients. The details for a model with three countries are given in Appendix 3.B.

Gibbs Sampling

To carry out the Bayesian inference, I use a Gibbs sampling procedure, which is a posterior Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulation mechanism. Gibbs sampling is a numerical method that uses a great many draws from a conditional distribution to approximate joint and marginal posterior distribution for B and Σ . The reason for using Gibbs sampling to calculate the marginal density is that analytical methods are either unavailable or very complicated.¹¹

The Gibbs algorithm iterates M times and produces draws for B and Σ . Each iteration requires sampling from the conditional posterior distribution, which after the burn-in draws are discarded converges to the marginal distribution. Samples from the beginning of the chain, the first J draws are discarded to remove the influence of starting values. Once draws from the posterior distribution are obtained, I implement a structural analysis to ensure that the sign restrictions hold. Appendix 3.C shows the convergence of the algorithm via recursive mean plots.

The Gibbs algorithm is given as follows.

1. Set the priors for coefficient matrix $p(vec(B)) \sim N(vec(B_0), H)$ and for the variance - covariance matrix $p(\Sigma) \sim IW(\bar{S}, \alpha)$ as described above, and the starting values obtained from OLS estimation.

¹¹Another option to approximate marginal distribution is by using LaPlace Approximation, see e.g. by Mackowiak (2006).

- 2. Sample conditional posterior distribution of B, the first coefficient vector $vec(B_1)$, with variance V^* and mean M^* as given in (3.16).
- 3. Given $vec(B_1)$, draw variance-covariance matrix Σ_1 from Inverse Wishart distribution.
- 4. Compute a matrix \tilde{A} , such that $\tilde{A}\tilde{A}' = \Sigma$ using a Cholesky and QR decomposition according to (3.4).
- 5. Identify the signs on \tilde{A} . If they satisfy the sign conditions, matrix \tilde{A} will be used for further analysis, if not this step is repeated.
- 6. Repeat 1-6 M times to obtain $vec(B_1), ..., vec(B_M), \Sigma_1, ..., \Sigma_M$ and burnt the first J iterations. Use the remaining last M - J iterations to approximate the marginal posterior distribution, the posterior mean and variance.

I set M = 50000 iterations of which the first J = 45000 are discarded and keep M - J draws to use for further inference. First, it is worth mentioning that the \tilde{A} matrix is not unique. That is, it is possible to find different \tilde{A} matrices that satisfy the sign restrictions. One of the options to deal with this is to draw \tilde{A} matrix 100 times and choose the one closest to the median. This is the matrix, which I use for analysing the impulse response functions, FEVD and historical decomposition.

3.3 Empirical Analysis and Results

In this section, I describe the results of my analysis. As representatives of the EEC, I selected the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic. These countries have similar characteristics and underwent similar development paths after the their Soviet-imposed regimes collapsed. During the 1990s, their economies were characterised by a period of privatisation and adopted floating exchange rates regimes. As they undertook market reforms they also competed with each other for foreign direct and indirect investments. They all initially experienced rapid GDP growth and in the last two decades, developed from being classified as emerging markets to fully industrialised parts of the European Union.

An important question is how many variables should be included in the VAR model. As in Mackowiak (2007), I use a small scale model with three domestic variables for each country. Regressions are run for the period 1995 - 2012 for Hungary and Poland, from 1996 to 2012 for the Czech Republic and from 1997 to 2012 for the Slovak Republic. Because of the limited number of observations, I restrict the analysis only to the most important macroeconomic data such as GDP growth, CPI inflation and the nominal exchange rate for each country, and run a constant, rather than time varying, BVAR. Similar to the data chosen in Chapter 2, the source of the data is Datastream and the details on each of the particular time series are given in Appendix 3.A. All data, except of the interest rate, are either in logarithms or log differences and aggregated to quarterly values; furthermore, GDP and the price index data series are in seasonally adjusted.

Following Canova (2005) and Mackowiak (2006), I use the VAR model described in Section 3.2 for each EEC separately, in combination with either US or German variables, or both. The literature generally opts for two lags for quarterly data, which fits well with Mackowiak (2006), who estimates the model using monthly data with six lags as an optimum. Given my quarterly data, both criteria, the Akaike and Swarz confirm that VAR(2) estimation fits best. I run three groups of estimations. First, I estimate the impact of a US monetary shock directly on the EEC macroeconomic variables. The goal here is to assess the direct impact of US monetary policy shocks on EEC markets. This estimation is analogous to the one from Kim (2001), who shows the impact of this shock on G6 countries. Second, I compare this impact with the direct impact of the Deutsche Bundesbank's interest rate (after 2001, the ECB's). This estimation is parallel to that from Mackowiak (2006), who claims that, since Germany is by far the most important trade partner for all of the countries included in the estimation (with export shares ranging from 25 to 30 percent), the innovation in German monetary policy should play a major rule for EEC. Finally, the third group of estimations analyse the impact of a US monetary shock on EEC controlling for Germany. Henceforth, the three estimations are in short referred to as: 1) direct US monetary shock (US_EEC); 2) direct German woriables (US_GER_EEC); and 3) US monetary shock with control for German variables (US_GER_EEC).

The impulse responses for the three groups of estimations are given by the median response function for the domestic variables for 12 periods, due to an increase in the interest rate of the large economy by one standard deviation point, and are displayed in a posterior 68% band extracting the 16th and 84th percentile of the simulated impulse response distribution. The impulse response functions for the estimations are presented in Figures 3.1-3.3. It is significant that the pattern of the impulse responses are similar for all the three groups of estimations: the monetary shock generated abroad is followed by a decrease in the GDP growth and a depreciation of the domestic currency in all EEC. The impact on CPI inflation is, however, ambiguous.



Figure 3.1: Dynamic Effect of a US monetary shock on EEC macroeconomic variables

Figure 3.1 illustrates the direct impact of the US monetary policy shock on the EEC. In my sample, the income absorption effect is the weakest in Poland (the largest of the EEC), where the GDP growth recovers fully after only three periods (less than one year). Conversely, the biggest effect is on the Slovak Republic (the smallest of the EEC), where the impact is as big as on the US GDP rate of growth itself. A contractionary monetary policy leads unambiguously to the appreciation of the dollar relative to all the other currencies in the model. This is in line with the theoretical predictions, and due to the fact that the investors are willing to invest more in US bonds, thereby causing an increase in demand for US dollars. The effect on CPI inflation is ambiguous for two reasons. On the one hand, the slow down in the domestic activity causes the prices to decrease. On the other hand, the depreciation of the domestic CPI inflation. In my impulse responses, the second effect is clearly stronger in Hungary, but may also dominate in Poland.

The impulse responses in Figure 3.2 show the direct impact of German (later, European) monetary shock on EEC variables. Similar to the first estimation, here the effect on GDP growth in Poland is lowest and in the Slovak Republic it is strongest. On the contrary, in all countries, except for the Slovak Republic, GDP growth may increase after a short period (half a year), showing that after a while the income absorption effect may be dominated by the expenditure switching effect. There is no such a positive effect on Slovak output, which is consistent with the fact that the exchange rate is not allowed to depreciate since Slovakia is a member of the Eurozone and therefore only the income absorption effect takes place.



Figure 3.2: Dynamic effect of a ECB monetary shock on EEC macroeconomic variables.



Figure 3.3: Dynamic effect of a US monetary shock on German and EEC macroeconomic variables

Figure 3.3 illustrates the impact of US monetary shock and its effect on Germany as well as on other countries (though Germany is considered a large economy relative to the EEC). The model is detailed in Appendix 3.B. The relevant impulse responses show that an unanticipated increase in the Federal Funds rate leads to a contraction in US macroeconomic variables as well as in those of all other countries. However, adding German macroeconomic variables into the model does not alter the reaction of the EEC variables to the innovation in the Federal Funds rate. Furthermore, comparing the result with the one from second estimation, it is clear that German GDP growth and inflation react similarly to the unanticipated increase in Federal Funds rate than to its own shock.

To summarise, three findings can be identified from my analysis. First, an exogenous contractionary monetary shock reduces output growth in all EEC significantly (except for Poland), regardless the origin of the shock. Second, the effect of the German (later, ECB's) shock on EEC GDP growths is smaller and dies out quicker than the one generated in the United States. Third, both exogenous monetary shocks induce a depreciation in the domestic currency and have an ambiguous effect on domestic inflation.

Tables 3.1 and 3.2 report the median share of the FEVD for forecast horizons of 1 quarter (refer to as the short-run), 4 quarters (1 year, the medium run) and 12 quarters (3 years, the long-run). Although the contribution of the German shock is higher in the short run, after three years, the contribution of US shocks and German shocks are of similar size for both the EEC output growth as well as inflation.

Table 3.1 compares the FEVD for the CPI inflation for all three groups of

US	EEC
----	-----

-		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	0.75	0.83	0.60	0.63
	4	3.59	1.97	1.41	3.10
	12	6.98	5.97	3.14	4.38
Ger_EEC					
		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	5.60	1.37	0.91	0.65
	4	9.60	2.40	2.00	2.91
	12	12.93	7.41	4.63	4.59
US_Ger_EEC					
_		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	1.33	0.64	0.52	0.60
	4	6.20	1.75	1.31	2.96
	12	10.98	5.68	3.23	4.38

Table 3.1: Forecasting Error Variance Decompositions(FEVDs) for CPI inflation

estimations, and shows that the German monetary policy shock explains more of the CPI inflation for all countries than its US counterpart, especially in the short run. The difference is large, especially for the Czech Republic (although, when controlling for Germany, the difference dies out in the long run). Generally, in the long run, the US monetary shock accounts for 3 to 7 percent of the variability of the CPI inflation and when I control for the effect from for Germany, it explains

US	EEC
----	-----

_		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	13.77	7.20	7.05	0.76
	4	22.48	14.58	8.12	10.48
	12	22.88	16.29	8.78	11.09
Ger_EEC					
		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	21.28	11.40	4.30	12.57
	4	19.56	10.42	5.55	17.20
	12	24.18	13.16	6.74	18.10
US	US_Ger_ECC				
-		CZ CPI	Hun CPI	Pol CPI	SK CPI
-	1	12.91	6.12	8.40	0.77
	4	19.78	12.12	9.26	10.14
	12	19.80	12.94	9.94	10.61

Table 3.2: Forecasting Error Variance Decompositions(FEVDs) for GDP growth

up to 11 percent. The German (later, ECB's) shock explains mostly the Czech inflation, in the long run up to 13 percent. Generally, the exogenous monetary policy shocks explains more of the inflation in the Czech Republic and less of it in Poland. Table 3.2 shows that a sizeable fraction of the variation in real GDP growth can be attributed to external monetary policy shocks. The US generates higher variation in Hungarian and Polish GDP, even when controlled for Germany,

whereas the Czech and the Slovak Republic are the countries most exposed to the German (later, ECB's) monetary shock. In general, the exogenous monetary shocks explain more of the GDP the variation than of the CPI inflation in a 12period horizon.

What would it happen in the absence of any shock but those generated by monetary policy? The historical decomposition shows the contribution of the monetary policy shock to the endogenous variables, and therefore the overall effects of the exogenous monetary policy shock in specific periods. Figures 3.4-3.6 show the detrended variables (represented by the blue line) and its decomposition in the structural shocks to the data, where the red (dark) bars measure the contribution of the monetary policy shock for the estimated model for the period 2005-2012 for all the three groups of estimations. By looking at the specific period, the US monetary shock plays a significant role in explaining the GDP growth in the Czech Republic and Hungary, and less in Poland and the Slovak Republic. The Slovak GDP growth is better explained by the German (later, ECB's) shock. Again, this is consistent with the Slovak Republic joining the Eurozone in 2009. Although the contribution of the exogenous monetary policy shock is relatively small, there are some sub-periods, *i.e.* during the recession, in which these shocks are significant. For example, the bottom-left panel of Figure 3.4 shows clearly that the recession in Poland was driven by the US shock. Similar but weaker results are found for the other countries as well.



Figure 3.4: Contribution of a US monetary policy shock to the EEC GDP Growth

209



Figure 3.5: Contribution of a ECB monetary policy shock to the EEC GDP Growth



Figure 3.6: Contribution of a US monetary policy shock to the German and EEC GDP Growth

211

3.4 Reconciling the DSGE and VAR Responses

The results in the form of impulse response functions discussed in the last section, which follow from my VAR estimation, can be compared with those from Chapter 2. There, using a DSGE estimation, I demonstrated that a foreign contractionary policy shock leads to an increase in domestic output and inflation. On the contrary, the VAR estimation suggests that a foreign contractionary shock leads to a decrease in output, with an ambiguous effect on inflation.

According to the mainstream theory, represented by the Dornbush-Mundell-Fleming (DMF) model, under a flexible exchange rate regime, a monetary contraction in a large economy, represented by an increase in the interest rate, has two contradictory effects on the variables of a small open economy (SOE): the expenditure switching effect and the income absorption effect.

The expenditure switching effect leads to a depreciation of the SOE currency. This is caused by the appreciation of the large country's currency, which leads to a worsening in its current account due to the fall in exports and the rise in imports. The effect on the small open economy trade balance is positive, since its exports increase and imports decrease as its currency depreciates. As a result, SOE output increases.

By contrast, the income absorption effect leads to a decrease in SOE output. According to this effect, a monetary contraction in the large economy leads to lower output, due to a drop in its domestic consumption and investment. This leads to a decrease in imports, and thereby to an improvement in the large economy's trade balance. Since these imports represents the small open economy's exports, the trade balance of the latter worsens, leading to a decline in its GDP. The findings described in the previous section point out that the income absorption effect dominates. This is consistent with the results in Kim (2001), who shows that an expansion in the US monetary policy leads to a boom in G6 countries. The findings are also in line with the theory of Betts and Devereux (1999). These authors argue that, if exports are priced in the foreign currency (and imports in the domestic one), then no expenditure switching effect happens, thus the income absorption effect naturally drives the economic dynamics. The appreciation in the domestic currency worsens the terms of trade in both the small and the large economy, and outputs of both countries decrease proportionally.

The results of DSGE estimation discussed in Chapter 2 are suggestive of the expenditure switching effect overweighting the income absorption effect. The reason is twofold. On the one hand, currency invoicing is neglected, hence the expenditure switching effect plays a role in the determination of the equilibrium dynamics. On the other hand, my estimations suggest that the small open economy central bank is at most mildly concerned with exchange rate targeting. In this latter case, the SOE currency is bound to depreciate, and this leads to an increase in SOE output. For the findings of my VAR analysis to hold, by contrast, the SOE central bank must be strictly targeting the exchange rate, or committed to a peg with the large economy's currency. In this case, the income absorption effect would dominate its expenditure switching counterpart.¹²

Further investigation of the dichotomy between the two results may become an interesting topic for further research. All the more so if one considers this

¹²To assess whether the DMF theory could rationalise the model developed in chapter 2, I have also run the relevant estimations using a higher and tighter prior on parameter ϕ_S . In this case, the estimated output decreases (*i.e.*, in the opposite direction relative to the benchmark estimation). It should be stressed, however, that comparing the marginal data densities of the two models suggest that lower value of ϕ_S fits the data better.

issue in conjuction with the central claim raised by Betts and Devereux, *i.e.*, that the currency invoicing becomes a critical point in explaining the dynamics of the macroeconomic variables. In this respect, investigating the effect of currency invoicing on the monetary policy transmission mechanism from the US to the EEC, with particular regard to the degree of exchange rate tightening, appears to be a promising subject for future research.

My line of reasoning also appears to find indirect support elsewhere in the literature. Benati and Surico (2009), for instance, argue that structural VAR models impose minimal restrictions on the data and may not account for expectations. As such, these models may thus not be able to pick up the monetary policy reaction functions very accurately. In particular, they may be unable to correctly pin down the targets of the central bank, such as the exchange rates in the case at hand. This argument may explain the difference, between VAR and DSGE estimation, in the response by the SOE central bank to the large economy monetary policy shock.

3.5 Concluding Remarks

This chapter investigated the impact of US monetary policy shock on four Eastern European Countries, namely the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic, using a SVAR methodology. The structural VAR process is identified using two types of restrictions. First, I introduce sign restrictions to ensure that a contractionary monetary policy shock in the large economy causes a decrease both in its inflation and output. Second, I impose zero restrictions on the channels feeding back from the small open economy to the large economy, in order to guarantee that the economic variables of the former has no influence on those of the latter.

I find that a contractionary monetary policy in the large economy significantly reduces output growth in all EEC, independently of whether the large economy is represented by the US or Germany. In particular, US monetary policy appears to influence EEC macroeconomic variables at least as much as its German (later, ECB's) counterpart, even after controlling for the indirect effect of the former through German macroeconomic variables.

For future research, it would be interesting to extend the analysis by including more endogenous variables, such as the real exchange rate, the current account balance and other trade data. When dealing with these extensions, it would be preferable to use a FAVAR method, which is more suitable for large scale models with small numbers of observations.
3.A Data

For the analysis, Datastream was a source for following data:

- As an indicator of monetary policy shock:
 - US Money market rate federal funds rate (USI60B..)
 - Day to Day money market rate monthly average (BDSU0101R)
 - Exchange rate, used in percentage logarithm values
 - German Mark to US \$ (USWGMRK)
 - Czech Koruna to US \$ (USCZECK)
 - Hungarian Forint to US \$ (USHUNGF)
 - Polish Zloty to US \$ (USPOLZL)
 - Slovak Koruna to US \$ (SXUSDSP)

The FRED database was used as a source for following time series:

- As a measure of aggregate price level, seasonally adjusted and in the first difference of the logarithm values
 - Consumer Price Index of All Items in United States (USACPIALLQIN-MEI)
 - Consumer Price Index of All Items in Germany (DEUCPIALLQINMEI)
 - Consumer Price Index: All Items for the Czech Republic (CZECPI-ALLMINMEI)

- Consumer Price Index: All Items for Hungary (HUNCPIALLMINMEI)
- Consumer Price Index: All Items for Poland (POLCPIALLMINMEI)
- Consumer Price Index: All Items for the Slovak Republic (SVKCPIAL-LQINMEI)
- As a measure of real GDP activity, seasonally adjusted and in the first difference of the logarithm values
 - Real Gross Domestic Product for US (GDPC96)
 - Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Germany (DEUGDPNQDSMEI)
 - GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Germany (DEUGDPDEFQISMEI)
 - Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Czech Republic(CZEGDPNQDSMEI)
 - GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Czech Republic (CZEGDPDEFQIS-MEI)
 - Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Hungary (HUNGDPNQDSMEI)
 - GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Hungary (HUNGDPDEFQISMEI)
 - Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Poland (POLGDPNQDSMEI)
 - GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Poland (POLGDPDEFQISMEI)
 - Current Price Gross Domestic Product in Slovak Republic (SVKGDP-NQDSMEI)
 - GDP Implicit Price Deflator in Slovak Republic (SVKGDPDEFQIS-MEI)

3.B Model with US, German and EEC data

In the particular case of three countries, *e.g.*, the US, Germany and a (domestic) EEC like the Czech Republic, the matrix B(j) can be written as

$$B(j) = \begin{pmatrix} B_{11}(j) & 0 & 0 \\ B_{21}(j) & B_{22}(j) & 0 \\ B_{31}(j) & B_{32}(j) & B_{33}(j) \end{pmatrix},$$
 (3.18)

where $B_{12}(j)$, $B_{13}(j)$ and $B_{23}(j)$ are zero matrices with $m \times (m \times p + 1)$ parameters, meaning that EEC variables have impact on neither German nor the US economy, and where $B_{31}(j)$ and $B_{32}(j)$ respectively give the direct impact of US and German variables on the EEC. The first line represents US economy.

The identification scheme has the following form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \{FFR^{US}\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta GDP^{US}\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^{US}\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta GDP^G\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^G\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^G\} \\ \epsilon \{XR^G\} \\ \epsilon \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ \epsilon \{XR^{EEC}\} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} + & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ - & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & . & . & 0 & 0 \\ . & . & . & . & . & . & . & . & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e \{FFR^{US}\} \\ e \{\Delta GDP^{US}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{US}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{US}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{G}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{G}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{G}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ e \{\Delta CPI^{EEC}\} \\ e \{\Lambda R^{EEC}\} \end{pmatrix}$$

For VAR(2), the model has the following form

$$Y_t = B_1 Y_{t-1} + B_2 Y_{t-2} + C + \epsilon_t.$$

The prior mean for $vec(B_0)$ is set to be equal 0.95 for coefficients on own first lags and equal zero on all other remaining coefficients. The VAR(2) model under the prior can be written as

where Y_t^{US} is a 3 × 3 matrix of US variables, the interest rate, GDP growth and CPI inflation, Y_t^G and Y_t^{EEC} are 3 × 3 matrices of German and EEC variables respectively, namely the GDP growth, CPI inflation and nominal exchange rate.

Assuming 9 endogenous variables, the prior variance matrix H is a 171 × 171 diagonal matrix, where diagonal elements are set close to zero for coefficients restricted to zero and large for the remaining coefficients. In particular, with reference to the part of the matrix H corresponding to either matrix B(j), j = 1, 2 as given by (3.18), the elements are all given a very high value (10 000) except for those corresponding to $B_{12}(j)$, $B_{13}(j)$ and $B_{23}(j)$, which are set very low (1/10.000) to impose the prior strictly.

3.C Convergence of the Gibbs Sampler

This appendix illustrates the convergence of the Gibbs sampling algorithm for the direct US monetary shock model for M = 50000 and J = 45000. Following Canova (2007) and Blake and Mumtaz (2012), I examine the recursive mean of the retained M - J draws. The draws from the conditional posterior distributions converge to the marginal posterior distribution if the recursive mean of the retained draws is stationary without any trend.

Figures 3.7 to 3.9 display the recursive means for the variance-covariance matrix Σ and the matrix of regressor B for the Czech Republic for all three models. It is easy to see that the recursive mean for each variance and covariance in Σ fluctuates around its mean with no trend. Similarly, for each version of the model, all regression coefficients from matrix B are stable for the retained iterations, which implies that the number of iterations and retained draws is sufficient to approximate the marginal posterior distribution

For the remaining countries, the figures look similar and are available from the author upon request.



Figure 3.7: Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws for Σ matrix (above) and *B* matrix (below) for (US_Czech Republic) model.



Figure 3.8: Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws for Σ matrix (above) and *B* matrix (below) for (Ger_Czech Republic) model.



Figure 3.9: Recursive means of the retained Gibbs draws for Σ matrix (above) and *B* matrix (below) for (US_Ger_Czech Republic) model.

Conclusion

This thesis represents a contribution to the field of monetary policy. The theoretical contribution is illustrated in Chapter 1. I show that a non-zero steady state inflation may have a positive impact on a social welfare. Analysing simple and optimal monetary policy rules in a model that considers backward looking as well as forward looking agents. I find that the welfare loss that a Hamiltonian social planner obtains in the steady state depends on the level of inflation. In particular, a positive (and sufficiently low) inflation may be beneficial for the economy, as the negative effect due to a rise in the price dispersion may be more than offset by the positive effect that nominal rigidities generate on labour supply.

In the second chapter, I studied the performance and characteristics of simple monetary policy rules using a two-countries model. I performed Bayesian inference, where the novel feature was the inclusion of real unit labour costs for a better measurement of the Phillips curve. I demonstrated that a simple monetary policy rule mimicking an optimal rule generates the best outcome and that the non-zero inflation part included in the Phillips curve improves the model fit significantly. To analyse how the model performs in the context of a small open economy, I used data for three Eastern European Countries, namely the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland. Using a posterior odds test, I find evidence that the central banks of all these countries target a PPI inflation instead of CPI inflation, contrary to what is usually assumed in the empirical literature. I also find that in the case of a SOE, the model with a non-zero steady state inflation performs substantially better.

The third chapter investigated the impact of a US monetary policy shocks on four Eastern European Countries, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic, using a SVAR methodology with economic interpretable restrictions. I find that US monetary policy influences EEC macroeconomic variables at least as much as its German (later, ECB's) counterpart, even when controlling for the indirect effect of the former through German macroeconomic variables.

My research might be extended in a number of directions. For instance, in the first chapter, the analysis has been conducted with reference to a stochastic environment that is generated by a single shock to TFP. An obvious extension of the model would consider a cost push shock as an alternative to the stochastic TFP. A preliminary study of this case, however, leads to results very similar to those discussed in this chapter, with the exception that inflation inertia appears to have a relatively higher impact on the dynamics of the endogenous variables. Chapter 1 analysed an economy that is closed. It is natural to pose the question of how the results would change if the economy were allowed to trade in international markets.

A natural extension to the second chapter would be to investigate the effect of currency invoicing on the monetary policy transmission mechanism from Germany to the EEC, with particular regard to the degree of exchange rate tightening. Finally, with regard to the third chapter, it would be interesting to extend my analysis by including more endogenous variables, such as real exchange rate, current account and trade data. In this case, it is preferable to use a FAVAR method, which is more suitable for large scale models with small numbers of observations.

Bibliography

- ADJEMIAN, S., H. BASTANI, F. KARAMÉ, M. JUILLARD, J. MAIH, F. MIHOUBI,
 G. PERENDIA, M. RATTO, AND S. VILLEMOT (2013): "Dynare: Reference Manual Version 4," Dynare Working Papers 1, CEPREMAP.
- ADOLFSON, M., S. LASÉEN, J. LINDÉ, AND M. VILLANI (2008): "Evaluating an estimated new Keynesian small open economy model," *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 32(8), 2690–2721.
- AN, S., AND F. SCHORFHEIDE (2007): "Bayesian Analysis of DSGE Models," *Econometric Reviews*, 26(2-4), 113–172.
- ANDERSEN, L. C., AND J. L. JORDON (1968): "Monetary and fiscal actions: a test of their relative importance in economic stabilization," *Review*, (Nov), 11–23.
- ANZUINI, A., AND A. LEVY (2007): "Monetary policy shocks in the new EU members: a VAR approach," *Applied Economics*, 39(9), 1147–1161.
- ASCARI, G., AND T. ROPELE (2007): "Optimal monetary policy under low trend inflation," Temi di discussione (Economic working papers) 647, Bank of Italy, Economic Research Department.

- BANBURA, M., D. GIANNONE, AND L. REICHLIN (2010): "Large Bayesian vector auto regressions," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 25(1), 71–92.
- BENATI, L., AND P. SURICO (2009): "VAR Analysis and the Great Moderation," American Economic Review, 99(4), 1636–52.
- BENIGNO, G., AND P. BENIGNO (2003): "Designing targeting rules for international monetary policy cooperation," Working Paper Series 279, European Central Bank.
- BENIGNO, P., AND J. D. LOPEZ-SALIDO (2002): "Inflation persistence and optimal monetary policy in the Euro area," Working Paper Series 178, European Central Bank.
- BERNANKE, B., J. BOIVIN, AND P. S. ELIASZ (2005): "Measuring the Effects of Monetary Policy: A Factor-augmented Vector Autoregressive (FAVAR) Approach," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 120(1), 387–422.
- BETTS, C., AND M. DEVEREUX (1999): The International Effects of Monetary and Fiscal Policy in a Two-country Model, Discussion paper // University of British Columbia, Department of Economics.
- BHATTARAI, S., G. EGGERTSSON, AND R. SCHOENLE (2014): "Is Increased Price Flexibility Stabilizing? Redux," NBER Working Papers 19886, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.
- BLAKE, A., AND H. MUMTAZ (2012): Applied Bayesian Econometrics for Central Bankers. mimeo.

- BROOKS, S. P., AND A. GELMAN (1998): "General Methods for Monitoring Convergence of Iterative Simulations," *Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics*, 7(4), 434–455.
- CALVO, G. A. (1983): "Staggered prices in a utility-maximizing framework," Journal of Monetary Economics, 12(3), 383–398.
- CANOVA, F. (2005): "The transmission of US shocks to Latin America," *Journal* of Applied Econometrics, 20(2), 229–251.
- (2007): "Bayesian Time Series and DSGE Models, from Methods for Applied Macroeconomic Research," in *Methods for Applied Macroeconomic Research*, Introductory Chapters. Princeton University Press.
- CANOVA, F., AND M. CICCARELLI (2006): "Estimating multi-country VAR models," Working Paper Series 603, European Central Bank.
- CANOVA, F., AND L. GAMBETTI (2003): "Structural changes in the US economy: is there a role for monetary policy?," Economics Working Papers 918, Department of Economics and Business, Universitat Pompeu Fabra.
- CHRISTIANO, L. J., M. EICHENBAUM, AND C. L. EVANS (2005): "Nominal Rigidities and the Dynamic Effects of a Shock to Monetary Policy," *Journal of Political Economy*, 113(1), 1–45.
- CLARIDA, R., J. GALÍ, AND M. GERTLER (1999): "The Science of Monetary Policy: A New Keynesian Perspective," NBER Working Papers 7147, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

- COGLEY, T., AND T. J. SARGENT (2005): "The conquest of US inflation: Learning and robustness to model uncertainty," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 8(2), 528–563.
- COGLEY, T., AND A. M. SBORDONE (2008): "Trend Inflation, Indexation, and Inflation Persistence in the New Keynesian Phillips Curve," *American Economic Review*, 98(5), 2101–26.
- CORSETTI, G., L. DEDOLA, AND S. LEDUC (2010): "Optimal Monetary Policy in Open Economies," in *Handbook of Monetary Economics*, ed. by B. M. Friedman, and M. Woodford, vol. 3 of *Handbook of Monetary Economics*, chap. 16, pp. 861– 933. Elsevier.
- CORSETTI, G., AND P. PESENTI (2001): "Welfare And Macroeconomic Interdependence," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116(2), 421–445.
- CUSHMAN, D. O., AND T. ZHA (1995): "Identifying monetary policy in a small open economy under flexible exchange rates," Working Paper 95-7, Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta.
- DE PAOLI, B. (2009): "Monetary policy and welfare in a small open economy," Journal of International Economics, 77(1), 11–22.
- DEVEREUX, M. B., AND C. ENGEL (2003): "Monetary Policy in the Open Economy Revisited: Price Setting and Exchange-Rate Flexibility," *Review of Economic Studies*, 70(4), 765–783.
- DI MAURO, F., L. V. SMITH, S. DEES, AND M. H. PESARAN (2007): "Exploring the international linkages of the euro area: a global VAR analysis," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 22(1), 1–38.

- DUPUIS, D. (2004): "The New Keynesian Hybrid Phillips Curve: An Assessment of Competing Specifications for the United States," Working Papers 04-31, Bank of Canada.
- EICHENBAUM, M., AND J. D. FISHER (2003): "Evaluating the Calvo model of sticky prices," Working Paper Series WP-03-23, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago.
- FRY, R., AND A. PAGAN (2011): "Sign Restrictions in Structural Vector Autoregressions: A Critical Review," Journal of Economic Literature, 49(4), 938–60.
- FUHRER, J., AND G. MOORE (1995): "Inflation Persistence," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 110(1), 127–59.
- GALÍ, J. (2008): Monetary Policy, Inflation, and the Business Cycle: An Introduction to the New Keynesian Framework. Princeton University Press.
- GALÍ, J., AND M. GERTLER (1999): "Inflation dynamics: A structural econometric analysis," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 44(2), 195–222.
- GALÍ, J., M. GERTLER, AND J. D. LOPEZ-SALIDO (2001): "European inflation dynamics," *European Economic Review*, 45(7), 1237–1270.
- GALÍ, J., AND T. MONACELLI (2005): "Monetary Policy and Exchange Rate Volatility in a Small Open Economy," *Review of Economic Studies*, 72(3), 707– 734.
- GORDON, D. B., AND E. M. LEEPER (1994): "The Dynamic Impacts of Monetary Policy: An Exercise in Tentative Identification," *Journal of Political Economy*, 102(6), 1228–47.

- GOTTSCHALK, J. (2001): "An Introduction into the SVAR Methodology: Identification, Interpretation and Limitations of SVAR models," Kiel Working Papers 1072, Kiel Institute for the World Economy.
- GREENE, W. H. (2003): Econometric Analysis. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 5. edn.
- HAMILTON, J. (1994): Time series analysis. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ.
- JUSTINIANO, A., AND B. PRESTON (2010): "Monetary policy and uncertainty in an empirical small open-economy model," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 25(1), 93–128.
- KADIYALA, K. R., AND S. KARLSSON (1997): "Numerical Methods for Estimation and Inference in Bayesian VAR-Models," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 12(2), 99–132.
- KIM, S. (1999): "Do monetary policy shocks matter in the G-7 countries? Using common identifying assumptions about monetary policy across countries," *Journal of International Economics*, 48(2), 387–412.
- (2001a): "Effects of monetary policy shocks on the trade balance in small open European countries," *Economics Letters*, 71(2), 197–203.
- (2001b): "International transmission of U.S. monetary policy shocks: Evidence from VAR's," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 48(2), 339–372.

- KIM, S., AND N. ROUBINI (2000): "Exchange rate anomalies in the industrial countries: A solution with a structural VAR approach," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 45(3), 561–586.
- KYDLAND, F. E., AND E. C. PRESCOTT (1982): "Time to Build and Aggregate Fluctuations," *Econometrica*, 50(6), 1345–70.
- LEITH, C., I. MOLDOVAN, AND R. ROSSI (2012): "Optimal Monetary Policy in a New Keynesian Model with Habits in Consumption," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 15(3), 416–435.
- LEVINE, P., P. MCADAM, AND J. PEARLMAN (2007): "Quantifying and sustaining welfare gains from monetary commitment," Working Paper Series 709, European Central Bank.
- LEVINE, P., J. PEARLMAN, G. PERENDIA, AND B. YANG (2012): "Endogenous Persistence in an estimated DSGE Model Under Imperfect Information," *Economic Journal*, 122(565), 1287–1312.
- LEVINE, P., J. PEARLMAN, AND R. PIERSE (2008): "Linear-quadratic approximation, external habit and targeting rules," *Journal of Economic Dynamics* and Control, 32(10), 3315–3349.
- LINDE, J. (2005): "Estimating New-Keynesian Phillips curves: A full information maximum likelihood approach," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 52(6), 1135– 1149.
- LIU, P. (2006): "A Small New Keynesian Model of the New Zealand economy," Reserve Bank of New Zealand Discussion Paper Series DP2006/03, Reserve Bank of New Zealand.

- LUBIK, T., AND F. SCHORFHEIDE (2005): "A Bayesian Look at New Open Economy Macroeconomics," Economics Working Paper Archive 521, The Johns Hopkins University, Department of Economics.
- LUBIK, T. A., AND F. SCHORFHEIDE (2007): "Do central banks respond to exchange rate movements? A structural investigation," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 54(4), 1069–1087.
- LUCAS, R. J. (1976): "Econometric policy evaluation: A critique," Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy, 1(1), 19–46.
- LÜTKEPOHL, H. (2011): "Vector Autoregressive Models," Economics Working Papers ECO2011/30, European University Institute.
- MACKOWIAK, B. (2006): "How Much of the Macroeconomic Variation in Eastern Europe is Attributable to External Shocks?," *Comparative Economic Studies*, 48(3), 523–544.
- (2007): "External shocks, U.S. monetary policy and macroeconomic fluctuations in emerging markets," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 54(8), 2512– 2520.
- MCCALLUM, B. T. (2002): "The Use of Policy Rules in Monetary Policy Analysis.," *Tepper School of Business*, (309).
- MONACELLI, T. (2003): "Monetary policy in a low pass-through environment," Working Paper Series 227, European Central Bank.
- NEGRO, M. D., AND F. SCHORFHEIDE (2009): "Inflation Dynamics in a Small Open Economy Model under Inflation Targeting: Some Evidence from Chile,"

in Monetary Policy under Uncertainty and Learning, ed. by K. Schmidt-Hebbel, C. E. Walsh, N. L. S. Editor), and K. S.-H. (Series, vol. 13 of *Central Banking, Analysis, and Economic Policies Book Series*, chap. 13, pp. 511–562. Central Bank of Chile.

- OBSTFELD, M., AND K. ROGOFF (2002): "Global Implications Of Self-Oriented National Monetary Rules," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 117(2), 503– 535.
- PESARAN, M. H., T. SCHUERMANN, AND S. M. WEINER (2002): "Modeling Regional Interdependencies Using a Global Error-Correcting Macroeconometric Model," Center for Financial Institutions Working Papers 01-38, Wharton School Center for Financial Institutions, University of Pennsylvania.
- PHILLIPS, A. W. (1958): "The Relation Between Unemployment and the Rate of Change of Money Wage Rates in the United Kingdom, 1861-1957," *Economica*, 25, 283–299.
- ROBERTS, J. M. (2001): "How well does the New Keynesian sticky-price model fit the data?," Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2001-13, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (U.S.).
- ROTEMBERG, J. J., AND M. WOODFORD (1998): "An Optimization-Based Econometric Framework for the Evaluation of Monetary Policy: Expanded Version," NBER Technical Working Papers 0233, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

— (1999): "Interest Rate Rules in an Estimated Sticky Price Model," in Monetary Policy Rules, NBER Chapters, pp. 57–126. National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

- RUBIO-RAMIREZ, J. F., D. F. WAGGONER, AND T. ZHA (2010): "Structural Vector Autoregressions: Theory of Identification and Algorithms for Inference," *Review of Economic Studies*, 77(2), 665–696.
- SBORDONE, A. M. (2002): "Prices and unit labor costs: a new test of price stickiness," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 49(2), 265–292.
- SCHMITT-GROHÉ, S., AND M. URIBE (2007): "Optimal simple and implementable monetary and fiscal rules," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, pp. 1702–1725.
- SCHOLL, A., AND H. UHLIG (2005): "New Evidence on the Puzzles. Results from Agnostic Identification on Monetary Policy and Exchange Rates," SFB 649 Discussion Papers SFB649DP2005-037, Sonderforschungsbereich 649, Humboldt University, Berlin, Germany.
- SCHORFHEIDE, F. (2008): "DSGE model-based estimation of the New Keynesian Phillips curve," *Economic Quarterly*, (Fall), 397–433.
- SIMS, C. A. (1980): "Macroeconomics and Reality," *Econometrica*, 48(1), 1–48.
- SIMS, C. A. (1986): "Are forecasting models usable for policy analysis?," Quarterly Review, (Win), 2–16.
- SMETS, F., AND R. WOUTERS (2003): "An Estimated Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium Model of the Euro Area," Journal of the European Economic Association, 1(5), 1123–1175.

- STEINBACH, M., P. MATHULOE, AND B. SMIT (2009): "An Open Economy New Keynesian Dsge Model Of The South African Economy," South African Journal of Economics, 77(2), 207–227.
- STEINSSON, J. (2003): "Optimal monetary policy in an economy with inflation persistence," Journal of Monetary Economics, 50(7), 1425–1456.
- STOCK, J. H., AND M. W. WATSON (2001): "Vector Autoregressions," *Journal* of Economic Perspectives, 15(4), 101–115.

— (2007): "Why Has U.S. Inflation Become Harder to Forecast?," Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 39(s1), 3–33.

- SUTHERLAND, A. (2002): "A Simple Second-Order Solution Method for Dynamic General Equilibrium Models," Discussion Paper Series, Department of Economics 0211, Department of Economics, University of St. Andrews.
- (2006): "The expenditure switching effect, welfare and monetary policy in a small open economy," *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 30(7), 1159–1182.
- SVENSSON, L. E. (2010): "Inflation Targeting," NBER Working Papers 16654, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.
- TAYLOR, J. B. (1993): "Discretion versus policy rules in practice," Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy, 39(1), 195–214.
- (1999): "The robustness and efficiency of monetary policy rules as guidelines for interest rate setting by the European central bank," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 43(3), 655–679.

- TUESTA, V., AND P. RABANAL (2006): "Euro-Dollar Real Exchange Rate Dynamics in an Estimated Two-Country Model: What Is Important and What Is Not," (06/177).
- UHLIG, H. (2005): "What are the effects of monetary policy on output? Results from an agnostic identification procedure," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 52(2), 381–419.
- WOODFORD, M. (2003): Interest and Prices: Foundations of a Theory of Monetary Policy. Princeton University Press.
- YUN, T. (1996): "Nominal price rigidity, money supply endogeneity, and business cycles," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 37(2-3), 345–370.
- ZELLNER, A. (1971): An introduction to Bayesian inference in econometrics, Wiley series in probability and mathematical statistics: Applied probability and statistics. J. Wiley.